Religion & Antidiscrimination Law

Week XI:  Accommodations II:  Religious Ways of Life

(A) Honoring the Sabbath Day

E.E.O.C. v. Ithaca Industries
849 F.2d 116 (4th Cir. 1988) (en banc)

K.K. HALL, Circuit Judge:  Dannel Dean, the charging party in a civil action alleging religious discrimination in employment in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, appeals a decision of the district court granting judgment for his former employer, Ithaca Industries. By a majority vote, a panel of the Court affirmed the judgment of the district court. EEOC v. Ithaca Ind., Inc., 829 F.2d 519 (4th Cir.1987). Thereafter, a majority of the Court voted to reconsider the case en banc. A majority of the en banc Court has now voted to reverse the judgment of the district court for the reasons set forth below.

I.  Dean began working for Ithaca at Gastonia, North Carolina, on July 23, 1979, on the second shift as a turning operator. Ithaca produced cloth for J.C. Penney, Nike, and Ocean Pacific at its Gastonia plant. On April 11, 1983, Dean was transferred to the first shift as a Morrison Machine Operator. From July 18, 1983, to January 16, 1984, he was on extended leave of absence due to a serious brain tumor. Upon his return, he was assigned to work as a dryer helper on the first shift.

Dean has been a member of the Church of God since 1977 and believes that he cannot work on Sunday because it would violate his religious beliefs. Dean made this belief clear to his supervisors and other Ithaca officials at the time of his initial employment and was told that Sunday work was strictly voluntary. During the first four years of his employment, Sunday work was not required.


In January, 1984, the plant’s production demands became abnormally high which forced the plant to operate on eight Sundays that year. When Sunday work was necessary, the plant operated on a reduced staffing basis in order to allow as many people as possible to have Sunday off. The normal daily complement of workers on the first shift was approximately 25 people. On Sundays the shift was manned by a skeleton crew of 12 to 15 people.


Dean was asked by his supervisor, Andrew Cain, to work the first two operating Sundays in 1984, January 23 and February 19. He refused, but received no reprimand or criticism of any kind. On March 17, Cain ordered Dean to work the following day, which was a Sunday. Dean informed Cain that he could not work because of his religious beliefs. Dean was not told that his absence would be considered unexcused.

On March 19, Cain gave Dean a written warning identifying his failure to work the preceding day as an unexcused absence and stating that “[a]nother unexcused absence will result in termination.” This was the first time Dean was made aware that Cain considered his inability to work on Sundays, because of his religious beliefs, an inappropriate reason for not working.


The next Sunday on which work was required was April 1. On Saturday, March 31, Cain approached Dean and instructed him to work the next day. Dean again informed Cain that he could not work because of his religious beliefs. Cain responded that, if Dean did not report for work, he should not return on Monday because he would be terminated. Dean did not report to work that Sunday; Cain worked in Dean’s stead. Cain discharged Dean on April 2.


A civil action was filed by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) on December 16, 1985, alleging that Ithaca had violated §§ 701(j) and 703(a) of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 by discharging Dean because he refused to work on his Sabbath. A bench trial was conducted on November 18 and 19, 1986. At the trial, several employees testified that they would have been available to work on March 18 and April 1 in Dean’s place if they had been asked. However, Cain did not contact any of those employees to see if they would work for Dean. On December 3, 1986, the district court entered judgment in favor of the company, concluding that Ithaca had made no effort to accommodate Dean but that an absolute refusal to work on Sunday was so unreasonable on its face that no reasonable accommodation was possible. This appeal followed.

II.  On appeal, the EEOC contends that the district court erred in holding that Ithaca had no duty to attempt to accommodate Dean’s religious belief that he could not work on his Sabbath. Ithaca argues that the district court properly assessed its duty but that in any event the religious accommodation provisions of Title VII violate the First Amendment by promoting and advancing religion; discriminate against employees who do not adhere to religious tenets which prohibit work on a particular day; and result in excessive government entanglement in religion. We disagree with the district court and find no merit in Ithaca’s constitutional argument.  …

The district court’s conclusion that unless Dean was willing to compromise his religious belief by agreeing to work Sundays on some occasions, Ithaca had no duty to attempt to accommodate the belief turns the statute on its head. It improperly places the burden on the employee to be reasonable rather than on the employer to attempt accommodation. Section 701(j) clearly anticipates that some employees will absolutely refuse to work on their Sabbath and that this firmly held religious belief requires some offer of accommodation by employers.


The district court found, as a matter of fact, that Ithaca had made no specific effort to accommodate Dean. This absolute lack of effort at accommodation by the employer distinguishes this case from our previous case of Jordan v. North Carolina Nat’l Bank, 565 F.2d 72 (4th Cir.1977), and the Supreme Court’s decision in TWA v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977). Appellee’s continued reliance on these decisions is therefore misplaced.


In Jordan, a prospective employee demanded that she be guaranteed that she would never have to work on her Sabbath if she were to accept employment. There was evidence presented that the employer made some offers of accommodation to Jordan which she refused.FN2 This Court subsequently ruled that any further accommodations would constitute an undue hardship.FN3
FN2. The employment manager for the bank where Jordan sought employment told her that they would try to accommodate her and they had never had a problem with that before. In fact, the bank was already accommodating one employee. Furthermore, the bank had even suggested employment on a trial basis to ascertain if there would be a problem. However, Jordan rejected these offers of accommodation.

FN3. To the narrow extent that Jordan can be read to say that an absolute refusal to work on the Sabbath is beyond accommodation, it is expressly overruled.

The Supreme Court in Hardison held that the employer, TWA, could not reasonably accommodate the employee’s refusal to work on his Sabbath without undue hardship. TWA, however, made several efforts to accommodate the employee. Job swaps, change of days off, and shift transfers were all attempted before TWA concluded that any further accommodation would create an undue hardship.


It is true that in this case Ithaca did demonstrate an effort to accommodate all their employees when Sunday work was assigned.FN4 These accommodations, however, were clearly not for reasons of religion, nor were they specifically aimed at addressing Dean’s beliefs. In addition, Ithaca made no effort to accommodate Dean by any of the methods suggested by the guidelines in the regulations.FN5 29 C.F.R. 1605.2(d)(1)(i). We therefore conclude that Ithaca did violate the Civil Rights Act by discriminating against Dean.

FN4. According to evidence adduced at trial, when selecting persons to work on Sunday, Cain would first ask for volunteers from his shift. If there were not enough volunteers to fill all the needed positions, Cain would instruct various employees from his shift to work. Before directing any employee to work on Sunday, Cain would, in an effort to be fair, consider whether the employees had worked other Sundays and how many hours they had worked the previous week. He would also consider whether an employee was qualified for the position he needed to fill. He did not look to other shifts to fill the positions. At the times when he ordered reluctant employees to work on Sunday, Cain suggested that the employee try to find a qualified substitute. Cain never suggested this option to Dean. Although the company had a bulletin board for notices of import to employees, it did not utilize the board to obtain Sunday volunteers, nor would it permit employees to post their own notices in an attempt to secure replacements.

FN5. The regulations set out the following as examples of some means of accommodating religious practices: 
(a) the use of voluntary substitutes with substantially similar qualifications by publicizing policies, promoting an atmosphere in which substitutions are favorably regarded and providing a central file or bulletin board for matching substitutes; and 

(b) flexible scheduling by means of floating or optional holidays.


III.  Ithaca contends that the religious accommodation provisions of Title VII violate the First Amendment of the Constitution. The district court declined to reach this issue since it decided the case on other grounds. Assuming that the question is before us, we find no merit in Ithaca’s constitutional challenge. Ithaca concedes that its argument has been rejected by other courts but argues that if this issue reached the Supreme Court, it would find § 701(j) unconstitutional. We disagree. Every court of appeals that has addressed this issue has held that § 701(j) does not violate the First Amendment. E.g., Protos v. Volkswagen, 797 F.2d 129 (3rd Cir.1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 972, 107 S.Ct. 474, 93 L.Ed.2d 418 (1986); McDaniel v. Essex International Inc., 696 F.2d 34 (6th Cir.1982). We now join these circuits in holding that § 701(j) passes muster under the Supreme Court’s three-prong test for constitutionality. Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S. 602, 91 S.Ct. 2105, 29 L.Ed.2d 745 (1971). We are convinced that: 
(1) §701(j) clearly has a secular purpose-the elimination of discrimination in the workplace; 
(2) it has the primary secular effect of preserving the equal employment opportunities of those employees whose moral scruples conflict with work rules; and 
(3) there is no excessive government entanglement. 
For these reasons, we conclude that § 701(j) does not violate the First Amendment.

IV.  For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the judgment of the district court and remand for determination of appropriate relief.  REVERSED AND REMANDED.

WILKINSON, Circuit Judge, concurring:  I concur in Judge Hall’s fine opinion. I agree, for reasons noted in his opinion, that the employer in this case could have done more to accommodate Dean’s religious beliefs without undue hardship to itself.


I write only to emphasize that the statutory terms “reasonably accommodate” and “undue hardship” are variable ones. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j). The fact that Sunday work was temporary here should not obscure the fact that many enterprises must regularly operate on Sundays and other days of religious observance. Hospitals must serve the sick every day, and airlines must attempt to maintain safe and prompt flight schedules. The dangers police and fire departments were established to combat do not disappear on Sundays or any other day.


The Supreme Court emphasized in Hardison that employers are not required to abandon seniority systems or to incur substantial costs in order to satisfy the requirements of § 701(j). 432 U.S. at 83-84, 97 S.Ct. at 2276-77. Nor, in my judgment, does that statute require an employer to jeopardize safe and effective service to the public. As Judge Hall notes in footnotes 4 and 5 of his opinion, there were options available to the employer here that did not involve such costs or risks, and for that reason I concur in his opinion.

WILKINS, Circuit Judge [joined by Judge WIDENER and Judge CHAPMAN]:, dissenting:  The district court reached its decision relying on a 10-year-old precedent of this court, Jordan v. North Carolina Nat’l Bank, 565 F.2d 72 (4th Cir.1977) (rehearing and rehearing en banc denied). The majority holds that “[t]o the narrow extent that Jordan can be read to say that an absolute refusal to work on the Sabbath is beyond accommodation, it is expressly overruled.” I would affirm on the basis of Jordan, but, since the majority now effectively overrules Jordan, I would remand to the district court.

I.  In Jordan, a prospective employee explained to the company’s personnel interviewer that she “would not work on Saturdays [her Sabbath],” 565 F.2d at 74, and she would not accept a job unless she received a “guarantee” that she would not be asked to work on Saturdays. Id. at 75. The employer responded that “we would certainly try to accommodate [her] ... but we couldn’t give her a formal binding guarantee.” Id. The only effort by the employer to accommodate was an offer, summarily rejected by the employee, of work on a “trial basis, to ascertain if actually there was a problem of work on her Sabbath.” Id. at 76.


The court in Jordan concluded that “Jordan’s prerequirement on its face was so unlimited and absolute in scope- never to work on Saturday-that it speaks its own unreasonableness and [is] thus beyond accommodation,” id., and further noted that acceding to Jordan’s demands would obligate the employer to do the same for all employees, constituting an “undue hardship” under Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 84 n. 15, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 2277 n. 15, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977).

II.  As in Jordan, employee Dean “just couldn’t compromise on the Sunday work question,” declaring “I just don’t work on Sundays. It’s against what I believe in.” As found by the district court, these views were purely personal to Dean at the time of his refusal to work, rather than a reflection of adherence to the specific teachings of his church.FN1 Although the majority concludes “Dean made [his] belief clear to his supervisors and other Ithaca officials at the time of his initial employment,” Dean’s testimony does not support this. 

FN1. At his deposition Dean testified that, as far as he knew, his church did not “take a position one way or the other on Sunday work.” When asked if his beliefs “[were] strictly personal,” he answered that they were.

It is undisputed that during the course of most of Dean’s tenure with his employer, Sunday labor was not requested. However, in 1984 increased production demand required operation of the plant on some Sundays. When work on Sunday was necessary, the supervisors initially asked for volunteers. If there were not enough volunteers, employees were directed to work on Sunday. Dean was requested to work on Sunday on four occasions between January 22 and April 1. He refused on each occasion, telling his supervisor on the first occasion that he “had out of town guests coming in,” and on the second occasion that he “had other plans.” On all four occasions a fellow employee or his supervisor worked in his place.

III.  The majority also states that the district court concluded that Ithaca “made no effort to accommodate Dean.” While the district court did state under its “Conclusions of Law” that Ithaca made no offer of accommodation, FN3 it did so in reliance on the precedent of Jordan which required nothing further after it was established that Dean absolutely refused to work on Sunday regardless of the circumstances.

FN3. In its order the district court made the following findings of fact as to the issue of accommodation by the employer:

(14) If Cain was unable to obtain a sufficient number of volunteers for the specific jobs which needed to be filled on a particular Sunday, he would instruct certain employees to work on Sunday. Before directing any employee to work on Sunday, Cain would consider whether the employee had worked on a previous Sunday, or Sundays, how many hours he had worked during the week, and whether the employee could do the particular job which was required. This was out of accommodation to all employees including Dean. (Emphasis added.)....The Court, therefore, finds that there was no way for the Defendant to accommodate Dean except to allow him every Sunday off and at the same time require all the other employees to work on Sunday at one time or another, when they were needed.

The language of the district court order upon which the majority concludes that “[t]he district court found, as a matter of fact, that Ithaca had made no specific effort to accommodate Dean,” is set forth as follows:
(5) If, as in most cases, the employer had offered an accommodation to Dean, the question for the Court would be whether the proposed accommodation was reasonable. The Defendant here had not offered an accommodation to Dean, because Dean absolutely refused to work on any Sunday or at any time on a Sunday.

A review of the record demonstrates that the employer attempted to accommodate not only Dean in the exercise of his religious beliefs, but other employees in the exercise of their beliefs as well. The very process by which Dean’s supervisor, Andy Cain, approached employees about Sunday work reflected his concern for balancing Ithaca’s economic needs against the workers’ religious practices and beliefs, as well as their need for time off from the job. When work on Sunday was necessary to meet production requirements, he first sought volunteers and, if there were insufficient volunteers, he approached individuals and instructed them to work. Those selected were chosen on a rotating basis to avoid repeated Sunday work by the same employees. Other considerations included the number of hours worked by an employee during the preceding week and particular job skills. All employees on Dean’s shift worked on Sunday on at least one occasion in 1984, except Dean.FN4
FN4. Cain’s testimony detailed the selection process and also established that Dean’s absence worked economic hardship on Ithaca. Finally, Cain provided for other employees who offered some middle ground for accommodation to attend religious services.
Under 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e(j) (West 1981), an employer is only required to reasonably accommodate an employee’s, or prospective employee’s, religious practices to the extent it does not work an undue hardship on the conduct of the employer’s business.  I would remand to the trier of fact for consideration of the testimony and evidence in light of the majority’s pronouncement overruling Jordan.
(  (  (  (  (
Murphy v. Edge Memorial Hospital
550 F.Supp. 1185 (M.D. Alab. 1982)

MYRON H. THOMPSON, District Judge.  The plaintiff Linda Murphy, a Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN), brought this action against the defendants Edge Memorial Hospital and Edra Dunn, former Director of Nursing at the hospital, claiming that the defendants discharged her from employment at the hospital on account of her religious practices, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e(j), 2000e-2(a)(1). The case was tried before the court without a jury on August 25, 1982.  Based on the following findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court is of the opinion that judgment is due to be entered in favor of the defendants.

I.  Linda Murphy is a follower of the Worldwide Church of God, a Christian sect which adheres to a number of religious practices found in the Old and New Testaments. One of the church’s practices is the strict observance of a Sabbath from sundown Friday until sundown Saturday. See, e.g., Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 67, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 2268, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977). Church followers must refrain from performing any work on the Sabbath and on several other religious days during the year. During the relevant period of this lawsuit Murphy was studying and preparing to become a member of the church. She testified that to this end she attempted to follow all of the church’s practices, which in addition to Sabbath observance, included attending services, studying religious material distributed by the church, listening to the church’s radio broadcasts, and following certain dietary restrictions. She testified, however, that there was an exception to the practice of not working on the Sabbath. According to her understanding, church followers could perform work on the Sabbath when the work was required by an emergency or urgent situation, which could not be put off until later. She referred to such an emergency situation as “an ox in the ditch.” See Luke 14:1-5 (“... Which of you shall have an ass or an ox fallen into a pit, and will not straightway pull him out on the sabbath day?”). She testified, however, that working on the Sabbath when it was not such an emergency made her feel distressed and guilty.


In September 1978, Murphy applied for a job as an LPN at Edge Memorial Hospital in Troy, Alabama. During her initial interviews with both Edra Dunn, then Director of Nursing, and Ruth Griffin, Nurse Supervisor of the 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. shift, Murphy explained that her religious practices prevented her from working Friday evenings and Saturdays until sundown. Griffin, who as shift supervisor scheduled the nurses and LPN’s on the 11-7 shift, stated that she would attempt to accommodate Murphy’s religious practices by scheduling her to be off each Friday shift, which began at 11:00 p.m. Friday night and ended at 7:00 a.m. Saturday morning. Griffin stated, however, that the hospital could not promise Murphy that she would be off every Saturday.


From November 6, 1978, until March 23, 1979, the hospital was able to accommodate Murphy’s religious practices by scheduling her off on every Friday night. During this period of accommodation, however, Griffin received an increasing number of complaints from nurses and other LPN’s that Murphy was enjoying unjustified consideration, or that the hospital was showing favoritism towards Murphy. Some of these complaints concerned Murphy’s not working her “fair share” of Friday nights, others concerned allegations that Murphy’s “free” Friday nights put an extra burden on the nurses who had to be scheduled on weekends. In addition, some staff members complained that they would like to have every Saturday night off, because their Sabbath was Sunday. The defendants presented strong testimony that weekends were highly valued as free time by the nursing staff, and that employees avoided weekend work whenever possible. There was no evidence, however, that any of the other nurses or LPN’s had religious practices which required strict observance of the Sabbath, as Murphy’s did.


In response to the complaints, Griffin scheduled Murphy to work on Friday, March 30, 1979. Murphy reported to work that Friday night because she understood the shift to be an exceptional situation in which no one else could be found. In Murphy’s words, “the ox was in the ditch.” Beginning with the next four-week schedule, Griffin scheduled Murphy to work on certain Friday night shifts, yet continued to give some consideration to Murphy’s religious observance. The next Friday night on which Murphy was scheduled, however, she called in sick. Afterwards, Griffin discussed the incident with Murphy, and told her that because of the complaints Griffin would have to continue to schedule Murphy on Friday nights. Murphy said that she knew some of the staff had complained, but she made no indication to Griffin that she would in fact work as scheduled on Friday nights. During the period from March 26, 1979, to November 4, 1979, a 32-week period, Griffin scheduled Murphy to work ten Friday nights. Of these ten Fridays, Murphy worked three, called in sick on three, and refused to work on four. On the days which Murphy did not work, the hospital incurred certain costs in the form of overtime pay and loss of efficiency.


In late October and early November of 1979, Murphy had several conversations with Griffin and Dunn concerning her apparent refusal to work on Friday nights. At these meetings Griffin and Dunn asked Murphy whether she had any solution to the problem. Murphy’s only response was that she should not be scheduled on Fridays. On one occasion Murphy’s minister attended a meeting, apparently at the hospital’s request, and essentially restated Murphy’s position to the defendants. After it became clear that Murphy was not willing to work on Fridays, as scheduled, the hospital administration decided to terminate her. Murphy then filed a timely charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), received a right to sue letter, and initiated this action.

II.  Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1), makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against an employee or prospective employee on the basis of that individual’s “race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” Section 2000e(j) defines the term “religion” as including “all aspects of religious observance and practice, as well as belief, unless an employer demonstrates that he is unable to reasonably accommodate to an employee’s or prospective employee’s religious observance or practice without undue hardship on the conduct of the employer’s business.” In order to establish a prima facie case of religious discrimination a plaintiff must demonstrate: 
(1) that he or she had a bona fide belief that compliance with an employment requirement would be contrary to his or her religious belief or practice; 
(2) that he or she informed the employer about the conflict; and 
(3) that he or she was discharged or penalized for failing to comply with the conflicting employment requirement. 
Brenner v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, 671 F.2d 141, 144 (5th Cir.1982) FN1; Brown v. General Motors Corp., 601 F.2d 956, 959 (8th Cir.1979); Anderson v. General Dynamics Convair Aerospace Div., 589 F.2d 397, 401 (9th Cir.1978), cert. denied sub nom. International Ass’n of Machinists, etc. v. Anderson, 442 U.S. 921, 99 S.Ct. 2848, 61 L.Ed.2d 290 (1979). Once the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the defendant to show that he or she could not reasonably accommodate the employee’s needs without incurring undue hardship. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j); Brenner v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, supra; Anderson v. General Dynamics Convair Aerospace Div., supra. The duty to accommodate requires that the employer take affirmative steps to explore and implement alternatives which would satisfy an employee’s religious practices without 
(1) compromising the employment entitlements of other employees or 
(2) conferring a privilege on the employee the cost of which is more than de minimis.
Trans World Airlines v. Hardison, supra; Brown v. General Motors Corp., supra, 601 F.2d at 962. See also 29 C.F.R. § 1605.2.

FN1. Brenner v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, supra, is a decision of the new Fifth Circuit, which is accorded only persuasive authority in the Eleventh Circuit. See Bonner v. City of Prichard, Alabama, 661 F.2d 1206 (11th Cir.1981) (en banc); Stein v. Reynolds Securities, Inc., 667 F.2d 33, 34 (11th Cir.1982).



In this case, it is beyond dispute that Murphy made out a prima facie case of religious discrimination. This court finds that her religious beliefs were sincere, that she gave the defendants full notice of her religious practices, and that the sole reason for her termination was her refusal to work on her Sabbath. The only issue before the court, therefore, is whether the hospital could have reasonably accommodated Murphy’s religious practices without incurring undue hardship.


The court is of the opinion that Trans World Airlines v. Hardison, supra, offers much guidance in resolving this issue. In that case the plaintiff Larry G. Hardison, also a follower of the Worldwide Church of God, sued Trans World Airlines (TWA) and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, AFL-CIO (IAM), claiming that TWA, rather than discharging him, should have relieved him of Sabbath duty in a TWA department that operated 24 hours a day throughout the year in connection with an airplane maintenance and overhaul base in Kansas City, Missouri. Shift assignments at the facility were made on the basis of a seniority system in accordance with a collective bargaining agreement. As a result of Hardison’s comparatively low seniority, and the union’s unwillingness to modify the system on Hardison’s behalf, TWA was not able to schedule Hardison off on Friday evenings without having to pay overtime or forcing a supervisor to take Hardison’s place. The Supreme Court’s discussion and resolution of this problem are set out in the following passage from the opinion:

Any employer who, like TWA, conducts an around-the-clock operation is presented with the choice of allocating work schedules either in accordance with the preferences of its employees or by involuntary assignment. Insofar as the varying shift preferences of its employees complement each other, TWA could meet its manpower need through voluntary work scheduling.

* * *

Whenever there are not enough employees who choose to work a particular shift, however, some employees must be assigned to that shift even though it is not their first choice.

* * *

It was essential to TWA’s business to require Saturday and Sunday work from at least a few employees even though most employees preferred those days off. Allocating the burdens of weekend work was a matter for collective bargaining. In considering criteria to govern this allocation, TWA and the union had two alternatives: adopt a neutral system, such as seniority, a lottery, or rotating shifts; or allocate days off in accordance with the religious needs of its employees. TWA would have had to adopt the latter in order to assure Hardison and others like him of getting the days off necessary for strict observance of their religion, but it could have done so only at the expense of others who had strong, but perhaps nonreligious, reasons for not working on weekends. There were no volunteers to relieve Hardison on Saturdays, and to give Hardison Saturdays off, TWA would have had to deprive another employee of his shift preference at least in part because he did not adhere to a religion that observed the Saturday Sabbath.

Title VII does not contemplate such unequal treatment. The repeated, unequivocal emphasis of both the language and the legislative history of Title VII is on eliminating discrimination in employment, and such discrimination is proscribed when it is directed against majorities as well as minorities.... Indeed, the foundation of Hardison’s claim is that TWA and IAM engaged in religious discrimination in violation of § [2000e-2(a)(1) ] when they failed to arrange for him to have Saturdays off. It would be anomalous to conclude that by “reasonable accommodation” Congress meant that an employer must deny the shift and job preference of some employees, as well as deprive them of their contractual rights, in order to accommodate or prefer the religious needs of others, and we conclude that Title VII does not require an employer to go that far.

432 U.S. at 80-81, 97 S.Ct. at 2274-75. The court in Hardison then concluded that “absent a discriminatory purpose,” the operation of a neutral scheduling system designed to meet the needs of all employees, such as a seniority system, “cannot be an unlawful employment practice even if the system has some discriminatory consequences.” 432 U.S. at 82, 97 S.Ct. at 2276. It is therefore apparent from Hardison that an employer in meeting his Title VII obligation as to the religious practices of his employees, is not required to alter such a neutral scheduling system, but may satisfy the reasonable accommodation requirement by demonstrating efforts to accommodate an employee within the neutral system.

However, in evaluating different options within the existing framework, a trial court must exclude those proposed options which would require the employer to incur more than a de minimis cost. In Hardison, the court observed:

To require TWA to bear more than a de minimis cost in order to give Hardison Saturdays off is an undue hardship. Like abandonment of the seniority system, to require TWA to bear additional costs when no such costs are incurred to give other employees the days off that they want would involve unequal treatment of employees on the basis of their religion. By suggesting that TWA should incur certain costs in order to give Hardison Saturdays off the Court of Appeals would in effect require TWA to finance an additional Saturday off and then to choose the employee who will enjoy it on the basis of his religious beliefs. While incurring extra costs to secure a replacement for Hardison might remove the necessity of compelling another employee to work involuntarily in Hardison’s place, it would not change the fact that the privilege of having Saturdays off would be allocated according to religious beliefs.

432 U.S. at 84-85, 97 S.Ct. at 2277 (footnote omitted). As a result, this court will evaluate reasonable accommodation in light of an employer’s ability to accommodate an employee within the existing framework without denying the benefits of the scheduling system to other employees or incurring a greater than de minimis cost. In other words, an employer, such as Edge Memorial Hospital, in satisfying its Title VII obligation as to the religious practices of its employees, is not required to make a proposed accommodation when: 
(1) the accommodation will deprive the benefits of the neutral scheduling system to any other employee, or 
(2) will require the employer to incur a greater than de minimis cost.

Cases which have been decided since Hardison have generally followed this formula. In Brenner v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, 671 F.2d 141 (5th Cir.1982), for example, five staff pharmacists were required to work weekends on a rotating basis. The hospital accommodated the plaintiff, an Orthodox Jew, to the extent that it allowed him to make shift swaps whenever it was his turn for Sabbath duty. The supervisor initially made the shift changes on the plaintiff’s behalf, but later told the plaintiff that it was his duty to make the arrangements. In rejecting the contention that the supervisor should have directed the other pharmacists to swap shifts with the plaintiff regardless of their preferences, the new Fifth Circuit held that such action would impose a burden on the other employees “at least in part because they do not adhere to the same religion as Brenner.” 671 F.2d at 147. To have hired a substitute pharmacist for the purpose of fulfilling Brenner’s weekend duty, the hospital would have incurred a greater than de minimis cost. Id., at 146.

 HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?sv=Split&service=Find&scxt=WL&rlti=1&cxt=DC&ifm=NotSet&n=1&mt=208&fn=_top&vr=2.0&rlt=CLID_FQRLT45445283112910&rp=%2fFind%2fdefault.wl&cite=550+f+supp+1185&cnt=DOC&rs=WLW9.10&ss=CNT" \l "B00221982149401#B00221982149401" FN2
FN2. To the same effect is the pre- Hardison case of United States v. City of Albuquerque, 545 F.2d 110 (10th Cir.1976), cert. denied, 433 U.S. 909, 97 S.Ct. 2974, 53 L.Ed.2d 1092 (1977). There, three platoons of firefighters rotated shifts on a nine-day cycle. In order to accommodate the plaintiff Seventh Day Adventist’s request for Saturday Sabbath off, the Fire Station would have had to deny the other firefighters the benefits of the neutral scheduling system, and would have imposed less favorable working conditions on them. 545 F.2d at 114. To hire a substitute for that shift would have required the payment of overtime. Id. The Tenth Circuit, therefore, affirmed the district court’s finding that the only reasonable accommodation available to the plaintiff short of undue hardship was a system of voluntary shift swaps. Id., at 115.

Applying the same criteria, however, the Eighth Circuit reached a different result in Brown v. General Motors Corp., 601 F.2d 956 (8th Cir.1979). In that case the plaintiff sought to be scheduled off after sundown each Friday on the 4:00 p.m. to 12:30 a.m. shift in a General Motors assembly plant. The facts revealed 
(i) that the loss of efficiency as a result of the plaintiff’s absence was a “drop in the bucket” in terms of the overall shift performance of 1200-1600 workers; 
(ii) that no other employee would have to double-up, or take extra duties for plaintiff as a result of his being off; and 
(iii) that there was a regular supply of available part-time replacement workers, known as “extra board men,” who could fill-in for plaintiff on the Friday evening shift. 
From these facts the Court of Appeals determined that the district court erred by ruling that no reasonable accommodation was available short of undue hardship. The court, therefore, rejected the view that General Motors could not accommodate the plaintiff without discriminating against all of its other employees. 601 F.2d at 961-62. 
Likewise, in Edwards v. School Bd. of Norton, 483 F.Supp. 620, 627 (W.D.Va.1980), the district court found that an elementary school would not incur undue hardship as a result of the absence of a teacher’s aide on several annual “holy days.” These cases clearly reflect the view that the trial court must evaluate reasonable accommodation and undue hardship in light of the employment context of each case. 
The facts in the instant case revealed that the hospital did in fact rely on a neutral scheduling system. Scheduling of LPN’s was done on a rotating basis, without regard to seniority, and with some consideration given to the individual preferences of employees whenever possible. The clear policy of the hospital as to weekend work was that each member of the nursing staff was expected to work two weekends out of three. Each staff member, therefore, expected to be scheduled off one weekend out of three unless there were unusual circumstances. Following these rules in actual practice, the four-week schedule for LPN’s attempted to 
(i) fill staff needs on any given day, 
(ii) rotate days so that LPN’s worked different days during different weeks, 
(iii) allow two or more consecutive days off after working five, six, or seven consecutive days, and 
(iv) schedule each LPN to average between 72 and 80 hours of work each two-week period.


The scheduling records from March 26, 1979, to November 4, 1979, the period in dispute, reflected, however, that the average number of free weekends among all LPN’s, including Murphy, was one in four rather than one in three. As a result, the average LPN worked two and one-half to three full weekends before receiving a free weekend off. As to the reason for the average number of free weekends being below that of the weekend work rule, the evidence reflected that the hospital was at that time experiencing a shortage of full-time LPN’s. The testimony revealed that the regular LPN staff was below staffing goals and there was a shortage of dependable part-time LPN’s. Murphy made no showing that there was in fact a reserve of full-time or part-time LPN staff to fill-in for Murphy or other LPN’s who needed to be off for legitimate reasons.


Reviewing the average staffing needs of the hospital in relation to the availability of full-time LPN’s, this court finds that it was impossible to schedule Murphy to be off every Friday night without depriving the other LPN’s of their “expected” one free weekend in three. The average staff of full-time LPN’s during the relevant period was eight. After reviewing the schedules for the period the court finds that the average weekend staffing need for LPN’s was five LPN’s per 11-7 shift each weekend. In order to schedule each LPN to work two weekends and receive the third weekend off, the hospital would have to be able to schedule one-third of its LPN staff off every weekend. With eight LPN’s on the staff, to schedule one-third off every weekend would require that three LPN’s be off, and the remaining five work. Because the average weekend staffing need for LPN’s during this period was five, it was possible for the hospital, on the average, to fulfill the weekend work rule when all eight LPN’s actually worked two full weekends out of three.FN3 But while the hospital could meet its average staffing needs and fulfill the weekend work rule if all eight of its LPN’s were available for work two weekends out of three, it could not meet these goals when one out of the eight was not available for full weekend work when required. In other words, with Murphy on the staff, the hospital only had seven full-time LPN’s available for work on two out of every three weekends. With an average staff need of five, the hospital could not allow one-third of the staff to be off every weekend and allow Murphy to be off every Friday night. Even if Murphy had been scheduled to work every Saturday night and regular holidays, as it appears she was willing to do, there would still have been a need for some LPN’s to “split” their free weekends. The evidence at trial was clear that each member of the nursing staff highly valued free weekends. Splitting weekends or shifts was disfavored. In order for the hospital to 
(i) meet its staffing needs of five LPN’s on the average per weekend, 
(ii) scheduling one-third of its LPN staff off every weekend, and 
(iii) allow plaintiff to be scheduled off every Friday night, 
the hospital would have needed a regular full-time LPN staff of at least nine, rather than eight.

FN3. There would, of course, be times, due to the varying needs of the hospital, in which the actual weekend need would be more than five, and others in which it would be less. For these times, it seems clear that the hospital would maintain its policy of scheduling free weekends whenever possible, so that the average number of free weekends would be one in three.



Even with a staff of nine, however, it is clear that times could arise when the average patient census may rise to a level such that it would require a higher average staff need for a sustained period of time. In addition, there may be times when some of the nursing staff could not work as a result of illness or other unforeseeable reasons. The testimony at trial reflected the fact that staffing needs varied with the number of patients in the hospital, and that it was not easy to find replacements when an LPN could not report for work. Even though the “formula” when applied to a staff of nine LPN’s and an average weekend staffing need of five would allow plaintiff to be scheduled off every Friday night, it would not account for the likely variations in staffing needs over the long run. As a result, this court is reluctant to strait-jacket an employer into such a precise formula when the employer has a comparatively small staff and the likelihood of varying needs. Even if Murphy worked when “the ox was in the ditch” there could still be times when the hospital could not reasonably schedule her off without encountering the problem discussed above.


This is not to say that such an employee could never be accommodated. Given an adequate number of full-time staff, the availability of dependable part-time staff, and a proportionate weekend staffing need, such an employee could be accommodated within the neutral scheduling framework without denying the benefits of system to the other employees or incurring a greater than de minimis cost. An employer does not incur additional costs as a result of rescheduling as long as there is an available supply of employees to be scheduled at the regular wage. Brown v. General Motors Corp., supra, 601 F.2d at 959. In this case, however, there were no other reasonable options available to allow Murphy off every Friday. Because the hospital’s staffing needs were based on patients’ medical needs, there could not be a reduction in staff without a consequent decrease in patient care. Substitute employees from within the existing staff would have required the payment of overtime, a higher wage, or decreased efficiency. Finally, the evidence was that finding additional employees, over and above the number required to meet patient needs, was almost impossible and that, in fact, the hospital was suffering from a staff shortage. It is the conclusion of this court, therefore, that as a result of the minimum average needs of the hospital and the shortage of staff, there simply were not enough regularly scheduled LPN’s on the roster during the relevant period to have allowed Murphy to be scheduled off without depriving the other LPN’s of the benefits of the neutral scheduling system, or requiring the hospital to incur a greater than de minimis cost. …
(  (  (  (  (
Mathewson v. Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Comm’n
693 F.Supp. 1044 (M.D.Fla. 1988)

HODGES, Chief Judge.  This is an action claiming religious discrimination in employment, brought under Title VII ….  The case was tried to the Court on September 21-23, 1987.


The Plaintiff, Dave M. Mathewson, is a former Wildlife Lieutenant of the Defendant, the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, and is a member of the Seventh-day Adventist faith. The tenets of the Seventh-day Adventist faith prohibit work on the Sabbath which is the period between sundown Friday and sundown Saturday. The Plaintiff was discharged for insubordination after refusing to work Saturday February 12, 1983. The Plaintiff contends that he was discharged in violation of Title VII because the Defendant failed to make a reasonable accommodation of his desire not to perform Sabbath work. The Defendant contends that it made efforts to reasonably accommodate the Plaintiff’s religious convictions.

… [T]he Commission first hired the Plaintiff in early 1963 as a Wildlife Officer assigned to Gulf Hammock, Levy County, within the Commission’s Northeast Region. In 1968 the Plaintiff was promoted to the position of Area Law Enforcement Supervisor with the rank of Lieutenant. As a lieutenant the Plaintiff was assigned to the Commission’s South Region, headquartered in Lakeland, Florida. Thereafter, Plaintiff’s rank, position and area of responsibility remained essentially the same until his termination on March 21, 1983.


At the trial the Plaintiff testified that he was a sworn law enforcement officer charged primarily with enforcing Florida’s game and fresh water fish laws and regulations. However, the Plaintiff’s duties were not limited to the enforcement of game and fish laws. As a lieutenant he supervised four Wildlife Sergeants who, in turn, supervised five to seven Wildlife Officers each. The Plaintiff’s time was, for the most part, divided equally between time in the office performing administrative tasks and time “in the field” supervising his officers and performing law enforcement duties.


The “South Region” consists of thirteen counties, or about one-fifth of the State of Florida. The Plaintiff’s geographic area of responsibility included half of those counties; Lieutenant Doxey, who also was headquartered at Lakeland, supervised the remaining counties. Lieutenant Doxey’s geographic area of responsibility and duties were equal to the Plaintiff’s. They were the only Wildlife Lieutenants in the region.


The Plaintiff and Doxey were both supervised by Captain Floyd Buckhalter, Regional Law Enforcement Supervisor assigned to the Lakeland office. Captain Buckhalter reported to Lieutenant Colonel Brantly Goodson, Director of the Division of Law Enforcement in Tallahassee, Florida. The Executive Director for the Commission has, at all times relevant to this action, been Colonel Robert M. Brantly, whose office is also located in Tallahassee.


It is not disputed that sometime in 1975 the Plaintiff became a Seventh-day Adventist, and that the tenets of the Seventh-day Adventist faith prohibit working on the Sabbath which is from sundown Friday until sundown Saturday. Nevertheless, the Plaintiff continued to work on his Sabbath, especially during peak activity times such as the first days of dove hunting season and general hunting season.FN1 The Plaintiff stated that in 1980, however, his faith began to grow stronger and he generally ceased to work Saturdays during the daylight hours. The Plaintiff stated that he worked two Saturdays in 1980 during the daylight hours. Plaintiff’s Biweekly Activity Report reflects that he did work the first day of the general hunting season, Saturday, November 8, 1980 (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 19).

FN1. Weekends and holidays are peak periods for wildlife officers because those are the times when by far the greatest numbers of hunters and fishermen are in the field.

Wildlife Lieutenants were not assigned regular days off but scheduled their own work and were expected to be on duty irregular hours with varying days off. The purpose of this practice was to prevent game poachers from being able to predict the absence of Wildlife Officers from the area. The Plaintiff’s position description, signed by him on October 17, 1978, states in part that his position required:

Varied working hours, works most weekends, holidays, and nights. This employee is responsible for the protection of wildlife, fish, ecology and environment in his assigned area and is on call 24-hours a day.

(Defendant’s Exhibit 28).

Nevertheless, after November 8, 1980, the Plaintiff again ceased working during daylight hours on Saturday. Sometime in early 1981, at an Organization of Florida Fishermen meeting, the Plaintiff discussed his need for religious accommodation with Colonel Goodson. Colonel Goodson also discussed certain health problems he believed the Plaintiff was experiencing. Based upon this discussion, Colonel Goodson offered the Plaintiff the job of First Sergeant in the Lakeland office at no reduction in pay. He had also previously offered the Plaintiff that job when the position was first created in 1980, but the first offer was apparently not an attempt to accommodate the Plaintiff’s religious needs which were unknown to Goodson at the time.


The position of First Sergeant was an office job which would require weekend work only in case of extreme emergency. Colonel Brown testified that he could not recall a single emergency which had required the officer holding the position to work on a weekend.


According to Colonel Goodson, the position was offered to the Plaintiff both as an accommodation to his religious beliefs and to resolve the Plaintiff’s stated health problems. Colonel Goodson further testified that he ordered the Plaintiff to undergo a physical examination on February 26, 1981 (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1), and the results showed that the Plaintiff had no health problems. Following this determination, the offer of the First Sergeant’s position remained open solely as an accommodation to Plaintiff’s religious beliefs.


The Plaintiff refused the offer, stating that he did not want a desk job and preferred to remain in the field. He also did not want to accept a reduction in rank. The reduction in rank would not have been accompanied by a reduction in salary, but the Plaintiff feared that his salary would have been frozen for a period of time and that future increases would not be as large as those given the rank of Lieutenant.


The sergeant’s position was not offered to the Plaintiff after the end of March, 1981, because the position was filled by another employee who remains in the job. It is undisputed that the Plaintiff’s superiors did not warn him at the time of the offer that adverse consequences might result if he did not take the office job, or that refusal to work Saturdays would lead to discipline or discharge.


Following this series of events, Captain Buckhalter again cautioned the Plaintiff to vary his working hours, stating on the Plaintiff’s July 27, 1981, evaluation that he needed to “vary [his] work schedule to include weekends. Get more directly involved with troops” (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 25). The Plaintiff did work during the daylight hours on Saturday, October 3, 1981, the opening day of dove hunting season, as shown by Defendant’s Exhibits 34 and 50. The Plaintiff testified that he also worked a track inspection, as ordered by Captain Buckhalter, on Saturday, October 31, 1981. The Plaintiff did not work again on Saturday, however, until November of 1982.


In this interim period Captain Buckhalter discussed the Plaintiff’s work habits with him on several occasions, especially his failure to work on weekends. In a letter to the Plaintiff dated February 23, 1982, Captain Buckhalter noted that the Plaintiff had worked only three days on a Saturday or Sunday since November 6, 1981, through January 28, 1982 (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2). In the February 23 letter, Captain Buckhalter reminded the Plaintiff of his responsibility to plan his work schedule and of the fact that “an officer’s major contacts with the public come primarily on the weekends.” Captain Buckhalter further noted that “it appears that you are neglecting your duties by a lack of supervision at a time when an officer’s activity is at its peak” (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2).


On September 1, 1982, the Plaintiff and Captain Buckhalter met with Colonel Goodson in Tallahassee regarding the Plaintiff’s continued failure to work on weekends (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 7). Following this meeting, the Plaintiff advised Colonel Goodson by letter dated September 7, 1982, that due to the dictates of his religion he could not work on Saturdays. The Plaintiff indicated that, if necessary, he would work every Sunday (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4).


On the same date, September 7, 1982, the Plaintiff signed the last evaluation given him by Captain Buckhalter (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 26). The Plaintiff was evaluated as conditional in the areas of “dependability” and “supervisory ability,” although his overall rating was satisfactory. The evaluation noted certain problems not previously mentioned in the Plaintiff’s evaluations. Specifically, Captain Buckhalter indicated that Plaintiff “displayed little or no interest in his work” and that he was “unwilling to accept responsibility.” The Captain also noted that the Plaintiff “worked well with others” and “puts in a lot of hours.” Id.

On September 20, 1982, Colonel Goodson responded to the Plaintiff’s letter of September 7 (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 5). Colonel Goodson first delineated the Plaintiff’s working hours as prescribed by Item 28 of his position description, and then further stated:

I think you would agree that in order for a Lieutenant to effectively supervise the subordinates under his control, he must be ready to work any weekends or holidays that would convince his subordinates that he is fully concerned with the workloads and problems any day of the week. In addition, I am sure you are aware in personnel management you cannot give preferential treatment for one individual in a class.

On this basis, your statement that you could not work any Saturday can not [sic] be accepted. We trust that you understand this administrative decision and that you will govern yourself accordingly.

Id.
Saturday, October 2, marked the opening day of dove season in 1982. Lieutenant Doxey testified that he worked this opening day for the Plaintiff, at the Plaintiff’s request. Lieutenant Doxey also worked Sunday, October 3, 1982, as did the Plaintiff (Defendant’s Exhibit 39; Plaintiff’s Exhibit 20). However, the Plaintiff did not work the two days prior to the opening of dove season or the four days after Sunday, the second day of the season (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 20). At trial, Lieutenant Doxey indicated that, while he worked the opening day of hunting season for the Plaintiff voluntarily, if problems requiring the attention of a lieutenant arose simultaneously in both areas of the region, he would be hard-pressed to respond to both problems. He also indicated that he would give priority to problems arising in his own area of responsibility. Doxey further testified that on one occasion when supervising in the Plaintiff’s portion of the region he cited one of the Plaintiff’s officers and was later told that what they did in that area was none of his business. He testified that he got the distinct feeling that he had overstepped his bounds by taking the action he took.


Following Plaintiff’s failure to work the opening day of dove hunting season on October 2, 1982, Captain Buckhalter, orally and in a letter dated October 8, ordered the Plaintiff to work the weekend of October 9-10, 1982, “due to the fact that Lieutenant Doxey covered your responsibilities opening day” (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 6). In this letter, Captain Buckhalter further stated that the Plaintiff did not use good judgment when he failed to work the first day of dove season, that he had planned poorly as a supervisor by not working the four days after the opening weekend, and that the letter should be considered a written reprimand. Id. Captain Buckhalter went on to state:

While we respect your religious belief, we cannot tolerate shirking your responsibilities by not working on opening days of hunting seasons. As you are well aware, it is vital that the ultimate coverage is needed on opening days. This matter has been discussed with you and it is a requirement of your assigned duties and responsibilities.

Captain Buckhalter further warned that “open defiance will not be tolerated and if further violations occur, more severe disciplinary action will be taken.” The Plaintiff was further ordered “to work on a random basis on all seven of the days of the week; ” to work especially on November 13, 1982, the first day of general hunting season; and to work on “one Saturday and one Sunday as well as a continuous weekend” in each four-week cycle until notified differently. Id.
The Plaintiff did not work on Saturday, October 9, 1982, as ordered. This was reported to Colonel Goodson in a letter dated October 12, 1982, from Captain Buckhalter (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 7). By letter dated October 15, 1982, Colonel Goodson notified the Plaintiff that he was charged with insubordination and was subject to suspension for failure to obey the oral and written orders of Captain Buckhalter (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 8). The Plaintiff also was advised by Colonel Goodson of his right to a predetermination conference prior to the contemplated suspension. Id.
The predetermination conference regarding the Plaintiff’s suspension was held on November 5, 1982 (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 10). Prior to this conference, R.E. Pleasants, Jr., Director of Public Affairs and Religious Liberty Department for the Religious Liberty Association of America, wrote Colonel Goodson stating:

Lt. Mathewson is an active member of the Lakeland Seventh-day Adventist Church, Lakeland, Florida. Seventh-day Adventists observe the Sabbath from sundown Friday evening to sundown Saturday evening refraining from secular employment as well as personal recreational activities. These hours are devoted to spiritual activities in harmony with the teaching of God’s Word. He is requesting that he be given reasonable accommodations because of his Sabbath observance.

(Plaintiff’s Exhibit 9)

In a letter to the Plaintiff dated November 9, 1982, Colonel Robert M. Brantly, Executive Director of the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, upheld the recommended three day suspension, noting that the Plaintiff had previously been offered the position of Wildlife First Sergeant which normally did not require Saturday work, and that the Plaintiff had refused it. Colonel Brantly stated that the Commission felt this to be a reasonable accommodation to the Plaintiff’s religious beliefs (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 10). In this same letter, Brantly noted that the Commission had offered, in the alternative, that the Plaintiff would “be permitted which Saturday in combination with a weekend you want to work.” Id. Colonel Brantly further stated that the Plaintiff’s suggestion that his subordinate Sergeants or the region’s other Lieutenant be assigned to cover random Saturdays or opening hunting days (Saturdays) was unacceptable. Any further refusal to work as ordered, the Plaintiff was told, would result in further disciplinary action. Id.

The Plaintiff responded to Colonel Brantly by letter dated February 1, 1983, that he felt his suspension to be unjust. Plaintiff stated that since he had been “advised the Commission was in error in their actions and was so informed prior to my suspension, I am requesting three days pay be forwarded to me and the suspension records be expunged from my files” (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 11).


Subsequent to the Plaintiff’s suspension, he was again ordered to work a special detail, from Thursday, February 10, 1982, through Saturday, February 12, 1982, at the Fox Hunter’s Field Trials in the Croom Wildlife Management Area (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 13). Testimony at trial revealed that the Croom Area Fox Hunter’s Field Trials had been a serious problem for the Commission each year it was held and was the source of numerous citizen complaints. Wildlife Officer Joe Johnson testified that several complaints had been lodged against him as a result of his attempts to enforce game and fish laws at the field trials, and that there were times when he both desired and needed a supervisory official there to handle things which he, as a Wildlife Officer, could not. Sergeant Fletcher Wilkinson had been promoted to the position of Sergeant in the region not long before February 10, 1982, and had never handled field trials at the Croom Area. Sergeant Wilkinson stated that the Croom Field Trials were very different from any previous trials he had handled, and that he, too, encountered problems there. The Plaintiff did not work the field trials on Saturday, February 12, 1982, as ordered, because he did not believe it was an emergency situation.


Based upon this second refusal to work as ordered the Plaintiff was terminated from his position with the Commission (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 18). The termination was in accord with Commission policy (Defendant’s Exhibit 27). Prior to his termination the Plaintiff refused the Commission’s offer of a predetermination hearing, indicating that it would be a waste of Commission funds.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.  ... The Supreme Court, in Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 75, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 2272, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977), held that section [2000e](j) imposed on an employer a “statutory obligation to make reasonable accommodation for the religious observances of its employees, short of incurring an undue hardship.” This includes an obligation to reasonably accommodate employees who, because of their specific beliefs and practices, refuse to work on particular days of the week. See Boomsma v. Greyhound Food Management, Inc., 639 F.Supp. 1448, 1452 (W.D.Mich.1986); Murphy v. Edge Memorial Hospital, 550 F.Supp. 1185 (M.D.Ala.1982).


In order for the Plaintiff to prove that the actions taken against him were intentional and were taken because of his religion, he must first establish a prima facie case by showing that “he had a bona fide religious belief that conflicted with an employment requirement, that he informed his employer of this belief and that he was discharged for failing to comply with the conflicting employment requirement.” Brener v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, 671 F.2d 141, 144 (5th Cir.1982). The parties, prior to trial, agreed that the Plaintiff met these standards and the evidence confirmed that agreement.


After the Plaintiff has established a prima facie case, the Defendant must show either that it offered the Plaintiff a reasonable accommodation of his religious practices, or that any accommodation of the Plaintiff’s practices would result in undue hardship to the employer. However, to be in compliance with Title VII an employer need not give an employee a choice among several accommodations; nor is the employer required to demonstrate that alternative accommodations proposed by the employee entail undue hardship. Ansonia Board of Education v. Philbrook, 479 U.S. 60, 107 S.Ct. 367, 93 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986). “[A]n employer has met its obligation under § 701(j) when it demonstrates that it has offered a reasonable accommodation to the employee.” Id. at 372. The Plaintiff does not dispute that the offer of the First Sergeant position was an offer of a reasonable accommodation even though it would have been a demotion for the Plaintiff. Rather the Plaintiff argues that the offer was not a reasonable accommodation because he had no motivation to accept a demotion to a desk job when he was not informed that his refusal to work Saturdays would result in his termination. The Plaintiff contends that at the time the offer was made he had no reason to believe that his superiors considered his refusal to work Saturdays as a problem; he had been working infrequently on Saturdays for some time without adverse consequences. He testified at trial that if he had been offered the position in 1983, the year he was terminated, he would have accepted the job.FN2
FN2. The Plaintiff is not arguing that he should have been offered this position before he was fired. The position was filled at that time.



However, the demotion was offered to the Plaintiff so that he could avoid a conflict between his job and his religious convictions. The fact that it was not offered in the form of an ultimatum does not diminish the force or status of the offer as an attempt to accommodate the Plaintiff’s religious practices. The law requires only that the employer afford a reasonable accommodation. Ansonia Board of Education v. Philbrook, supra. Moreover, the employee also owes a duty of “bilateral cooperation.” Id., 107 S.Ct. at 372. Nor does the Defendant’s subsequent tolerance of the Plaintiff’s failure to schedule himself for Saturday work negate the reasonableness of the attempted accommodation. A contrary conclusion would, as a policy matter, serve to discourage accommodation and promote precipitous action.


Accordingly, it is the finding of the Court that the offer of the First Sergeant position to the Plaintiff was an offer of reasonable accommodation, and by this offer the Defendant satisfied the requirements of Title VII. This cause is DISMISSED with prejudice…. 

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Sabbath Cases
73.  Are the cases in this section consistent with TWA v. Hardison?  Do you agree with the analysis in each case?

74.  Are there situations where offering a claimant a job change with a pay cut would not be a reasonable accommodation? 
75.  In Ithaca Industries the trial court found (and the dissent emphasized) that the claimant’s key belief was “personal” and not mandated by church to which he belonged.  How might this fact be relevant to his accommodations claim?  How significant should it be to the court’s analysis?
76.  To what extent is it appropriate for some of the burden of a proposed accommodation to fall on non-volunteer co-workers?  Is there a reason to treat religious accommodations differently in this regard than disability accommodations?

77.  In determining whether the burden of an accommodation is “undue,” to what extent should co-worker dissatisfaction be relevant?  Presumably in an ordinary disparate treatment case under Title VII, an employer could not claim as a legitimate reason for its actions that co-workers were unhappy because of a protected characteristic that they had to work beside the claimant.   Are employee objections to religious accommodations substantially different?
(  (  (  (  (
(B) Physical Appearance

Cloutier v. Costco Wholesale Corp.

390 F.3d 126 (1st Cir. 2004)

LIPEZ, Circuit Judge.   Kimberly Cloutier alleges that her employer, Costco Wholesale Corp. (Costco), failed to offer her a reasonable accommodation after she alerted it to a conflict between the “no facial jewelry” provision of its dress code and her religious practice as a member of the Church of Body Modification. She argues that this failure amounts to religious discrimination in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a), and the corresponding Massachusetts statute, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B, § 4(1A). The district court granted summary judgment for Costco, concluding that Costco reasonably accommodated Cloutier by offering to reinstate her if she either covered her facial piercing with a band-aid or replaced it with a clear retainer. We affirm the grant of summary judgment, but on a different basis. …
I.  We set forth the relevant facts from the summary judgment record, viewing them in the light most favorable to Cloutier. … Kimberly Cloutier began working at Costco’s West Springfield, Massachusetts store in July 1997. Before her first day of work, Cloutier received a copy of the Costco employment agreement, which included the employee dress code. When she was hired, Cloutier had multiple earrings and four tattoos, but no facial piercings.


Cloutier moved from her position as a front-end assistant FN1 to the deli department in September 1997. In 1998, Costco revised its dress code to prohibit food handlers, including deli employees, from wearing any jewelry. Cloutier’s supervisor instructed her to remove her earrings pursuant to the revised code, but Cloutier refused. Instead, she requested to transfer to a front-end position where she would be permitted to continue wearing her jewelry. Cloutier did not indicate at the time that her insistence on wearing her earrings was based on a religious or spiritual belief.

FN1. Cloutier’s responsibilities as a front-end assistant included packing customers’ purchases, reshelving items, retrieving item numbers, and occasionally filling in as a cashier.
Costco approved Cloutier’s transfer back to a front-end position in June 1998, and promoted her to cashier soon thereafter. Over the ensuing two years, she engaged in various forms of body modification including facial piercing and cutting. Although these practices were meaningful to Cloutier, they were not motivated by a religious belief.


In March 2001, Costco further revised its dress code to prohibit all facial jewelry, aside from earrings, and disseminated the modified code to its employees. Cloutier did not challenge the dress code or seek an accommodation, but rather continued uneventfully to wear her eyebrow piercing for several months.


Costco began enforcing its no-facial-jewelry policy in June 2001. On June 25, 2001, front-end supervisors Todd Cunningham and Michele Callaghan informed Cloutier and another employee, Jennifer Theriaque, that they would have to remove their facial piercings. Cloutier and Theriaque did not comply, returning to work the following day still wearing their piercings. When Callaghan reiterated the no-facial-jewelry policy, Cloutier indicated for the first time that she was a member of the Church of Body Modification (CBM), and that her eyebrow piercing was part of her religion.FN2
FN2. There is some dispute as to when Cloutier joined the CBM. The record includes an application dated June 27, 2001, two days after Cloutier was first told to remove her facial piercing. However, Cloutier claims that she first filled out an electronic application in March 2001, but that she had to reapply in June because the March application had not been processed due to a computer error. For the purposes of our summary judgment analysis, we accept Cloutier’s account.



The CBM was established in 1999 and counts approximately 1000 members who participate in such practices as piercing, tattooing, branding, cutting, and body manipulation. Among the goals espoused in the CBM’s mission statement are for its members to “grow as individuals through body modification and its teachings,” to “promote growth in mind, body and spirit,” and to be “confident role models in learning, teaching, and displaying body modification.” The church’s website, apparently its primary mode for reaching its adherents, did not state that members’ body modifications had to be visible at all times or that temporarily removing body modifications would violate a religious tenet. Still, Cloutier interprets the call to be a confident role model as requiring that her piercings be visible at all times and precluding her from removing or covering her facial jewelry. She does not extend this reasoning to the tattoos on her upper arms, which were covered at work by her shirt.


After reviewing information that Cloutier provided from the CBM website, Callaghan’s supervisor, Andrew Mulik, instructed Cloutier and Theriaque to remove their facial jewelry. They refused. The following day, Cloutier filed a religious discrimination complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC)…..


When Cloutier returned to work for her next shift on June 29, 2001, she was still wearing her facial jewelry. She met with Mark Shevchuk, the store manager, about her membership in the CBM and the EEOC complaint. During the course of the meeting, Cloutier suggested that she be allowed to cover her eyebrow piercing with a flesh-colored band-aid. Shevchuk rejected the suggestion and told Cloutier that she had to remove the piercing or go home. She left.


Theriaque also returned to work wearing her facial jewelry on June 29, 2001 and was reminded of the dress code. She asked whether she could wear clear plastic retainers in place of her jewelry to prevent the piercings from closing. The parties disagree as to whether Costco accepted this arrangement immediately or after several weeks of consideration. For purposes of our summary judgment analysis, we accept Cloutier’s contention that Theriaque wore the retainers to work for several weeks unnoticed before Costco gave her permission to do so.


Although Cloutier learned during the week of July 2, 2001 that Theriaque had returned to work with retainers, she chose to wait for her EEOC complaint to be resolved rather than following suit. During the week of July 7, 2001, Cloutier inquired of her superiors whether she could use vacation time to cover her absences and was told that she had been suspended. The following week, on July 14, Cloutier received notice in the mail that she had been terminated for her unexcused absences resulting from noncompliance with the dress code. She claims that this was her first notice that Costco had decided not to grant her request for an accommodation that would reconcile the dress code with her religious requirement of displaying her facial jewelry at all times…..Costco offered to let Cloutier return to work wearing either plastic retainers or a band-aid over her jewelry…. 

[S]he now maintains that neither of the proffered accommodations would be adequate because the CBM’s tenets, as she interprets them, require her to display all of her facial piercings at all times. Replacing her eyebrow piercing with a plastic retainer or covering it with a band-aid would thus contradict her religious convictions. Cloutier asserts that the only reasonable accommodation would be to excuse her from Costco’s dress code, allowing her to wear her facial jewelry to work. Costco responds that this accommodation would interfere with its ability to maintain a professional appearance and would thereby create an undue hardship for its business.

The EEOC determined in May 2002 that Costco’s actions violated Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. It found that Cloutier’s refusal to remove her facial jewelry was “religiously based as defined by the EEOC,” that Costco did not allow her to wear her facial jewelry at work, and that there was no evidence that allowing her to wear the jewelry would have constituted an undue hardship. Based on this determination, Cloutier filed a suit against Costco in federal district court in August 2002 alleging a Title VII violation. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). She amended the complaint four months later, adding state law claims for religious discrimination, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1)(A)…. Costco then moved for summary judgment….

In ruling on that motion, the court … evaluated Cloutier’s prima facie case, which required her to show that (1) a bona fide religious practice conflicted with an employment requirement, (2) she brought the practice to Costco’s attention, and (3) the religious practice was the basis for the termination. The court expressed serious doubts as to whether Cloutier’s claim was based on a “bona fide religious practice” for purposes of the first element, noting that even assuming arguendo that the CBM is a bona fide religion, it “in no way requires a display of facial piercings at all times. The requirement that she display her piercings, open and always, represents the plaintiff’s personal interpretation of the stringency of her beliefs.” The court also questioned the sincerity of Cloutier’s personal interpretation, given that she initially offered to cover her piercing with a band-aid, an alternative that she now claims would violate her religion.


The court ultimately avoided ruling on whether the CBM is a religion or whether Cloutier’s interpretation of the CBM tenets is protected by Title VII. Instead, the court concluded that even if Cloutier had met her prima facie case, Costco should prevail because it fulfilled its obligations under the second part of the Title VII framework. Specifically, the court found that Costco met its burden of showing that it had offered Cloutier a reasonable accommodation of her religious practice:

Costco’s offer of accommodation was manifestly reasonable as a matter of law. The temporary covering of plaintiff’s facial piercings during working hours impinges on plaintiff’s religious scruples no more than the wearing of a blouse, which covers plaintiff’s tattoos. The alternative of a clear plastic retainer does not even require plaintiff to cover her piercings. Neither of these alternative accommodations will compel plaintiff to violate any of the established tenets of the CBM.

In granting summary judgment on the Title VII claim, the court stressed that “the search for a reasonable accommodation goes both ways. Although the employer is required under Title VII to accommodate an employee’s religious beliefs, the employee has a duty to cooperate with the employer’s good faith efforts to accommodate.” The court also noted that Title VII does not require Costco to grant Cloutier’s preferred accommodation, but merely a reasonable one. While Costco’s suggested accommodation balanced Cloutier’s beliefs with its interest in presenting a professional appearance, Cloutier “offered no accommodation whatsoever.” 

Having resolved the federal claim, the court turned to Cloutier’s state law claim under Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A), which has been interpreted largely to mirror Title VII. Wheatley v. AT & T, 418 Mass. 394, 397, 636 N.E.2d 265, 268 (1994). The statute prevents employers from imposing a condition of employment which “would require [an employee] to violate, or forego the practice of, his creed or religion as required by that creed or religion.” Mass Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A). “Creed or religion” is defined as “any sincerely held religious beliefs, without regard to whether such beliefs are approved, espoused, prescribed or required by an established church or other religious institution or organization.” Id. The employee bears the burden of proof in establishing that something is a practice of his creed or religion. Under this examination, “[i]nquiry as to whether an employee’s belief is sincere is constitutionally appropriate.” Opinion of the Justices, 423 Mass. 1244, 1246, 673 N.E.2d 36, 37 (1996). Where the employee demonstrates that a conflict exists, the burden shifts to the employer, who must prove that it offered the employee a “reasonable accommodation,” defined as one that “shall not cause undue hardship in the conduct of the employer’s business.” Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A).


Under the foregoing framework, the district court concluded that summary judgment for Costco was appropriate. Although it noted the possibility that the state statute “casts a broader net than Title VII in covering purely personal beliefs that may be entitled to protection from discrimination,” the court relied on its previous finding that Costco’s offer to let Cloutier return to work wearing a band-aid or plastic retainer was “reasonable as a matter of law.” .  …
II.  On appeal, Cloutier vigorously asserts that her insistence on displaying all her facial jewelry at all times is the result of a sincerely held religious belief. Determining whether a belief is religious is “more often than not a difficult and delicate task,” one to which the courts are ill-suited. Thomas v. Review Bd. of Indiana Employment Sec. Div., 450 U.S. 707, 714, 101 S.Ct. 1425, 67 L.Ed.2d 624 (1981). Fortunately, as the district court noted, there is no need for us to delve into this thorny question in the present case. Even assuming, arguendo, that Cloutier established her prima facie case, the facts here do not support a finding of impermissible religious discrimination.


Although the district court’s decision rested on the conclusion that Costco had offered Cloutier a reasonable accommodation, “[w]e may affirm ... on any grounds supported by the record.” Estades-Negroni v. Assocs. Corp. of North Am., 377 F.3d 58, 62 (1st Cir.2004). We find dispositive that the only accommodation Cloutier considers reasonable, a blanket exemption from the no-facial-jewelry policy, would impose an undue hardship on Costco.FN6 In such a situation, an employer has no obligation to offer an accommodation before taking an adverse employment action. EEOC v. Ilona of Hungary, Inc., 97 F.3d 204, 211 (7th Cir.1996); Toledo v. Nobel-Sysco, Inc., 892 F.2d 1481, 1490 (10th Cir.1989).  
FN6. We note that Cloutier’s requested accommodation has evolved over time. When she first informed Costco management that her religious practice conflicted with its no-facial-jewelry requirement, Cloutier proposed that she be allowed to cover her piercing with a band-aid while working. In the course of this litigation, she has asserted that, even at the time, she believed that wearing the band-aid would violate the tenets of the CBM but nonetheless proposed it to “try and come to an agreement with them.” She now maintains that covering her piercings with a band-aid or temporarily replacing them with a plastic retainer would violate her religious beliefs and thus that any such accommodation would not be reasonable. We accept the finality of Cloutier’s position in evaluating whether Costco could have reasonably accommodated her religious practice without suffering an undue hardship.

A. Title VII.  … Cloutier asserts that the CBM mandate to be a confident role model requires her to display all of her facial piercings at all times. In her view, the only reasonable accommodation would be exemption from the no-facial-jewelry policy. Costco maintains that such an exemption would cause it to suffer an undue hardship, and that as a result it had no obligation to accommodate Cloutier. See Toledo, 892 F.2d at 1490 (“[A]n employer who has made no efforts to accommodate the religious beliefs of an employee or applicant before taking action against him may only prevail if it shows that no accommodation could have been made without undue hardship.”).


An accommodation constitutes an “undue hardship” if it would impose more than a de minimis cost on the employer. Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 84, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977). This calculus applies both to economic costs, such as lost business or having to hire additional employees to accommodate a Sabbath observer, and to non-economic costs, such as compromising the integrity of a seniority system. United States v. Bd. of Educ., 911 F.2d 882, 887 (3d Cir.1990) (citing Hardison, 432 U.S. at 79-83, 97 S.Ct. 2264); see also EEOC v. Townley Eng’g & Mfg. Co., 859 F.2d 610, 615 (9th Cir.1988) (“Cost cannot always be measured in terms of dollars.”) (internal quotation marks omitted).


Cloutier argues that Costco has not met its burden of demonstrating that her requested accommodation would impose an undue hardship. See Unión Independiente, 279 F.3d at 55 (describing the allocation of burdens in a Title VII inquiry). She asserts that she did not receive complaints about her facial piercings and that the piercings did not affect her job performance. Hence, she contends that any hardship Costco posits is merely hypothetical and therefore not sufficient to excuse it from accommodating her religious practice under Title VII.


Courts are “somewhat skeptical of hypothetical hardships that an employer thinks might be caused by an accommodation that never has been put into practice.” Draper v. U.S. Pipe & Foundry Co., 527 F.2d 515, 520 (6th Cir.1975). “Nevertheless, it is possible for an employer to prove undue hardship without actually having undertaken any of the possible accommodations....” Id. It can do so by “examining the specific hardships imposed by specific accommodation proposals.” Toledo, 892 F.2d at 1490. Here, Costco has only one proposal to evaluate (allowing Cloutier to wear and display her body jewelry as she demands) and has determined that it would constitute an undue hardship.


The district court acknowledged that “Costco has a legitimate interest in presenting a workforce to its customers that is, at least in Costco’s eyes, reasonably professional in appearance.” Costco’s dress code, included in the handbook distributed to all employees, furthers this interest. The preface to the code explains that, “Appearance and perception play a key role in member service. Our goal is to be dressed in professional attire that is appropriate to our business at all times.... All Costco employees must practice good grooming and personal hygiene to convey a neat, clean and professional image.”


It is axiomatic that, for better or for worse, employees reflect on their employers. This is particularly true of employees who regularly interact with customers, as Cloutier did in her cashier position. Even if Cloutier did not personally receive any complaints about her appearance, her facial jewelry influenced Costco’s public image and, in Costco’s calculation, detracted from its professionalism.


Costco is far from unique in adopting personal appearance standards to promote and protect its image. As the D.C. Circuit noted, “Perhaps no facet of business life is more important than a company’s place in public estimation.... Good grooming regulations reflect a company’s policy in our highly competitive business environment. Reasonable requirements in furtherance of that policy are an aspect of managerial responsibility.” Fagan v. Nat’l Cash Register Co. 481 F.2d 1115, 1124-25 (D.C.Cir.1973). Courts have long recognized the importance of personal appearance regulations, even in the face of Title VII challenges. See Woods v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 420 F.Supp. 35, 43 (E.D.Va.1976), aff’d, 579 F.2d 43 (4th Cir.1978) (citing “a plethora” of cases in upholding an employer’s right to “maintain grooming standards” in Title VII cases). Such regulations are often justified with regard to safety concerns. E.g., Bhatia v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 734 F.2d 1382 (9th Cir.1984) (affirming summary judgment for employer who refused to exempt a Sikh employee from the requirement that all machinists be clean-shaven, where the policy was based on the necessity of being able to wear a respirator with a gas-tight face seal because of potential exposure to toxic gases).


Courts considering Title VII religious discrimination claims have also upheld dress code policies that, like Costco’s, are designed to appeal to customer preference or to promote a professional public image. E.g., Hussein v. The Waldorf-Astoria, 134 F.Supp.2d 591, 599 (S.D.N.Y.2001) (“Some courts have found that clean-shavenness is a bona fide occupational qualification in certain businesses and, in those situations, as long as the employer’s grooming requirement is not directed at religion, enforcing the policy is not an unlawful discriminatory practice.”), aff’d, 31 Fed.Appx. 740 (2d Cir.2002) (unpublished). The majority of religious discrimination cases in this arena appear to involve policies regulating facial hair. E.g., Hussein, 134 F.Supp.2d 591; EEOC v. Sambo’s of Georgia, Inc., 530 F.Supp. 86 (N.D.Ga.1981) (holding that exempting a Sikh job applicant whose religious practice required that he wear a beard from a restaurant’s no-facial-hair policy would constitute undue hardship); cf. Woods, 420 F.Supp. at 43 (upholding employer’s no-beard policy against a claim of racial discrimination, finding that it served a legitimate business interest in maintaining an image of cleanliness to attract and retain customers).


But we are not the first court to consider a religious discrimination claim involving jewelry. In Daniels v. City of Arlington, 246 F.3d 500 (5th Cir.2001), a former police officer claimed that his dismissal for wearing a gold cross pin on his uniform in violation of the police department’s no-pin policy violated Title VII. The only reasonable accommodation that Daniels cited was to exempt him from the no-pin policy. The Fifth Circuit granted summary judgment for the police department, concluding that “[t]he only accommodation Daniels proposes is unreasonable and an undue hardship for the city as a matter of law.” Id. at 506. See also Wilson v. U.S. West Communications, 58 F.3d 1337, 1342 n. 3 (8th Cir.1995) (accommodating employee’s religious vow to wear a graphic anti-abortion button, where employee insisted that no alternative was reasonable, was an undue hardship).


The assessment of what constitutes an undue hardship may be somewhat different for a private employer than for a police department. See Daniels, 246 F.3d at 503-04. Still, we are faced with the similar situation of an employee who will accept no accommodation short of an outright exemption from a neutral dress code. Granting such an exemption would be an undue hardship because it would adversely affect the employer’s public image. Costco has made a determination that facial piercings, aside from earrings, detract from the “neat, clean and professional image” that it aims to cultivate. Such a business determination is within its discretion. As another court has explained, “Even assuming that the defendants’ justification for the grooming standards amounted to nothing more than an appeal to customer preference, ... it is not the law that customer preference is an insufficient justification as a matter of law.” Sambo’s of Georgia, Inc., 530 F.Supp. at 91.  … 

B. Chapter 151B:  Massachusetts law prohibits an employer from enforcing a condition of employment that would require an employee to violate or forego the practice of her creed or religion. Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B §4(1A). Where such a conflict arises, the law imposes upon employers the duty to offer a reasonable accommodation, defined as one that “shall not cause undue hardship in the conduct of the employer’s business.”

As the district court explained, the statute sets forth a three-part inquiry. N.Y. & Mass. Motor Serv., Inc. v. Mass. Comm’n Against Discrimination, 401 Mass. 566, 575-76, 517 N.E.2d 1270, 1276 (1988); Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A). First, the employee bears the burden of proving that the employer required her to violate a religious practice required by her sincerely held belief. N.Y. & Mass. Motor Serv., Inc., 401 Mass. at 576, 517 N.E.2d at 1276. Second, an employee who needs time off for a religious observance must provide her employer with at least ten days’ notice. Mass. Gen. L. ch. 151B § 4(1A). Finally, the burden shifts to the employer to show that it offered a reasonable accommodation, or that it could not have offered an accommodation without causing undue hardship to its business. N.Y. & Mass. Motor Serv., Inc., 401 Mass. at 576, 517 N.E.2d at 1276.


As in the Title VII inquiry, we find the undue hardship factor determinative. Under the statute, undue hardship

shall include the inability of an employer to provide services which are required by and in compliance with all federal and state laws, ... or where the health or safety of the public would be unduly compromised by the absence of such employee or employees, or where the employee’s presence is indispensable to the orderly transaction of business and his or her work cannot be performed by another employee of substantially similar qualifications during the period of absence, or where the employee’s presence is needed to alleviate an emergency situation.

Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A).


Chapter 151B’s definition of “undue hardship” does not explicitly address an accommodation request like Cloutier’s, namely one that would alter an employee’s appearance rather than her schedule. Yet the statute’s protection of religious practices “ including but not limited to the observance of any particular ... sabbath or holy day” indicates that its scope includes a bona fide claim of this type. Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 151B § 4(1A) (emphasis added). From this, we understand Chapter 151B’s definition of undue hardship to be a non-exclusive list.


Such a reading is consistent with the phrasing of the undue hardship definition: the statute states that undue hardship “shall include” the factors specified. Id. This suggests an illustrative list, rather than an exhaustive one. Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court precedent supports this interpretation of Chapter 151B as well. In New York & Massachusetts Motor Service, the court discussed the appropriate standard for the Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination to use in analyzing undue hardship. 401 Mass. at 575-79, 517 N.E.2d at 1275-78. In addition to the conditions specified in Chapter 151B, the court explained that an adjudicator “also must focus on whether the employer could have exercised its managerial discretion in such a way that the employee’s religious obligations could have been reasonably accommodated.” 401 Mass. at 576, 517 N.E.2d at 1276.


This instruction provides some guidance, but Massachusetts courts do not appear to have specifically considered whether exempting an employee from a dress code constitutes undue hardship. Where there are gaps in the application of Chapter 151B, courts turn to case law interpreting Title VII. Wheatley, 418 Mass. at 397, 636 N.E.2d at 268 (“It is our practice to apply Federal case law construing the Federal anti-discrimination statutes in interpreting G.L. c. 151B.”).


We thus consider the question of undue hardship in light of both the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court’s instruction in New York & Massachusetts Motor Service and the foregoing discussion of undue hardship under Title VII. Cloutier’s insistence on a wholesale exemption from the no-facial-jewelry policy precludes Costco from using its managerial discretion to search for a reasonable accommodation. Exempting Cloutier from the dress code would have imposed more than a de minimis burden on Costco for the reasons outlined above. Her refusal to consider anything less means that Costco could not offer a reasonable accommodation without incurring an undue hardship. For this reason, Cloutier’s discrimination claim under Chapter 151B must fail.

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Clouthier
78.  What is the relevance of the date the claimant joined the CBM (see footnote 2)?
79.  Is there anything to the following carefully-articulated intuitive argument for the claimant in Cloutier:  “Bleepin’ Costco is not bleepin’ Saks Fifth Avenue”?

80.  In Cloutier, the court relies on other appearance cases cases such as Bhatia, Sambo’s, Daniels and Wilson.  From the court’s description of those cases, are they distinguishable?  

81.  Based on the discussion of the Massachusetts statute in Cloutier, can you see arguments that the court should not have applied the Hardison de minimus test to the state law claim?
(  (  (  (  (
Potter v. District of Columbia
2007 WL 2892685 (D.D.C. 2007)
[Instructor’s Note:  The precise technical details of the case below are not particularly significant for our purposes.  Pay attention to how the judge approaches the case and to the level of care he seems to apply to the technical details.]

JAMES ROBERTSON, United States District Judge.  Justice Holmes once wrote that it brought him the greatest pleasure to enforce those laws which he believed “to be as bad as possible,” because he thereby marked the boundary between his beliefs and the law. See Letter from Oliver Wendell Holmes to John T. Morse (Nov. 28, 1926), quoted in LOUIS MENAND, THE METAPHYSICAL CLUB 67 (2001). His faith was never tested by the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993 (RFRA), Pub.L. No. 103-141, 107 Stat. 1488, (codified at 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb et seq.). RFRA, by its own terms, imposes upon the courts of the United States the duty of “striking sensible balances between religious liberty and competing prior governmental interests,” 42 U.S.C. §2000bb(a)(5), an obligation whose faithful performance demands the very kind of inquiry judges have tried to avoid since the advent of rational basis review in the New Deal era. See, e.g ., Williamson v. Lee Optical, 348 U.S. 483 (1955), United States v. Carolene Products Co., 304 U.S. 144 (1938).


The dispute in these RFRA cases-as in most RFRA cases-is precisely the sort of police power matter that is best entrusted to the politically accountable branches. Courts have little competence to locate and set the proper boundary between the accommodations demanded by persons with religious needs and the general safety and welfare of the public. See generally Gonzales v. O Centro Espirita Beneficente Uniao Do Vegetal, 546 U.S. 418, 439 (2006) (“We have no cause to pretend that the task assigned by Congress to the courts under RFRA is an easy one. Indeed, the very sort of difficulties highlighted by the Government here were cited by this Court in deciding that the approach later mandated by Congress under RFRA was not required as a matter of constitutional law under the Free Exercise Clause.”); see also Employment Division v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 885-90 (1990). Without RFRA, it would not be the business of the judicial branch to decide whether it is safe enough for a firefighter to wear a religiously required beard, or whether the mission of a fire brigade is compromised by steps taken to accommodate this religious expression. Yet, whether or not it was wise to assign such questions to the courts, Congress has done so, and I am charged with answering them here.


For the reasons set forth below, I have concluded that in the District of Columbia-the only local jurisdiction in which enforcement of RFRA is constitutional, see City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507 (1997)-the fire department may not impose a shaving requirement on men who wear their beards for religious reasons.

I. BACKGROUND
A. Procedural History.  Plaintiffs are firefighters and paramedics who wear beards in observance of sincerely held religious beliefs. They are suing the District of Columbia, aggrieved by the shaving requirement of Special Order 20, a regulation of the District's Department of Fire and Emergency Medical Services (“Department” or “FEMS”).


Plaintiffs initiated this suit in 2001 to challenge the Department's then-recently enacted “grooming policy.” [ Potter Dkt. 1]. On June 22, 2001, I preliminarily enjoined the Department from enforcing its grooming policy by the imposition of any sanction upon the plaintiffs for refusing to violate their religious beliefs. [ Potter Dkt. 34]. Nearly two years later, on May 22, 2003, I dismissed the case for want of prosecution, [ Potter Dkt. 40], when it appeared from a joint status report [ Potter Dkt. 39] that the Department was accommodating plaintiffs and that they had no need to press the issue further.


The parties asked that the case be reopened, however, [ Potter Dkt. 41], and a subsequent status report revealed that, while the Department was accommodating plaintiffs under its “grooming policy,” it was drafting a “safety policy” that might implicate RFRA. [Potter Dkt. 46]. The Department finally produced its new safety policy on February 28, 2005. [ Potter Dkt. 61]. That policy, now embodied in Special Order 20, would forbid FEMS workers who use “tight-fitting facepieces” to have “facial hair that comes between the sealing surface of the facepiece and face.” Id . There would be no exemption for those who objected on religious grounds, id. at 2; if they refused to shave, they risked termination. [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 6] at ¶ 3.


The new safety policy had the same effect as the already-enjoined grooming policy on the employment prospects of the plaintiffs, and they filed for various forms of relief. They moved for a “clarification” as to whether the original preliminary injunction covered this new policy, [ Potter Dkt. 62]; they moved for a permanent injunction against the new policy, [ Potter Dkt. 63]; they moved for an order to show cause why the fire chief should not be held in contempt under the original injunction when he began enforcing the new policy, [ Potter Dkt. 73]; and they moved for an injunction preserving the status quo if the contempt motion was not to be granted. See id.; [ Potter Dkt. 74]. The District, for its part, moved for judgment as a matter of law that the new policy was not in violation of RFRA. [ Potter Dkt. 66, 67]. After considerable briefing, see [ Potter Dkt. 92, 93, 95, 96] and a full-day evidentiary hearing, I granted the motion to clarify the preliminary injunction and denied all other relief on August 11, 2005. [ Potter Dkt. 97, 98].


At the time of that order, the major dispute between the parties was the Department's refusal to “face-fit test” the plaintiffs to determine whether they could obtain an adequate seal between their faces and their masks while wearing their beards. The Department maintained that any testing of a bearded person would be incompatible with its standards and refused the plaintiffs even the opportunity to prove that they could obtain a satisfactory seal using their masks. My clarification of the preliminary injunction thus focused on the issue of fit testing. I required that the Department afford the plaintiffs a “reasonable opportunity to demonstrate that they can pass an appropriate face-fit test,” but did permit the Department to require individual plaintiffs to pass such a test before being assigned to field operations. See [ Potter Dkt. 97, 98].


Considerable hullabaloo followed the 2005 order. On September 9, 2005, a second group of plaintiffs filed a complaint, seeking to ensure that the orders in the Potter matter applied to them as well. [ Chasin Dkt. 1]. I granted their request that the terms of the Potter injunction be applied to them, [ Chasin Dkt. 11], and consolidated the cases in November of 2005. Id.

Two of the Potter plaintiffs passed fit tests in September 2005. They moved for immediate restoration to field duty, [ Potter Dkt. 100], but I declined to order such relief in view of the Department's position that a series of tests would be needed to determine whether a consistent fit was possible. [ Potter Dkt. 101]. When those plaintiffs passed two subsequent fit tests, I granted their requests for reinstatement-along with those of the Chasin plaintiffs-on March 20, 2006, upon the condition that they continue to pass monthly face-fit tests. [ Potter Dkt. 111]; [ Chasin Dkt. 34].


The order of March 20, 2006 was cross-appealed. While the appeals were pending, the Department moved for a stay of the relief I had ordered, in part because two of the plaintiffs had failed subsequent fit tests.FN1 [ Potter Dkt. 114, 115]. The plaintiffs' response was that those tests had not been properly conducted. [ Potter Dkt. 116, 117]. I allowed the Department to continue to exclude from active duty those plaintiffs who had failed a fit test, I declined to recognize a right to regrow beards in those plaintiffs who had shaved, and I did not require further fit testing by the Department after a failed test,FN2 noting that:

[t]he Department's hostility towards plaintiffs' facial hair is now quite evident, and it appears that, at least during the pendency of the appeals, face-fit testing will be an adversary process. I will neither sit as face-fit test monitor nor appoint a special master for that purpose.

Id. at 2-3. These proceedings and holdings related to relief under the preliminary injunction; I made no final judgment as to whether it would be safe for plaintiffs to return to active duty given these fit test failures.
FN1. The appeals were dismissed as moot on November 2, 2006. See [ Potter Dkt. 137].

FN2. A single exception to this ruling merits note. On October 13, 2006, plaintiffs asked that plaintiff Ali be permitted to re-take his scheduled fit test with a re-sized mask, reciting his alleged loss of 45 pounds. [ Potter Dkt. 130]. I allowed this re-test over the objection of the Department [ Potter Dkt. 136], but Ali died that same month of unrelated causes.

On July 7, 2006, the Department moved for summary judgment. [ Potter Dkt. 124]. Plaintiffs responded on October 13, 2006, [ Potter Dkt. 132], and cross-moved for summary judgment on October 16, 2006. [ Potter Dkt. 133]. These motions have been fully briefed and are before me for decision.


B. Factual Background.  The environments in which firefighters and other “first responders” do their work are either immediately dangerous to life or health (“IDLH”), or not. IDLH atmospheres “pose[ ] an immediate threat to life, would cause irreversible adverse health effects, or would impair an individual's ability to escape from a dangerous atmosphere,” and include active fires and other oxygen-deprived environments as well as settings where inhalation of highly toxic contaminants poses an imminent danger. Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 5, 9-10; Hearing Transcript 19-20 (Calvert Potter). Atmospheres of unknown dangerousness are treated as IDLH, requiring the same level of respiratory protection. Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 9; Hearing Transcript at 139 (Chief Tippett).


In non-IDLH zones-those that pose a known threat to health, but where the threat level is lower-lesser protection levels are allowed. Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 10; Hearing Transcript at 101 (Captain Flint) (giving the example of tear gas, and describing non-IDLH atmospheres as ones where “it's not dangerous to you, but .... you wouldn't want to expose yourself to those levels of chemicals, because especially the weaponized chemicals, they're meant to incapacitate you, they're meant to prevent you from getting your day's work done.”); see also Hearing Transcript at 124 (Michael Sellitto) (a “warm zone” is an area where people working in a “hot zone” are decontaminated, and that those doing decontamination are allowed lower levels of protection). Of course, a non-IDLH atmosphere may also be one in which there is no risk to life or health. There, first responders may operate without any protection at all. Hearing Transcript at 124 (Michael Sellitto) (describing “cold zones”). Those non-IDLH atmospheres that pose a known but lower-level risk calling for intermediate protection will be referred to here as “warm zones.”


FEMS workers have several forms of respiratory protection. The most powerful is a self-contained breathing apparatus (“SCBA”). See Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 9-11 (noting that SCBA is approved for use in all atmospheres); Hearing Transcript at 81-83 (Chief Fitzgerald) (agreeing that an SCBA is approved for all environments and that it “absolutely” provides better protection than other systems). An SCBA utilizes an air tank, so that the emergency worker does not need to inhale any air from the surrounding environment. Hearing Transcript at 7-11 (Calvert Potter). Also, the system is “positive pressure,” meaning that the air pressure is higher within the firefighter's than in the outside atmosphere. Any leak in the seal of the mask will cause air to flow out of the mask, not in, so that the firefighter is protected from any dangers in the air. Id. at 9 (Calvert Potter); id. at 88-89 (Captain Flint). In an IDLH or unknown atmosphere, only SCBAs may be worn. Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 9-10.


An air-purifying respirator (“APR”) uses a filter to clean air from the surrounding environment. The firefighter draws air through the filter when he inhales, and the APR thus functions as a “negative pressure” system-the pressure inside the mask being lower than exterior pressure, at least during inhalation. Hearing Transcript at 16 (Calvert Potter) (a filter cartridge fitted to a facepiece makes a “negative pressure respirator”); id. at 92-93 (Captain Flint) (same). Leaks in the seal will allow air from the outside environment to enter the mask, exposing the firefighter to any contaminants in the atmosphere. APRs may not be used in IDLH atmospheres or unknown atmospheres, Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 9-10, but they may be used in warm zones if their use is compatible with the level of risk presented. Id. at 10-11 (allowing APRs for protection against gases and particulates in non-IDLH atmospheres); Hearing Transcript at 125 (Michael Sellitto) (describing certain warm zone activities that can be done in APRs); id. at 156 (Captain Flint) (same).


A powered air-purifying respirator (“PAPR”) uses a battery powered fan to force air through a filter, removing contaminants from the outside air. Hearing Transcript at 93-96 (Captain Flint). PAPRs have some advantages over APRs. The flow of forced air has a fanning effect, making it more comfortable for the firefighter to wear the mask for an extended period, and the forced air reduces breathing resistance, making it physically easier to work in a PAPR for an extended period of time. Id. at 124 (Michael Sellitto) (a PAPR is “easier to work with because it makes your breathing easier because it's providing you some air.”). The PAPR also functions as a slightly positive pressure system, providing extra protection in the case of a poor seal. Id. at 93-94 (Captain Flint) (noting that a PAPR turns a negative pressure system into a positive pressure system).FN3 If a PAPR fan fails for any reason, the system will simply function as a negative pressure APR, provided it is affixed to a tight-fitting mask. Id. at 95 (Captain Flint). PAPRs may be used wherever APRs are approved for use, but, like APRs generally, cannot be used in IDLH or unknown atmospheres. Respiratory Protection Plan [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 12] at 9-11.

FN3. Although both SCBAs and PAPRs function as positive pressure systems, they supply that pressure in different ways. An SCBA works by supplying air in response to lowered pressure when the wearer inhales. This means that the SCBA affirmatively maintains positive pressure. The PAPR supplies a constant flow of air. This means that the system will only function as a positive pressure system as long as the blower is supplying air at a rate greater than or equal to the rate at which air is being inhaled. Neither side has provided evidence to show whether or not a PAPR can provide sufficient air flow to guarantee the maintenance of positive pressure when a tight-fitting mask is worn by a bearded firefighter. See Hearing Transcript at 94 (Testimony of Captain Flint) (speculating that a PAPR “can be overbreathed ... you can breathe in more air than that pump is putting out.”).

Firefighters may wear various styles of masks. Loose-fitting “hoods” are more comfortable and easily accommodate bearded firefighters. Id. at 24-25 (Calvert Potter) (noting that hoods reduce face fatigue). Hood-based PAPR systems do not failsafe to negative pressure APR systems the way that tight-fitting systems do, however; if the airflow mechanism on a hooded PAPR system malfunctions, the firefighter is exposed. Id. at 95-96 (Captain Flint). Moreover, there is no hood-based system that is “interoperable” with the equipment used in the District or surrounding regions. Id. at 134-138 (Michael Sellitto). Interoperability is vitally important, because it allows for the coordination of a large-scale, multi-district response in the event of a mass-casualty or mass-terror event.


Instead of hoods, the Department uses tight-fitting masks for all its systems. Indeed, the SCBAs, APRs, and PAPRs that the Department uses can all be configured to a single mask, manufactured by Scott, which is issued to the individual firefighter. See Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs' Statement of Material Facts (“Defendant's Response Facts”) [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶ 18.


The Department's Special Order 20, and the OSHA regulations upon which it is based, do not permit facial hair between the sealing surface of a tight-fitting mask and the face of the wearer because of concerns that the facial hair may compromise the seal. Special Order 20 [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 11]. This policy has to do with masks-the Department's tight fitting masks-and is indifferent to the kind of respiratory protection system the mask is connected to. Id. Bearded firefighters have long worn tight-fitting masks on their SCBA units without incident, however, Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶¶ 1-4, and the Department now apparently concedes that the positive pressure in the SCBA system is adequate to protect the bearded firefighter from any leakage that may be caused by facial hair. See Memorandum [Potter Dkt. 98] at 6-7. The central dispute in this case is thus whether bearded firefighters can safely operate using negative pressure protection systems (APRs) in a tight-fitting mask, and whether they need to be able to do so.


In 2002, following the attacks of September 11, 2001, members of the Department were issued “Go-Bags” for use during an emergency. Special Order 29 [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 11]. One element of these Go-Bags was a filter that could be attached to the tight-fitting Scott facepiece in order to form a negative pressure APR system. Hearing Transcript at 16 (Calvert Potter). Since the issuance of the Go-Bags, there has not been a single event requiring their use by any firefighter. Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶ 8. As for paramedics, they had never been issued respiratory protection of any kind before 2002, they are not trained for work in IDLH environments or in warm zones now, and they have never had occasion to use their Go-Bag systems. Id. at ¶¶ 7-8.


The Department has made use of non-SCBA protection systems on occasion, although not from the Go-Bags. Certain protocols for hazardous material (“hazmat”) teams allow workers operating in the “warm zone” to use APR or PAPR protection while “decontaminating” the workers operating in the hot zone. Id. at 124-125 (Michael Sellitto) (decontamination of FBI agents during the “white powder” incidents on Capitol Hill was often done in lower-level, APR protection). These decontamination tasks are often performed by workers wearing SCBAs, however, especially for high-level threats posed by dangerous contaminants. Id. at 124 (Michael Sellitto) (hazmat Level B requires an SCBA and chemical resistant suit, while hazmat Level A requires even greater protection).


The record establishes that the vast majority of firefighter work is done in SCBAs, if respiratory protection is required at all, and that the use of any other system of protection-in almost any scenario-is the exception and not the rule.

II. ANALYSIS  My preliminary rulings in this case-that testing would be required and that only bearded firefighters who could pass the test would be reinstated-were issued in support of preliminary relief and, contrary to the Department's argument, are not law of the case. Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981) (“[T]he findings of fact and conclusions of law made by a court granting a preliminary injunction are not binding at trial on the merits.”); see also Cmty. Nutrition Inst. v. Block, 749 F.2d 50, 56 (D.C.Cir.1984).


A. RFRA Claim.  Because the Department has conceded that the plaintiffs' beards are worn as a matter of sincere religious observance, Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶ 3, the burden has shifted to the Department to identify a compelling interest that is served by its clean-shave policy, and to prove that the clean-shave policy is the least restrictive means of serving it. See Gozales v. O Centro Espirita, 546 U.S. 418, 428-30 (2006) (burden on the government to demonstrate compelling interest achieved by the least restrictive means); see also 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1(b) (“Government may substantially burden a person's exercise of religion only if it demonstrates that application of the burden to the person-(1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest; and (2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest.”); § 2000bb-2(3) (“[T]he term ‘demonstrates' means meets the burdens of going forward with the evidence and of persuasion.”). This is a burden the Department has not carried.


The self-evidently compelling interest asserted by the Department is protecting the respiratory health and general safety of its personnel, as well as their ability to assist the public effectively in the event of an emergency. The questions presented here are whether Special Order 20's beard ban actually serves these interests, and, if it does, whether it is the least restrictive means of doing so.


The Department has argued that, although bearded firefighters can pass face-fit tests, they cannot do so consistently on account of their facial hair. The Department further argues that this fact has been demonstrated because each of the plaintiffs eventually failed a face-fit test after repeated monthly testing, and because its expert has said that facial hair makes a seal less consistent. The evidence shows, however, that clean-shaven FEMS workers also fail face-fit tests with regularity, and that they will also sometimes fail with a given mask and then pass with the same mask on the same day. See infra at 19. The Department has not proven or even attempted to prove that bearded firefighters fail tests more frequently than clean-shaven firefighters, or that they fail so often that their use of APRs is ultimately unsafe.


After six years of litigation, indeed, neither side has shown any enthusiasm for getting to the bottom of this key factual issue. It must accordingly be resolved by considering where the burden of proof lies. The Department had the burden of proving their theory that negative pressure APRs are unsafe for bearded firefighters because all positive test results must be distrusted as inconsistent or purely temporary. It has not carried this burden.


Moreover, the Department has conceded that, for the vast majority of firefighter activity, a perfect seal between the face mask and the face is not required for safety. The SCBA is the only form of respiratory protection approved for most firefighting situations-including active fires where smoke and low levels of oxygen create an IDLH atmosphere. The SCBA, because it is a positive pressure system, will allow air to leak out but not in if the seal is imperfect. A negative pressure system is never appropriate for IDLH situations. The Department fully concedes that bearded firefighters have worn SCBA units for many years without incident. The evidence (and the Department's concession) thus demonstrate, and I find, that there is no rational connection between the Department's clean-shaven policy and the compelling interest it asserts when SCBA units are called for or in use-that is, in almost every firefighting or hazmat operation in which respiratory protection is used at all.


The Department has been at pains to posit a situation in which the atmosphere is dangerous enough to pose a serious risk to the health and effectiveness of bearded firefighters, but which is not an IDLH situation, so that lesser forms of protection such as an APR from a Go-Bag would be required. It suggests that, while an initial catastrophic event involving harmful contaminants might pose an IDLH scenario, “as contamination spreads, the concentration will decrease, and the environment may go from IDLH to a less hazardous, but still dangerous, environment and a Department-issued Scott facemask configured as a negative pressure air purifying respirator (APR) may be used.” Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶¶ 6-7. The parties have apparently consulted spin doctors for advice on how to characterize such a scenario. For the plaintiffs, it would be a “clean up,” see Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment [ Potter Dkt. 133] at 11, 17, 24; for the Department, a “time sensitive rescue mission.” Defendant's Opposition to Summary Judgment [ Potter Dkt. 140] at 11. Yet even assuming-as all emergency planners must-that such a scenario will become a reality one day, the Department has not carried its burden of persuasion that these plaintiffs must necessarily function in negative pressure APRs in order for the Department's (“time sensitive rescue”) mission to be accomplished-its compelling interest served. See Gozales, 546 U.S. at 430-34 (application of Controlled Substances Act to religious minority must be justified on particular-rather than general-concerns).


The Department concedes, as it must, that until the precise nature and level of a respiratory threat is known, no level of protection short of an SCBA is acceptable. Department regulations require as much, and Captain Flint testified that:

Our hazmat protocols often call on initial attack and recon being done in a high level of protection, but as soon as we can not only identify the substance that we're trying to guard against, but quantify the levels of exposure, we try and get down quickly to the lowest acceptable levels of protection....

Hearing Transcript at 113 (emphasis added). Thus, initial response is not actually done with the Go-Bag APR system, but is always done at the highest level of protection.

It is only after positive identification of a lower threat level that any negative pressure APR system could be employed, likely a substantial period of time after the initial emergency. The Department has not sustained its burden of showing why, during that period, bearded firefighters not approved for use of negative pressure APR systems could not be redeployed either “up” to areas of duty where SCBA use is required, or “down” to cold zone areas where no respiratory protection is needed.


Captain Flint, a Department witness, testified that even hazmat team members routinely fill roles which do not require them to use APR systems. He noted that “very often, as the hazmat team assembles, the actual members of the hazmat team assemble and go into, if not administrative, then research functions, and actually the people doing the recon are assigned to the rescue Rsquads.” Hearing Transcript at 156-157. The limited evidence on this point thus demonstrates that, when APR duty is called for, there are other functions for which bearded firefighters and EMS workers are trained and to which they could be assigned.


The Department responds that in the time sensitive scenarios it has posited, such reassignments are “unacceptable” because “every available resource” may be required in response to a mass casualty or terrorist event. This is exactly the place where the Religious Freedom Restoration Act comes into play. It requires an assessment of whether what is “unacceptable” to the Department must nevertheless be accommodated. The Department has the burden of showing that it cannot serve its compelling interest in protecting the health and effectiveness of its FEMS workers and the public if it must-in the remotely possible scenario it posits-move men to different jobs. It does not sustain that burden with the bare assertion that “every available resource” is required when the record shows that, even in hazmat situations, different resources are applied to different duties, the tiny minority of which actually require the services of the negative pressure APR system from the Go-Bags.


And indeed, the record reveals that the Department's actions do not manifest the same level of concern with the ability of bearded firefighters to safely use their Go-Bag systems that is described by its lawyers in its litigation papers. Recently, a number of Go-Bag filters provided “a mouthful of charcoal dust” when they were tested, but the Department did not immediately replace existing canisters or issue back-ups in case of future malfunctions. See Declaration of Kenneth Lyons [ Potter Dkt. 116, Attachment # 1] at 2-3. The Department also tests the face fit of its masks for clean-shaven FEMS workers only annually. When these tests are conducted, many members fail and must be re-fit. The Department concedes that nearly a third of the members failed their initial test in 2005. Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶ 10 (“In the course of the Department-wide fit testing in the summer of 2005, approximately 500 members-nearly a third of the Department-could not obtain a satisfactory seal with the equipment they had been using, and had to be issued new face masks.”); see also 2005 Fittest Spreadsheet [ Potter Dkt. 133, Attachments # 3-# 4]. Apparently, bearded firefighters and paramedics are not the only FEMS workers who may be incapable of doing immediate APR duty in the event of a “time sensitive rescue mission.” The Department's concern that “every available” field-trained FEMS worker be available for APR duty in the event of a “time sensitive rescue mission” simply lacks credibility in light of this record.


The Department's emphasis on Go-Bag readiness also lacks credibility. In practice, the Department does not require FEMS workers to take their Go-Bag and Scott facepieces home with them.FN4 FEMS workers are required to respond first to their station houses, and not directly to the scene of an emergency, and this is unquestionably the practice in reality. See Hearing Transcript at 45-46 (Raymond Sneed). They are not expected to respond to a mass casualty event like Clark Kent rushing into a phone booth-transforming at a moment's notice into an individually capable rescuer. Instead, the Department's response strategy contemplates that FEMS workers will respond first to their stations, and that they will be deployed from there in a coordinated, team-based rescue and response effort that fully allows different “available resource[s]” to be assigned to different tasks.FN5
FN4. The regulation on this point is unclear. Special Order 29 states that: “All personnel shall carry this [Go-Bag] as part of their personal protection equipment (PPE) at all times when on duty. Members shall carry their ‘Go-Bags' while traveling to and from work assignments.” [ Potter Dkt. 92, Attachment # 11]. There was uncontroverted testimony that this Order is interpreted not to require members to take their Go-Bags home with them, and that “traveling to and from work assignments” contemplates travel between details once a FEMS worker has already begun his duty for the day. See Hearing Transcript at 45-46, 58-61 (Raymond Sneed). In any event, the uncontroverted testimony also shows that FEMS workers do not in fact carry their Go-Bags home with them. See id.

FN5. It seems obvious, too, that if the Department's hypothetical mass casualty event occurs, some workers will be incapable of responding to their station houses, and that their teams will be both forced to operate without them and likely well trained to do so.



The Department's hypothetical simply cannot carry the weight that RFRA requires. Even in the catastrophic scenario the Department imagines, there will be time to assign the tiny minority of firefighters whose religions require them to wear beards away from negative pressure APR duty. Outside this scenario, the evidence shows that a beard has never interfered with the ability of a FEMS worker to do his duty, and is unlikely to do so. RFRA therefore requires that I hold Special Order 20 inapplicable to these plaintiffs, as it is not the least restrictive means of protecting the safety of bearded firefighters, or ensuring that they can help their cohorts and protect the public.

B. Other Less Restrictive Means.  Because I have held that reassignment away from APR duty in the event of a catastrophic contingency is a less restrictive means of accommodating plaintiffs' religious practices while continuing to serve the Department's compelling interest, I have no occasion to pass upon other less-restrictive means that the parties have mooted. Only the following brief observations are necessary.


The plaintiffs have occasionally maintained that allowing them to simply use an SCBA whenever an APR is called for would be a means of accommodating their religious practice. That is not so. SCBAs provide time-limited protection and are extremely heavy relative to APRs and PAPRs. Hearing Transcript at 112-113 (Captain Flint) (“time and weight” are the principal limitations with use of an SCBA). There are situations, including extended service in a warm zone, where SCBAs are not interchangeable with the less safe but more manageable forms of respiratory protection provided by negative pressure APRs. Hearing Transcript at 123-124 (Michael Sellitto). A policeman who is allergic to kevlar cannot be accommodated by allowing him to walk the beat in a full suit of medieval armor.


Not all technological alternatives have been addressed, however. The parties have spilled considerable ink over whether the Scott C420 PAPR represents a safe means of accommodating these plaintiffs' religious practices. This PAPR is interoperable with current systems, and could be attached directly to the plaintiffs' current facemasks. Defendant's Response Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 5] at ¶¶ 18-19. The plaintiffs maintain that because this PAPR is a positive pressure system, see id. at ¶ 21, it can be safely operated even with an imperfect seal. The Department has presented an expert who argues otherwise, but his determination appears to be based on OSHA regulations and the manufacturer's instructions regarding tight-fitting masks themselves, rather than any expert opinion as to whether the positive pressure in the system is adequate to protect against an imperfect seal. See Third Declaration of Roy McKay [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 1] at ¶¶ 26-27. Captain Flint did testify that, although the PAPR is “rated at a fairly high rate of flow,” it is possible to “overbreathe” the system-that is, breathe in more air than the fan is pushing in, yielding a negative pressure system. See Hearing Transcript at 94 (Captain Flint). The Department's expert testimony is equivocal on this point. See Third Declaration of Roy McKay [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 1] at ¶¶ 26-27 (noting that hood-based PAPRs provide more airflow than the Scott unit, and stating that “PAPRs may operate in a negative pressure mode of operation during heaving exertion.”).


Thus, it may be the case that a properly configured Scott C420 PAPR would represent a technological means of accommodating these plaintiffs, if its flow rate were high enough. It may also present such a solution in the unknown future of technological innovation, even if it does not do so now. It may well not, but the Department does not appear to have investigated the matter beyond adverting to the manufacturer's manual and its reliance (in turn) on OSHA's facial hair standards.


It is also possible that proper fit testing will reveal that these plaintiffs can safely wear their tight fitting facemasks configured as negative pressure APR systems. Many of the plaintiffs passed repeated tests before finally failing, see, e.g., Defendant's Reply Facts [ Potter Dkt. 140, Attachment # 6] at ¶¶ 15, 21, and there is inadequate evidence in the record as to whether clean-shaven individuals would pass such monthly tests at higher or lower rates than bearded FEMS workers. It may be the case that bearded firefighters can pass appropriate fit tests with the frequency and consistency necessary to ensure an adequate margin of safety even where they operate their masks as negative pressure APRs. It may not, but the Department does not appear to have investigated the matter beyond the bare administration of fit tests pursuant to this Court's preliminary injunction, and, as noted above, has not carried its burden of proof on this point.


Because the record is far from complete on these other alternatives-and because in any event these matters lie beyond ordinary judicial competence-I will not pass upon them here. The role of the judiciary, even under RFRA, is only to approve or invalidate policies, not to make policy or technical decisions for the State.

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Potter

82.  Would Potter be decided differently under Title VII than it was under RFRA?  

83.  Do you agree with Judge Robertson than the analysis required by RFRA is more suited to a legislature than to a federal court?
(  (  (  (  (
Worker: I was Fired for Wearing God Button*
Quote from Pledge of Allegiance; Home Depot says he violated dress code

Associated Press (10/28/09)
WEST PALM BEACH, Fla. - A former cashier for The Home Depot who has been wearing a “One nation under God” button on his work apron for more than a year has been fired, he says because of the religious reference. The company claims that expressing such personal beliefs is simply not allowed.

“Iive worn it for well over a year and I support my country and God,” Trevor Keezer said Tuesday. “I was just doing what I think every American should do, just love my country.”  The American flag button Keezer wore in the Florida store since March 2008 says “One nation under God, indivisible.”
Earlier this month, he began bringing a Bible to read during his lunch break at the store in the rural town of Okeechobee, about 140 miles north of Miami. Thatis when he says The Home Depot management told him he would have to remove the button.  Keezer refused, and he was fired on Oct. 23, he said. “It feels kind of like a punishment, like I was punished for just loving my country,” Keezer said.

A Home Depot spokesman said Keezer was fired because he violated the companyis dress code.  “This associate chose to wear a button that expressed his religious beliefs. The issue is not whether or not we agree with the message on the button,” Craig Fishel said. “Thatis not our place to say, which is exactly why we have a blanket policy, which is long-standing and well-communicated to our associates, that only company-provided pins and badges can be worn on our aprons.”  Fishel said Keezer was offered a company-approved pin that said, “United We Stand,” but he declined.

Keezer’s lawyer, Kara Skorupa, said she planned to sue the Atlanta-based company.  “There are federal and state laws that protect against religious discrimination,” Skorupa said. “Itis not like he was out in the aisles preaching to people.”  

Keezer said he was working at the store to earn money for college, and wore the button to support his country and his 27-year-old brother, who is in the National Guard and is set to report in December for a second tour of duty in Iraq.  Skorupa noted the slogan on Keezeris pin is straight from the Pledge of Allegiance.  “These mottos and sayings that involve God, thatis part of our country and historical fabric,” Skorupa said. “In God we trust is on our money.”
Michael Masinter, a civil rights and employment law professor at NOVA Southeastern University in Fort Lauderdale, said any lawsuit over religious discrimination might be a tough one to win. “Because itis a private business, not one thatis owned and operated by the government, it doesnit have to operate under the free speech provisions of the First Amendment,” Masinter said.  “But weire not talking about religious displays here,” he said. “This sounds more like a political message ... Wearing a button of that sort would not easily be described as a traditional form of religious expression like wearing a cross or wearing a yarmulke.”
Discussion Questions:  God Button 
84.  Under what circumstances would it violate Title VII for The Home Depot to terminate an employee because of a button referring to “God”?

85.  Is Prof. Masinter correct that Keezer would be more likely to win if the employer was a government agency? 

(  (  (  (  (
(C) Finding a Religious Community

Vetter v. Farmland Industries
901 F.Supp. 1446 (N.D.Iowa 1995)

BENNETT, District Judge.  Plaintiff, a member of the Jewish faith, was discharged from his employment after being told by a supervisor that “sometimes you have to choose between your religion and your job.” The plaintiff chose his religion, the employer snatched his job, and a jury rebuffed the plaintiff’s claims of religious discrimination. The plaintiff had brought claims against his former employer for disparate treatment on the basis of religion and failure reasonably to accommodate his religion. The matter now before the court is the plaintiff’s renewal of his motion, first made at the conclusion of evidence in the trial, for judgment as a matter of law on his accommodation claim. The plaintiff has also moved, in the alternative, for a new trial on both of his claims. The defendant, an agricultural products company that had employed the plaintiff, albeit briefly, as a livestock production specialist (LPS), asserts that the jury properly concluded that the plaintiff was fired for insubordination, because he refused to live in his sales territory and because he initiated a move to an unacceptable location at company expense without prior company approval. The defendant also asserts that the jury properly found that the defendant had made reasonable efforts to accommodate the plaintiff’s religion or found that its duty to make reasonable accommodation was never triggered in this case.

I. BACKGROUND.  In this lawsuit, plaintiff Dean Vetter, a member of the Jewish faith, alleged that his employer, defendant Farmland Industries, Inc., subjected him to disparate treatment on the basis of his religion and failed to make reasonable accommodations for his religion. Vetter’s complaint was in four counts. Counts I and III alleged disparate treatment on the basis of religion resulting in Vetter’s discharge in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1) and Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a), respectively. Vetter’s disparate treatment claims were founded on allegations that after he informed his supervisor that he was Jewish and wished to live in Ames, Iowa, because it had an active Jewish community, Farmland officials for the first time imposed a requirement that he live within the Webster City trade area, and ultimately terminated him for not accepting inadequate housing within that trade territory. Counts II and IV alleged failure to make reasonable accommodations to Vetter’s religious beliefs, also in violation of the same provisions of federal and state law, respectively. Vetter’s claims of refusal to make reasonable accommodation were based on his assertion that he was willing to maintain a residence for himself in Webster City, while his family lived in Ames, but that Farmland rejected this suggestion and failed to offer any other reasonable accommodation. Vetter sought damages for lost past and future income and benefits, emotional distress, suffering, inconvenience, and humiliation. …   
The case … went to trial before a jury on June 12, 1995. On June 15, 1995, the jury rendered a verdict against Vetter on both his disparate treatment and failure to accommodate claims. …
II. LEGAL ANALYSIS … B. Disposition Of Post-trial Motions

1. The motion for judgment as a matter of law:  The court begins its analysis of Vetter’s post-trial motions by considering evidence proffered at trial under the standards for disposition of a motion for judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Rule 50. The court’s consideration therefore concerns only the evidence in support of and contrary to Vetter’s claim of lack of reasonable accommodation. Recognizing that the court must accept as true all facts the evidence offered by the defendant, the prevailing party, tends to prove, and draw all favorable inferences that reasonably can be drawn from defendant’s evidence, … the court nonetheless finds that there is not a scintilla of evidence of reasonable accommodation by Farmland in this case. To the contrary, the evidence points one way, Vetter’s way, and is susceptible of no reasonable inference sustaining the position of Farmland. …
In order to prevail on his claim of failure reasonably to accommodate his religion, Vetter was required to prove that he had a bona fide belief that compliance with an employment requirement was contrary to his religious faith, that he informed his employer about the conflict, and that he was discharged for refusing to comply with the employment requirement. … Furthermore, the plaintiff must demonstrate not only that accommodation of his religion was possible, but that it was also “reasonable.” ….


The evidence proffered at trial, properly considered in light of the standards stated, for example, in Nelson, 26 F.3d at 800, shows that Farmland suggested Fort Dodge as an alternative place for the Vetters to live, but that Fort Dodge had no active synagogue. The testimony offered at trial therefore indicates that Fort Dodge was an “accommodation” only to the extent that it was not in Vetter’s trade territory, as the boundaries of that trade territory were shown at trial through the testimony of Farmland’s witness, Mr. Gleckler, and exhibits introduced at trial as showing the relevant trade territory. However, because Fort Dodge lacked precisely the active religious community Vetter’s beliefs required, it failed to address Vetter’s central religious conflict. As a matter of law, a proposed accommodation that fails to resolve the employee’s religious conflict, or resolves only part of it while completely ignoring the rest, is insufficient. Cooper, 15 F.3d at 1378-79.


Although Ames, Vetter’s religiously motivated choice, was further from Webster City than Fort Dodge, the location Farmland suggested, there is no evidence that Ames was unreasonably less accessible or convenient than Fort Dodge. Nor was there any evidence that Ames imposed more than de minimis costs on Farmland. Mann, 7 F.3d at 1368-69 (citing Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977), for this de minimis standard); Cook v. Chrysler Corp., 981 F.2d 336, 338-39 (8th Cir.1992) (citing similar standards, and also relying on Hardison ), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 973, 113 S.Ct. 2963, 125 L.Ed.2d 663 (1993). Contrary to any assertion that Vetter’s requested accommodation, living in Ames, was not reasonable, all of the evidence presented at trial demonstrates that Vetter was willing to absorb any additional expense or inconvenience to Farmland that might arise from his family residing in Ames, including a willingness to bear all expenses of the commute or to find a place for himself to live during the week in Webster City while his family resided in Ames. Thus, there is no evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude that Ames was an accommodation that imposed “undue hardship” on Farmland, and therefore was not “reasonable.” Mann, 7 F.3d at 1369 (no accommodation is “reasonable” if it imposes “undue hardship” upon the employer); accord Lee v. ABF Freight Sys., Inc., 22 F.3d 1019, 1023 (10th Cir.1994); Heller v. EBB Auto Co., 8 F.3d 1433, 1440 (9th Cir.1993).


Farmland also contended that accommodating Vetter’s religious beliefs by allowing him to live outside of his trade territory would interfere with Farmland’s relationship with the Webster City Co-op, because the Co-op required the Farmland LPS to live within the Co-op’s trade territory. Farmland argued that such interference with its relationship with the Co-op was more than a de minimis cost of such an accommodation. However, there is no evidence of a contract between the Co-op and Farmland requiring LPSs to live within the Co-op’s trade territory. Nor was there any evidence introduced that relations with the Co-op would suffer more as the result of Vetter’s residence outside of the Co-op’s trade territory in Ames than outside the trade territory in Fort Dodge, and Farmland representatives testified that they were willing to allow Vetter to live outside of his trade territory in Fort Dodge.


Furthermore, the testimony of Mr. Gleckler demonstrated that Farmland in fact had no written policy of its own requiring LPSs to live within their trade territories. Although the court would not find that such a policy existed in any form, because the same Farmland representatives who testified to its existence testified that Fort Dodge, which was outside of the trade territory, was acceptable, the court concedes that a reasonable jury could find from the testimony of Farmland employees that such a policy existed, although apparently only as an “understanding” or de facto policy. However, such a policy applied in this case would violate Title VII’s requirements that an employer provide reasonable accommodation to an employee’s religious beliefs. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j). Thus, there is a dearth of evidence that Farmland provided any reasonable accommodation, and a dearth of evidence that it could not do so. Mann, 7 F.3d at 1368-70 (two-prong analysis of accommodation); accord Cooper, 15 F.3d at 1379-80.


Farmland attempts to skirt this complete lack of evidence in support of any attempt at reasonable accommodation by asserting instead that the jury could reasonably have concluded that Farmland was never on notice of a conflict between its residency requirement and Vetter’s religion, and that Vetter’s desire to live in a Jewish community was not a sincerely held belief. Johnson, 762 F.2d at 673 (elements of accommodation claim include showing that plaintiff had sincerely held religious belief in conflict with employment requirement and that plaintiff informed employer about the conflict of an employment requirement with the employee’s religious beliefs). As to the “notice” issue, Farmland points to evidence that Vetter indicated in interviews that he was willing to live within his trade territory, he sought housing there, and only turned to Ames as an alternative when he was unable to find “suitable” housing in Webster City. Thus, Farmland contends, a reasonable jury could find from the evidence that Farmland had no notice that there was a conflict between Vetter’s religion and Farmland’s requirement that Vetter live within his trade territory. Farmland contends that this same evidence, coupled with Vetter’s residence in a non-Jewish community for the two years preceding his employment with Farmland, is enough for a reasonable jury to find that Vetter had no sincerely held religious belief that he must live in a religious community.

Yet the evidence demonstrates unequivocally, from the testimony of Farmland’s own employees, including Mr. Gleckler, who was Vetter’s immediate supervisor, as well as other managerial employees, that Vetter made clear to them that he perceived a conflict between his religious beliefs and residence in a non-Jewish community. Mr. Gleckler testified at trial that he knew, prior to Vetter’s discharge, that Vetter was Jewish, and that Vetter explained that he wanted to live in Ames because Ames had a synagogue and active Jewish community. Furthermore, Mr. Gleckler testified that Vetter was never shown a map detailing what towns were or were not within the trade territory at the time he was interviewed, because such a map did not exist until litigation in this case arose. The only reasonable inference that can be drawn from the evidence is that Vetter believed, at the time he was interviewed, that he would be able to find housing in a community that met both his needs and those of his employer. Mr. Gleckler also testified that some of Farmland’s LPSs were allowed to live outside of their trade territories. This evidence must also be considered in relation to Mrs. Vetter’s testimony that Mr. Gleckler told her that “sometimes you have to choose between your religion and your job.” No reasonable jury could find, in light of all of this evidence, that Farmland had no notice of a conflict between Vetter’s religion and his residence within some ill-defined trade territory.

Nor could a reasonable jury doubt the sincerity of Vetter’s beliefs that he was required by his religion to live in an active Jewish community on the ground that Vetter had previously resided at some distance from a synagogue or active Jewish community. Although an employer need not accommodate purely personal preferences, Brown v. General Motors Corp., 601 F.2d 956, 960 (8th Cir.1979), all of the evidence offered at trial points instead to the sincerity of Vetter’s belief rather than to a purely personal preference. Vetter presented the testimony of Rabbi Stanley Herman, who affirms that “[l]iving in an active Jewish community with an active synagogue is essential to the sustenance of one’s faith as a Jew, so much so it rises to the level of being a mitzvah (Jewish law).” Furthermore, Farmland was unable to contradict evidence that the Vetters had gone to rather extraordinary lengths while living in Muscatine to find and participate in an active Jewish community by seeking out a distant synagogue to attend and participate in its activities; the Vetters continued to find ways to participate in a Jewish community after Farmland terminated Vetter; and further evidence of the growth of the Vetters’ faith during the years in question. See Cooper, 15 F.3d at 1379; Heller, 8 F.3d at 1439.

The court therefore concludes that Vetter’s motion for judgment as a matter of law on his claim that Farmland failed to make reasonable accommodation to his religion should be granted.

2. The motion for new trial: Because the court has granted the motion for judgment as a matter of law, the court will not here address Vetter’s alternative motion for a new trial. Fed.R.Civ.P. 50(b). Ruling is therefore reserved on Vetter’s motion for new trial as to both of his claims.FN5
FN5. In the event the court’s ruling granting Vetter’s motion for judgment as a matter of law on his failure to accommodate claim is overturned on appeal, this court will grant the alternative motion for new trial, at least as to Vetter’s claims of failure to accommodate his religion. Even if a reasonable jury could have denied Vetter’s accommodation claims, making judgment as a matter of law erroneous, see, e.g., Nelson, 26 F.3d at 800, the court would nonetheless find that the jury’s verdict on both Vetter’s disparate treatment and failure to accommodate claims was against the great weight of the evidence and resulted in a miscarriage of justice. See, e.g., Shaffer, 65 F.3d at 117; Rush, 45 F.3d at 1203; Jacobs Mfg. Co., 19 F.3d at 1266; Pence, 961 F.2d at 779. From its review of the weight of the evidence, the court concludes, as did the district court in Shaffer, that, given the evidence presented at trial, the jury “either did not truly understand what it was necessary for [Vetter] to show, or if it did understand, decided to [render a verdict against Vetter] in spite of the facts and law.” Shaffer, 65 F.3d at 118 (quoting the district court’s conclusion). A new trial would therefore be required even if the court’s entry of judgment as a matter of law was erroneous.

(  (  (  (  (
Vetter v. Farmland Industries

120 F.3d 749 (8th Cir. 1997)

MURPHY, Circuit Judge.  Dean Vetter sued his employer, Farmland Industries, Inc., under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et. seq., for terminating him for refusing to move to his trade territory. Vetter contended that his religious beliefs required him to live in a city with an active Jewish community and synagogue and that Farmland had discriminated against him on the basis of his religion by enforcing its residence requirement and not reasonably accommodating his beliefs. A jury returned a verdict in Farmland’s favor, but the district court granted Vetter’s motion for judgment as a matter of law. Farmland appeals, and we reverse.


Farmland sells livestock feed to farm cooperatives through a program in which it hires and trains a livestock production specialist to work closely with a co-op to sell feed to local farmers. Farmland reached an agreement with United Co-op in Webster City, Iowa to participate in the program. Under the agreement the livestock production specialist working with United was to be an employee of Farmland, but United was to pay a significant portion of the person’s salary. United wanted Farmland to assign someone to the job who was knowledgeable about the business, who could communicate effectively with customers, and who would live in the Webster City area so he or she would develop strong relationships with local farmers.


Farmland did not have a livestock production specialist to assign to United so it sought to hire one for the position. Farmland was impressed with Vetter’s experience and scheduled an employment interview with him. According to the testimony of Farmland employees, Vetter was told during the interview that the job would require him to live in the Webster City area and Vetter expressed a willingness to move there. Vetter testified on the other hand that he was told that he had to relocate, but not that he had to move to any particular place. After the interview but before he began working for Farmland, Vetter asked his prospective supervisor, George Gleckler, whether he could live in Ames, which is about forty miles from Webster City. Gleckler discussed this proposal with United Co-op, but United reiterated its need to have the specialist live in the Webster City area. Glecker then told Vetter that Ames was too far from Webster City.


Farmland offered Vetter the job, and there was testimony at trial that just before the employment papers were completed, Farmland again told Vetter that he had to live in the Webster City area and that Vetter understood this requirement. Vetter testified that he knew that Farmland wanted him to move to the Webster City area but that he personally had not been told directly that this was company policy.FN2 Vetter accepted the job and moved to a room in Webster City. His family remained in Muscatine, which is over 200 miles from Webster City. During the first month of his employment, he searched for a home in the Webster City area but did not find rental housing satisfactory to him. Gleckler inquired about his house search, and Vetter said that his wife was working on it.

FN2. Vetter testified that Farmland had told his wife before he took the job that company policy required him to live in the Webster City area and that his wife had informed him about it the same day, but that Farmland did not tell him directly about the policy before he started work.

Shortly after this conversation Gleckler discovered from Farmland’s relocation office that the Vetters had made arrangements to live in Ames. Farmland had indicated that it was prepared to reimburse his moving expenses from Muscatine to the Webster City area, but had said Ames was not acceptable. Gleckler discussed the matter with Vetter and then called Mrs. Vetter. Gleckler told her that he was upset that Vetter had not been forthright about his moving plans. Mrs. Vetter responded that it was important that the family live in an active Jewish community with a synagogue and that they wanted their children to participate in programs at the synagogue. Gleckler replied that “sometimes you have to choose between your religion and your job.”


Gleckler discussed Vetter’s plan to move to Ames with one of his supervisors and United’s management. Farmland decided that Vetter should be dismissed because he had refused to live in the Webster City area and had begun to make arrangements to move to Ames at company expense in spite of its policy. Vetter was terminated, and he returned to Muscatine where he had lived for two years before his employment with Farmland and from which he commuted 45 miles to a synagogue in Rock Island.


Vetter sued Farmland, claiming that he had been discriminated against on the basis of his religion in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1) & (j), in that Farmland did not reasonably accommodate his religious beliefs. In order to prove this allegation Vetter had the burden to demonstrate that “(1) he has a bona fide belief that compliance with an employment requirement is contrary to his religious faith; (2) he has informed his employer about the conflict; and (3) he was discharged because of his refusal to comply with the employment requirement.” Johnson v. Angelica Unif. Group, Inc., 762 F.2d 671, 673 (8th Cir.1985) (quoting Brown v. General Motors Corp., 601 F.2d 956, 959 (8th Cir.1979)). An employer need not accommodate a “purely personal preference,” however. Brown, 601 F.2d at 960.

At trial both parties agreed to a jury instruction explaining that Vetter must prove that

[he] held a sincere belief that compliance with an employment requirement was in conflict with an observance or practice of his religion, [he] does not need to prove that his belief is a tenet of his religious nor that a particular religious observance or practice is required by the tenets of his religion. However, purely personal preferences do not need to be accommodated .... [but that he] was discharged for failing to comply with the conflicting employment requirement.

The jury returned a general verdict in Farmland’s favor. The district court then granted Vetter’s motion for judgment as a matter of law. It recognized the jury’s determination but concluded that “all of the evidence offered at trial points instead to the sincerity of Vetter’s belief rather than to a purely personal preference.”  …

Under the jury instructions Vetter had to show that he had a sincere belief that compliance with Farmland’s residence requirement conflicted with his religious observance or practice and that his decision to live in Ames did not reflect a purely personal preference. The evidence was in conflict on this point, and it was for the jury to resolve the conflict. There was evidence that Vetter chose to live in Ames as a matter of personal preference, not because living in the Webster City area would have conflicted with an observance or practice of his religion. Farmland employees testified that Vetter had agreed during his interview that he would live in Webster City even though he did not know whether there was an active Jewish community or synagogue there. There was also testimony that he understood before the employment arrangement was final that living in the Webster City area was required. Vetter testified that he had looked for a home in Webster City, but that he was unsuccessful because it was a difficult place to find rental housing. Vetter acknowledged that he wanted to live in Ames in part because he had found suitable housing there and the schools had a good reputation. At the time Vetter accepted the job he lived in Muscatine which did not have a synagogue and from where he commuted 45 miles to religious services, and he returned to Muscatine after he was discharged. Had he moved to Webster City, he would have been approximately the same distance from a synagogue as he was in Muscatine. This evidence, and the reasonable inferences that could be drawn from it, was sufficient to support the jury verdict in Farmland’s favor.


The jury had the duty to determine whether Farmland’s residence requirement interfered with the observance or practice of Vetter’s religion or whether he chose to live elsewhere because of a purely personal preference. There was conflicting evidence on this issue, and since a reasonable jury could have found in Farmland’s favor as this one did, the district court erred by overturning the verdict. See McAnally, 16 F.3d at 1496. …
(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Vetter

85.  From what you can tell from the two opinions, if Vetter’s desire to live in Ames had been based in a sincere religious conviction, was the trial court correct that he should have prevailed on his accommodations claim?  What other facts would you like to know to resolve this question fully?

86.  From what you can tell from the two opinions,  which party had the stronger argument about whether Vetter’s concern was religious or personal?  What other facts would you like to know to resolve this question fully?

87.  When analyzing a person’s desire to be part of an active religious community, would you characterize as “personal” or “religious”are considerations like commuting distance, size of the congregation, and wanting to avoid feeling like an outsider. 
 (D) Employee Religious Activity in the Workplace

Brown v. Polk County, Iowa

61 F.3d 650 (8th Cir. 1995) (en banc) 
MORRIS SHEPPARD ARNOLD, Circuit Judge.  In mid-1986, Isaiah Brown, a black man who identifies himself as a born-again Christian, became the director of the information services (data processing) department for Polk County, Iowa. He reported directly to the county administrator and supervised approximately 50 employees.


In mid-1990, an internal investigation into religious activities conducted on government time by employees in Mr. Brown’s department revealed that Mr. Brown had directed a secretary to type Bible study notes for him, that several employees had said prayers in Mr. Brown’s office before the beginning of some workdays, that several employees had said prayers in Mr. Brown’s office in department meetings held during the day, and that in addressing one meeting of employees, Mr. Brown had affirmed his Christianity and had referred to Bible passages related to slothfulness and “work ethics.” Subsequently, the county administrator reprimanded Mr. Brown in writing for a “lack of judgment pertaining to his personal participation in and/or his knowledge of employees participating in activities that could be construed as the direct support of or the promotion of a religious organization or religious activities utilizing the resources of Polk County Government.” The reprimand directed Mr. Brown “immediately [to] cease any activities that could be considered to be religious proselytizing, witnessing, or counseling and ... further [to] cease to utilize County resources that in any way could be perceived as to be supporting a religious activity or religious organization.” The reprimand also directed Mr. Brown to “insure a work environment that is free of the types of activities ... described.” Subsequently, on a separate occasion, the county administrator directed Mr. Brown to remove from his office all items with a religious connotation, including a Bible in his desk.


In late 1990, the county administrator again reprimanded Mr. Brown in writing, on that occasion for a “lack of judgment” related to financial constraints in the county’s budget. Two weeks later, after an internal investigation into personal use of county computers by employees in Mr. Brown’s department, the county administrator asked Mr. Brown to resign; when he refused, the county administrator fired him.


In late 1991, Mr. Brown sued the county, its board of supervisors, and the county administrator. Mr. Brown alleged, under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, that the first reprimand and the order to remove from his office all items with a religious connotation violated constitutional guarantees of free exercise of religion, free speech, and equal protection. He also alleged, under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1) (Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964) and Iowa Code Ann. § 216.6(1)(a), that he was fired because of his race and his religion.


Because the requirements of the state statute in this case are the same as those of Title VII, our subsequent discussion will refer to Title VII only, for the sake of simplicity. Our conclusions apply, however, to both the federal and the state claims. We note in addition that although some language in Mr. Brown’s complaint suggests that his discharge violated the first and fourteenth amendments, he requested back pay and reinstatement to his job solely with respect to his statutory discrimination claims. The relief he sought for his constitutional claims, in contrast, was a declaratory judgment and compensatory damages. We note as well that Mr. Brown offered no actual argument to support the proposition that his discharge violated constitutional guarantees, as opposed to statutory prohibitions only, in his closing argument in the district court, his oral arguments in this court, or his appellate briefs.


After a five-day bench trial, the district court found for the defendants in all respects. On appeal, a divided panel of this court affirmed the judgment of the district court. On rehearing en banc, however, we affirm in part and reverse in part.

I.  … The district court made the factual finding that racial animus played no part in the decision to fire Mr. Brown. … We have read the transcript of the entire trial and have examined all of the exhibits submitted at trial. We have also reviewed all of the materials in the district court file. The district court’s conclusion that Mr. Brown’s race played no part in his discharge is not clearly erroneous.. We therefore affirm the district court judgment with respect to the statutory race discrimination claims and turn to the statutory religious discrimination claims.

II.  … 
The district court made the factual finding that religious animus played no part in the decision to fire Mr. Brown. The district court found, instead, that the reason for Mr. Brown’s discharge was inadequate performance, specifically, the inability to supervise and administer his department. Because we find that religious activities played a part in the decision to fire Mr. Brown, and that the proof was inadequate to show that Mr. Brown would have been fired if those activities had not been considered, we reverse the district court judgment with respect to the statutory religious discrimination claims.


In most of the cases alleging religious discrimination under Title VII, the employer is a private entity rather than a government, and the first amendment to the Constitution is therefore not applicable to the employment relationship. In cases such as this one, however, where a government is the employer, we must consider both the first amendment and Title VII in determining the legitimacy of the county administrator’s action. The first amendment is, of course, applicable to state-created government units by virtue of the fourteenth amendment. 


With specific reference to the free exercise clause, we hold that in the governmental employment context, the first amendment protects at least as much religious activity as Title VII does. See, e.g., United States v. Board of Education, 911 F.2d 882, 890 (3d Cir.1990) (“at the very least, undue hardship is a lower standard than compelling state interest”). Another way of framing that holding is to say that any religious activities of employees that can be accommodated without undue hardship to the governmental employer, are also protected by the first amendment. In other words, if a governmental employer has violated Title VII, it has also violated the guarantees of the first amendment. We turn, then, to a more detailed examination of the requirements of Title VII.

III.  The county administrator testified that he fired Mr. Brown “because of [a] culmination of incidents” that led him to conclude that Mr. Brown “had lost control of his department and was no longer in a position to manage effectively.” The county administrator also testified, moreover, that the reprimand for “religious activities” was “a factor” in the decision to fire Mr. Brown. The labor relations manager for the county testified as well that, in asking for Mr. Brown’s resignation and then firing him, the county administrator told Mr. Brown that the first reprimand was among the “concerns” prompting his discharge. Finally, Mr. Brown himself testified that the reasons given for his discharge by the county administrator were “the problems that [had] centered around [Mr. Brown’s] department for [the] last two years, primarily religion.” Unfortunately, none of the witnesses specified with any more particularity the exact actions to which the county administrator was alluding. We must, therefore, consider what activities were covered by the first reprimand and which, if any, of those activities were protected by Title VII.


Preliminarily, we reject the defendants’ argument that because Mr. Brown never explicitly asked for accommodation for his religious activities, he may not claim the protections of Title VII. An employer need have “only enough information about an employee’s religious needs to permit the employer to understand the existence of a conflict between the employee’s religious practices and the employer’s job requirements.” Heller v. EBB Auto Co., 8 F.3d 1433, 1439 (9th Cir.1993). Because the first reprimand related directly to religious activities by Mr. Brown, we agree with the district court that the defendants were well aware of the potential for conflict between their expectations and Mr. Brown’s religious activities. 


It is undisputed that the defendants made no attempt to accommodate any of Mr. Brown’s religious activities. In those circumstances, the defendants may prevail only if they can show that allowing those activities “could not be accomplished without undue hardship.” United States v. Board of Education, 911 F.2d 882, 887 (3d Cir.1990). See  also Toledo v. Nobel-Sysco, Inc., 892 F.2d 1481, 1490 (10th Cir.1989), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 948, 110 S.Ct. 2208, 109 L.Ed.2d 535 (1990). Undue hardship is “not defined within the language of Title VII. Thus, the precise reach of the employer’s obligation to its employee is unclear under the statute and must be determined on a case-by-case basis.” Beadle v. Hillsborough County Sheriff’s Department, 29 F.3d 589, 592 (11th Cir.1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1128, 115 S.Ct. 2001, 131 L.Ed.2d 1002 (1995). 


 “To require [an employer] to bear more than a de minimis cost ... is an undue hardship.” Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 84, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 2277, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977). “The cost of hiring an additional worker or the loss of production that results from not replacing a worker who is unavailable due to a religious conflict can amount to undue hardship.” Lee v. ABF Freight System, Inc., 22 F.3d 1019, 1023 (10th Cir.1994); see also Brener v. Diagnostic Center Hospital, 671 F.2d 141, 144 (5th Cir.1982). De minimis cost, moreover, “entails not only monetary concerns, but also the employer’s burden in conducting its business.” Beadle v. City of Tampa, 42 F.3d 633, 636 (11th Cir.1995), cert. denied, 515 U.S. 1152, 115 S.Ct. 2600, 132 L.Ed.2d 846 (U.S.1995); see also United States v. Board of Education, 911 F.2d at 887.


Any hardship asserted, furthermore, must be “real” rather than “speculative,” Cook v. Chrysler Corp., 981 F.2d 336, 339 (8th Cir.1992), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 973, 113 S.Ct. 2963, 125 L.Ed.2d 663 (1993), “merely conceivable,” or “hypothetical,” Tooley v. Martin-Marietta Corp., 648 F.2d 1239, 1243 (9th Cir.1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1098, 102 S.Ct. 671, 70 L.Ed.2d 639 (1981). See also Toledo, 892 F.2d at 1492; Smith, 827 F.2d at 1086; and Brown v. General Motors Corp., 601 F.2d 956, 961 (8th Cir.1979). An employer “stands on weak ground when advancing hypothetical hardships in a factual vacuum.” Brown, 601 F.2d at 960. “Undue hardship cannot be proved by assumptions nor by opinions based on hypothetical facts.” Anderson v. General Dynamics Convair Aerospace Division, 589 F.2d 397, 402 (9th Cir.1978), cert. denied, 442 U.S. 921, 99 S.Ct. 2848, 61 L.Ed.2d 290 (1979); see also Draper v. United States Pipe and Foundry Co., 527 F.2d 515, 520 (6th Cir.1975). “Undue hardship requires more than proof of some fellow-worker’s grumbling.... An employer ... would have to show ... actual imposition on co-workers or disruption of the work routine.” Burns v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co., 589 F.2d 403, 407 (9th Cir.1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1072, 99 S.Ct. 843, 59 L.Ed.2d 38 (1979); see also Draper, 527 F.2d at 520-21.


The first reprimand to Mr. Brown was precipitated by the internal investigation into religious activities conducted in mid-1990. The investigation revealed four actions attributed to him-directing a secretary to type his Bible study notes, allowing prayers in his office before the start of the workday, allowing prayers in his office during department meetings, and affirming his Christianity and referring to Bible passages about slothfulness and “work ethics” during one department meeting. We consider each of those activities in light of the commands of Title VII.


The defendants argue that allowing Mr. Brown to direct a county employee to type his Bible study notes would amount to an undue hardship on the conduct of county business, since the work that that employee would otherwise be doing would have to be postponed, done by another employee, or not done at all. We agree that such an activity creates more than a de minimis cost to the defendants. We conclude, therefore, that the defendants may not be held liable under Title VII for their actions in relation to that activity.


Nor, by the way, do we believe that the defendants’ actions with respect to that  activity violate the free exercise clause. That is because we do not consider precluding Mr. Brown from directing a county employee to type his Bible study notes to be a “substantial[ ] burden” upon his religious practices. Employment Division v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 883, 110 S.Ct. 1595, 1602-03, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990). We would be surprised if directing a county employee to type Bible study notes is “conduct mandated by religious belief,” Thomas v. Review Board, 450 U.S. 707, 718, 101 S.Ct. 1425, 1432, 67 L.Ed.2d 624 (1981), and, indeed, Mr. Brown does not so contend. We conclude, therefore, that Mr. Brown’s directing a county employee to type his Bible study notes was not an activity protected at all under the law in this case and, accordingly, that the defendants may not be held liable for their actions with respect to that activity.


With respect to Mr. Brown’s allowing prayers in his office before the start of the workday, nothing in Title VII requires that an employer open its premises for use before the start of the workday. Nor, incidentally, would the first amendment so require in this case, since no proof was offered that Mr. Brown’s office was a public forum or a limited public forum or that the defendants allowed employees to use their offices for personal purposes before the start of the workday (indeed, the defendants’ position was that once an employee arrived at the office, the workday began, regardless of the actual time, and the defendants’ policy manual directed that no personal use of county resources was permitted). We conclude, therefore, that Mr. Brown’s allowing prayers in his office before the start of the workday was not an activity protected at all under the law in this case and, accordingly, that the defendants may not be held liable for their actions in relation to that activity.


Mr. Brown also allowed prayers in his office during several department meetings and affirmed his Christianity and referred to Bible passages related to slothfulness and “work ethics” during one department meeting. All of the testimony was that the prayers were entirely voluntary and “spontaneous,” “did not occur regularly,” and dealt with “matters related to Polk County business,” and that Mr. Brown’s affirmation of Christianity and reference to Bible passages on slothfulness and “work ethics” occurred during only one meeting. Given their context, all of those actions may well have been impolitic on Mr. Brown’s part, but we think that they were inconsequential as a legal matter, especially since they were apparently spontaneous and infrequent.


The defendants argue that allowing spontaneous prayers, occasional affirmations of Christianity, and isolated references to Bible passages would amount to an undue hardship on the conduct of county business by virtue of eventual polarization between born-again Christian employees and other employees, and a concomitant perception that Mr. Brown “might favor those with similar beliefs” in making personnel decisions. In support, the defendants point to the county administrator’s testimony about “certain contacts with the personnel department by employees of [Mr. Brown’s] department” related to “concerns” about the possible effect of Mr. Brown’s religious beliefs on his personnel decisions. The county administrator also testified that when “a number of articles” appeared in the local newspaper in mid-1990 about the investigation into religious activities in Mr. Brown’s department, “various people in Polk County Government” made those articles “a point of conversation,” from which the county administrator “discern[ed] ... that the atmosphere of religion that had pervaded the information services department hurt the morale of that department.” He conceded, however, that he had received no complaints himself from employees “directly” and had not himself “personally ... witness[ed] uncomfortableness between those who were Christians and [those who were] non-Christians.” A supervisor in Mr. Brown’s department testified only that she had “heard” that “some people ... were concerned” about the possible effect of Mr. Brown’s religious beliefs on his personnel decisions.


No evidence whatsoever was presented from employees in Mr. Brown’s department, however, or from anyone else, for that matter, to show that Mr. Brown’s personnel decisions actually were affected by his religious beliefs or that employee concerns in that respect were either reasonable or legitimate. The investigation report, furthermore, stated only that Mr. Brown’s religious activities had the “potential effect” (emphasis supplied) of “generating an impression of preference for those who share similar beliefs” and of “polarizing staff.” The county administrator testified, moreover, that he never believed that Mr. Brown showed any “favoritism” or “actually did discriminate against anybody on the basis of their religion”; a former employee from Mr. Brown’s department testified to the same effect. Finally, three other employees testified that although there was “a division in the office between Christians and those who were not Christians,” “it really had no effect on the work,” and that any morale problems in Mr. Brown’s department stemmed from “disagreements about how [the work] should be done” and whether the department should be reorganized rather than about “religious issues.”


In our view, the defendants’ examples of the burden that they would have to bear by tolerating trifling instances such as those complained of are insufficiently “real,” Cook, 981 F.2d at 339, and too “hypothetical,” Tooley, 648 F.2d at 1243, to satisfy the standard required to show undue hardship. The defendants showed no “actual imposition on co-workers or disruption of the work routine,” Burns, 589 F.2d at 407, generated by occasional spontaneous prayers and isolated references to Christian belief. On this record, we hold that the defendants failed to prove that accommodating such instances as they objected to would lead to undue hardship. The defendants may be held liable, therefore, for firing Mr. Brown on account of those activities unless the defendants can prove that they would have fired him regardless of those activities. See, e.g., Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 242, 244-46, 252-53, 258, 109 S.Ct. 1775, 1786, 1787-88, 1791-92, 1794-95, 104 L.Ed.2d 268 (1989) (plurality opinion).


The district court held that Mr. Brown had offered no direct evidence that he was fired on account of his religious activities. We do not understand that conclusion, since, as we have already noted, the county administrator himself testified that the first reprimand, which was based on religious activities, was “a factor” in his decision to fire Mr. Brown. We believe that Mr. Brown presented enough evidence to require the application of a “mixed-motives” analysis instead. Price Waterhouse, 490 U.S. at 252, 109 S.Ct. at 1791-92 (plurality opinion).


In these circumstances, we could remand to the district court for findings on the question of whether the defendants proved that they would have fired Mr. Brown even if they had not considered his religious activities. In this case, however, we hold that it would be futile to do so, since no reasonable person could conclude from the evidence presented that the defendants proved that they would have fired Mr. Brown anyway. Indeed, when asked specifically at trial if Mr. Brown would have been fired absent the first reprimand, the county administrator responded, “I wouldn’t want to speculate on that.... I just don’t know.” The defendants point to no evidence that would allow us to conclude that they met their burden under a mixed-motives test, and our independent examination of the record has revealed none. We therefore reverse the judgment on the statutory religious discrimination claims and remand the case to the district court for consideration of the appropriate relief on those claims. 

IV.  We last consider constitutional claims that Mr. Brown did not link to his  termination. We reverse the district court with respect to those claims and remand the case for consideration of the appropriate relief.


We are mindful (as the dissenting judges are) that our cases, and first amendment jurisprudence in general, require that plaintiffs in cases like this must show that the governmental action complained of substantially burdened their religious activities. (We take this to mean that Mr. Brown must show that the burdens placed on him were not inconsiderable.) We have already said as much in a previous section of this opinion. But Mr. Brown has carried that burden. From Mr. Brown’s testimony, there can be no doubt that his religious beliefs are extremely important to him and play a central role in his life. He testified that in 1986 or early 1987 he underwent a personal spiritual revival that was “a life-changing experience” for him. He stated, in addition, that prayer was “something that’s part of [his] being,” that prayer “leads [him] and ... guides [him],” and that he uses prayer in his life “on a daily basis.” He believes, according to his testimony, that prayer “changes things” and, furthermore, that his God expects him to pray “for governments, our nation, our schools, our children, all the pandemic problems inherent in our society.” There was no challenge to this testimony then or now, and all of the evidence points to a conclusion that Mr. Brown found the defendants’ prohibitions oppressive and vexatious.


In these circumstances, the district court’s observation that Mr. Brown did not show “that the removal of religious items from his office inhibited his ability to freely exercise his religion,” Brown v. Polk County, Iowa, 832 F.Supp. 1305, 1316 (S.D.Iowa 1993), either proceeds from a misunderstanding of what a substantial burden is, or is a clearly erroneous finding of fact. Our observation above that some of Mr. Brown’s religious activities were inconsequential was, of course, meant to indicate that they did not produce even an insignificant external effect in the workplace, not that they were not significant to him.


Mr. Brown first asserts that his first amendment right to the free exercise of his religion was violated when the county administrator ordered him to “cease any activities that could be considered to be religious proselytizing, witnessing, or counseling” while he was on the job. Although the free exercise of religion is certainly a fundamental constitutional right, see, e.g., Johnson v. Robison, 415 U.S. 361, 375 n. 14, 94 S.Ct. 1160, 1169 n. 14, 39 L.Ed.2d 389 (1974), we believe that the Supreme Court might well adopt, for free exercise cases that arise in the context of public employment, an analysis like the one enunciated in Pickering v. Board of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S.Ct. 1731, 20 L.Ed.2d 811 (1968). That case dealt with free speech rather than the free exercise of religion, but because the analogy is such a close one, and because we see no essential relevant differences between those rights, we shall endeavor to apply the principles of Pickering to the case at hand.


Pickering recognizes a public employee’s right to speak on matters that lie at the core of the first amendment, that is, matters of public concern, so long as “the effective functioning of the public employer’s enterprise” is not interfered with. Rankin v. McPherson, 483 U.S. 378, 388, 107 S.Ct. 2891, 2899, 97 L.Ed.2d 315 (1987). The kind of speech that Polk County prohibited in this case lies right at the core of the free exercise clause. We have, moreover, already indicated at some length our belief that the record reveals no diminution whatever in the effectiveness of governmental functions fairly attributable to anything that Mr. Brown did that is forbidden by the order. The order therefore fails to find any justification under well-settled principles governing the constitutional rights of public employees.


We may concede for the sake of argument that Polk County has a legal right to ensure that its workplace is free from religious activity that harasses or intimidates. But any interference with religious activity that the exercise of that right entails must be reasonably related to the exercise of that right and must be narrowly tailored to its achievement. Here, there was not the least attempt to confine the prohibition to harassing or intimidating speech. Instead, Polk County baldly directed Mr. Brown to “cease any activities that could be considered to be religious proselytizing, witnessing, or counseling” (emphasis supplied). That order exhibited a hostility to religion that our Constitution simply prohibits. It would seem to require no argument that to forbid speech “that could be considered” religious is not narrowly tailored to the aim of prohibiting harassment, although it is certainly capable of doing that. If Mr. Brown asked someone to attend his church, for instance, we suppose that that “could be considered” proselytizing, but its prohibition runs afoul of the free exercise clause. Similarly, a statement to the effect that one’s religion was important in one’s life “could be considered” witnessing, yet for the government to forbid it would be unconstitutional.


The defendants would have us hold that their “interest” in avoiding a claim against them that they have violated the establishment clause allows them to prohibit religious expression altogether in their workplaces. Such a position is too extravagant to maintain, for it gives a dominance to the establishment clause that it does not have and that would allow it to trump the free exercise clause. One might just as well justify erecting a cross and a creche on county property at Christmas as a means of avoiding a claim that employees had been denied their free exercise rights. The clauses cannot, in the nature of things, make conflicting demands on a government, and government is charged with making sure that its activities are confined to the ample and well-defined space that separates them.


Mr. Brown also complains about the directive to remove from his office all items with a religious connotation, including a Bible that was in his desk. It is here, perhaps, that the zealotry of the county administrator is most clearly revealed. Mr. Brown had to remove a plaque containing the serenity prayer (“God, grant me the serenity to accept the things I cannot change, the courage to change the things I can, and the wisdom to know the difference”), another that said, “God be in my life and in my commitment,” and a third containing the Lord’s Prayer. Most intrusive of all was the order to take down a poster that proclaimed some non-religious inspirational commonplaces that were deemed inappropriate because their author, although he occupied no religious office, had “Cardinal” in his name. Mr. Brown testified that he was told that these items had to go because they might be considered “offensive to employees.”


Our observations above with reference to the application of the principles of Pickering apply with equal force to this second portion of Mr. Brown’s claim. There was no showing of disruption of work or any interference with the efficient performance of governmental functions sufficient to allow for this extraordinary action on the part of Polk County. We emphasize, moreover, that even if employees found Mr. Brown’s displays “offensive,” Polk County could not legally remove them if their “offensiveness” was based on the content of their message. In that case, the county would be taking sides in a religious dispute, which, of course, it cannot do under either the establishment clause or the equal protection clause. If the “offensive” character of the display ran to a well-grounded apprehension among employees of discriminatory treatment by Mr. Brown, then this case might be entirely different. But the evidence will not support such a finding here. We emphasize, too, that fear alone, even fear of discrimination or other illegal activity, is not enough to justify such a mobilization of governmental force against Mr. Brown. The fear must be substantial and, above all, objectively reasonable. A phobia of religion, for instance, no matter how real subjectively, will not do. As Justice Brandeis has said, rather starkly, “Men feared witches and burnt women.” Whitney v. California, 274 U.S. 357, 376, 47 S.Ct. 641, 648, 71 L.Ed. 1095 (1927) (Brandeis, J., concurring).

V.  For the reasons indicated, we affirm the judgment of the district court in part, we reverse it in part, and we remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

FAGG, Circuit Judge, dissenting, joined by LOKEN, HANSEN, and MURPHY, Circuit Judges.  The Court ignores a major defect in proof on Brown’s free exercise claim and takes over the district court’s fact-finding function on Brown’s statutory claim of religious discrimination. I thus respectfully dissent.


It is well-established that to prove a free exercise violation, a religious adherent must initially show the challenged governmental action burdened the adherent’s religious practices. Rushton v. Nebraska Pub. Power Dist., 844 F.2d 562, 564 (8th Cir.1988); Vernon v. City of Los Angeles, 27 F.3d 1385, 1392-93 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1000, 115 S.Ct. 510, 130 L.Ed.2d 417 (1994). The burden must be substantial rather than a mere inconvenience. Vernon, 27 F.3d at 1392-93. To rise to the level of a substantial burden, the governmental action must either pressure the religious adherent to commit an act the religion forbids, or prevent the adherent from engaging in conduct the religion requires. Id. at 1393 (applying substantial burden requirement to decide Free Exercise Clause not violated by investigation of whether police chief’s religious views impermissibly affected his work performance).


Although the Court recognizes the substantial burden requirement, the Court ignores Brown’s failure to show the County’s actions rose to the level of a substantial burden on his religious practices. The record lacks any evidence that Brown’s born-again Christianity required him to display religious items in his office or to engage in the religious activities restricted by the reprimand. Indeed, the district court found Brown did not prove the removal of the items from his office inhibited his ability to exercise his religion freely. 832 F.Supp. at 1316. “Brown does not dispute the [district] court’s factual findings” with respect to his First Amendment claims. The district court’s finding is not clearly erroneous anyway. As for the religious activity restrictions, the Court recognizes the prayers at departmental meetings were spontaneous, infrequent, and inconsequential. The evidence about the change in Brown’s religious practices after the reprimand shows the restrictions merely inconvenienced Brown. Rather than engaging in group prayers during work, Brown simply went across the street to the library at lunchtime to read his Bible and pray with others. The reprimand did not restrict Brown’s private prayers. Brown has not shown any substantial, concrete harm to his religious practice resulted from Polk County’s actions. The Court misplaces reliance on evidence that Brown’s “religious beliefs are extremely important to him and play a central role in his life.” The fact that Brown sincerely held his religious beliefs does not mean the County’s actions substantially burdened Brown’s exercise of those beliefs. Because Brown failed to show the County’s actions substantially burdened his religious practices, the Court should not even reach the Pickering analysis on Brown’s free exercise claim. As explained in the vacated panel opinion, however, I would hold the balance of interests tips in the County’s favor in this case, primarily given Brown’s status as a supervisor of fifty employees. 


Assuming the mixed-motives analysis applies to Brown’s statutory religious discrimination claim, I would remand for the district court to decide whether the County would have fired Brown absent his religious activities. In making the finding on appeal, the Court disregards the timing of Brown’s discharge and the evidence showing Brown’s consistently poor work performance. In my view, the district court could reasonably find the County would have discharged Brown regardless of his religious activities.


After the County administrator, Ray Sears, chose Brown to become director of the County’s information services department (ISD) in mid-1986, the ISD experienced many problems. In Brown’s 1988, 1989, and 1990 performance evaluations, Sears expressed concern with Brown’s ability to communicate, delegate authority, and maintain predetermined schedules. The ISD experienced significant delays in meeting project deadlines in late 1989, prompting an unprecedented departmental evaluation by an outside consulting firm and a departmental restructuring. In July 1990 Brown received the single reprimand for religious activity at work and Sears removed the items from Brown’s office. No religious activities were reported after the reprimand. Four months later, in November 1990, Sears reprimanded Brown for exercising poor judgment about budgetary matters. The same month, Sears ordered an investigation into reports that ISD computers were still being used for personal matters even though Brown had tried to eliminate the problem. The investigation revealed ISD computers contained pornography and personal budgets. Sears asked for Brown’s resignation after receiving the results of the computer investigation on December 3, 1990.


The Court places too much stock in Sears’s testimony that he did not know whether Brown would have been fired absent the reprimand for religious activities. Sears’s statement is equivocal and must be considered in light of the entire record. Given the overwhelming evidence of inadequate performance in relation to the single reprimand for religious activity, and the fact that Sears did not terminate Brown until pornography was found on the ISD’s computers five months after the religious reprimand, I believe the district court could reasonably find the County would have fired Brown absent his religious activities.

I would remand Brown’s statutory religious discrimination claim, but otherwise affirm the district court.  …
(  (  (  (  (
Berry v. Department of Social Services
447 F.3d 642 (9th Cir. 2006)

CALLAHAN, Circuit Judge:  Daniel M. Berry filed this lawsuit alleging that his public employer, the Tehama County Department of Social Services (“Department”), was violating his rights under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq. , by prohibiting him from discussing religion with his clients, displaying religious items in his cubicle, and using a conference room for prayer meetings. The district court granted summary judgment in favor of the Department, Mr. Berry appealed, and we affirm. …

I.  Mr. Berry describes himself as “an evangelical Christian who holds sincere religious beliefs that require him to share his faith, when appropriate, and to pray with other Christians.” The Department has employed Mr. Berry since 1991. In 1997, he transferred to the employment services division. His official duties involve assisting unemployed and underemployed clients in their transition out of welfare programs. These duties frequently require him to conduct client interviews. The record shows that over ninety percent of these interviews take place in Mr. Berry’s cubicle.

At the time of his transfer, the Department told Mr. Berry that its policy was that employees in his position were not allowed to talk about religion with clients and the agencies the employees contacted. Mr. Berry acquiesced to this position. In fact, he initially thought that he was prohibited from talking about religion from the moment he arrived at work until the moment he left. Mr. Berry testified that one day his daughter called him on the phone when she was sick at home and he felt that he was prohibited from praying with his daughter. Accordingly, he approached his supervisor who clarified that the prohibition on talking about religion only applied to clients.


Mr. Berry, nonetheless, was uncomfortable with the restriction and requested to be relieved from it, as he felt that it conflicted with his religious beliefs. In January 2002, he received a counseling memorandum instructing him to “adhere to the Department’s policy about absolute avoidance of religious communications with participants and/or other persons (such as Child Care Providers) that you have contact with as part of your employment.”


The Department does not prohibit Mr. Berry from talking about religion with his colleagues. Around January 2001, he organized a monthly employee prayer meeting that was to take place in the Red Bluff Room, a conference room in the Department’s facility. The prayer meetings were voluntary and were held at lunch time. The Director of the Department told Mr. Berry that he could not use the Red Bluff Room for these meetings. Mr. Berry, however, continued to conduct the prayer meetings there without scheduling the meetings in any official manner. In April 2001, the Director sent Mr. Berry a letter reiterating that prayer meetings could not be held in the Red Bluff Room. FN1 Mr. Berry was informed that he could pray in the break room during regular lunch hours or he and his group could go outside and pray on the departmental grounds.

FN1. The letter states, in relevant part: 

Firstly, I have not been empowered by the Board of Supervisors to allow County facilities to be used for non-County purposes. 

For clarification let me restate part of what you were told around the first of the year. If ANY group is given permission to use a non-public portion of our building for purposes other than that directly associated with the carrying out of our administrative duties as Social Services, then that use opens up the non-public portions of the building to ANY and ALL groups that wish to request usage thereof. I would be required to grant permission, if requested, to ANY and ALL who would ask regardless of the purpose or motivation of said group. I am not willing to do that. Therefore, you may not use these facilities for the purpose of praying as an organized or informal group. 

Let me make it perfectly clear that I am in no way infringing on your constitutional right of free speech. As you are aware, freedom of speech and expression are constitutionally protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. However the privileges afforded by the First Amendment are not unlimited, the constitutionality of limitations on speech vary depending upon the forum used to express speech. You are free to believe as you see fit and to express those views in the appropriate forum. 

Whether it be your intent or not, using a County conference room for public purposes (i.e. non County related) transforms it into a public forum that can be used by any group of any persuasion, whether or not they are employed by the County. 

Lastly, Article XVI, section 5 of the California Constitution forbids any county from aiding or supporting any religious sect, church, creed or sectarian purpose with public funds. 

Although employees were generally allowed to decorate their cubicles, when he transferred to the employment services division in 1997, Mr. Berry received a memorandum from his supervisor that explained:

You may not display religious items in an area where those items are visible to any applicant, recipient, or participant under or within any program administered by the Department of Social Services.

Mr. Berry stated that sometime in the fall of 2001, he contacted a civil rights organization to inquire whether he could legally keep a Bible on his desk and decorate his cubicle with faith-related items. Apparently encouraged by the response he received, Mr. Berry in early December 2001, put a Spanish language Bible on his desk and hung a sign that read “Happy Birthday Jesus” on the wall of his cubicle.

On December 6, 2001, Mr. Berry received a letter of reprimand instructing him that he could not display religious items that were visible to clients. The letter referenced the 1997 memorandum and instructed him to remove the name “Jesus” from the sign and to remove the Bible from the view of his clients. FN2 Mr. Berry complied by removing the sign and keeping his Bible hidden from view.

FN2. The letter stated, in part: 

On October 3, 2001 you were informed by me that if you did not interview in your work area you could display religious items. You were also told that since you do interview at your area, your work space is not a “private work space” and therefore you may not display religious items that are visible to the clients. 

This week you have placed a Bible in plain view to the clients that you interview in your work area. This week you also have placed a sign on the County’s wall in plain view of your clients in your work area which reads “Happy Birthday Jesus.” 

You have deliberately placed these items in your work area knowing that we have specifically provided instructions to you prohibiting such display and non-verbal communication to the clients. 

You are instructed to immediately remove the Bible from view of the clients. You may put the Bible in your desk or in a large envelope which we are providing you. You are instructed to remove the “Jesus” part of your Happy Birthday Jesus sign which you have placed on the wall of your work area. The issue is that the Bible and other religious non-verbal communications can not be visible to your clients. 

Following the December 6, 2001 letter of reprimand, Mr. Berry filed charges with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”). He requested and received a “right to sue letter” from the EEOC and, on May 1, 2002, filed this action. … 
III.  A. Limitation on Mr. Berry’s Speech with Clients:  The district court applied the Pickering balancing test to the Department’s limitation of Mr. Berry’s speech with clients. The Court in Pickering commenced with the recognition that teachers as public employees do not relinquish the First Amendment rights they would otherwise enjoy as citizens. 391 U.S at 568, 88 S.Ct. 1731. The Court, however, also recognized that a “State has interests as an employer in regulating the speech of its employees that differ significantly from those it possesses in connection with regulation of the speech of the citizenry in general.” Id. It held that the reconciliation of these competing interests requires “a balance between the teacher, as a citizen, in commenting upon matters of public concern and the interest of the State, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public services it performs through its employees.” Id. The Supreme Court in 2004 reaffirmed the use of the Pickering balancing test “[t]o reconcile the employee’s right to engage in speech and the government employer’s right to protect its own legitimate interests in performing its mission.” City of San Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 77, 82, 125 S.Ct. 521, 160 L.Ed.2d 410 (2004).


Mr. Berry, however, argues that we should apply a stricter test instead of a balancing test because the Department’s restrictions on his religious speech to clients violate his rights under both the Free Exercise and the Free Speech clauses of the First Amendment. Mr. Berry reasons that this is consistent with such cases as Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 546, 113 S.Ct. 2217, 124 L.Ed.2d 472 (1993), and Employment Division, Department of Human Resources of Oregon v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 110 S.Ct. 1595, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990). 

We decline Mr. Berry’s proposal because it does not take into consideration the employer’s interests that led the Supreme Court to adopt the Pickering balancing test in the first place.FN5 Pickering, 391 U.S. at 568, 88 S.Ct. 1731. Our rejection of the use of a stricter test is supported by the Supreme Court’s 2004 opinion in Roe, which again applied the Pickering balancing test to limitations on employee speech. 543 U.S. at 82, 125 S.Ct. 521. Moreover, the Supreme Court clarified that not all employer limitations on an employee’s speech warrant judicial review even under a balancing test, but only those restrictions that raise some credible constitutional concern. Id. The Court in Roe explained “ Pickering did not hold that any and all statements by a public employee are entitled to balancing. To require Pickering balancing in every case where speech by a public employee is at issue, no matter the content of the speech, could compromise the proper functioning of government offices.” 543 U.S. at 82, 125 S.Ct. 521. See also Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 146, 103 S.Ct. 1684, 75 L.Ed.2d 708 (1983).FN6 Accordingly, we decline to subject the Department’s restrictions on Mr. Berry’s speech to a stricter test.

FN5. It is true that in Smith, the Court discusses the “application of a neutral, generally applicable law to religiously motivated action” which implicates “the Free Exercise Clause in conjunction with other constitutional protections.” 494 U.S. at 881, 110 S.Ct. 1595. The Court, however, recognized that its discussion of “hybrid” situations was dicta. Id. at 882, 110 S.Ct. 1595 (“The present case does not present such a hybrid situation[.]”); see also Knight v. Conn. Dep’t of Pub. Health, 275 F.3d 156, 167 (2nd Cir.2001) (“Appellants’ reliance on Smith is misplaced, as the language relating to hybrid claims is dicta and not binding on this court.”). Furthermore, the Court noted that it had rarely applied the stricter test set forth in Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398, 83 S.Ct. 1790, 10 L.Ed.2d 965 (1963), by which “governmental actions that substantially burden a religious practice must be justified by a compelling governmental interest.” Smith, 494 U.S. at 883, 110 S.Ct. 1595.
FN6. After reviewing the evolution of the law from the time when the “unchallenged dogma was that a public employee had no right to object to conditions placed upon the term of employment,” 461 U.S. at 143, 103 S.Ct. 1684, to the Court’s decision in Pickering, the Court wrote in Connick: 

Pickering, its antecedents and progeny, lead us to conclude that if [the employee’s] questionnaire cannot be fairly characterized as constituting speech on a matter of public concern, it is unnecessary for us to scrutinize the reasons for her discharge. When employee expression cannot be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community, government officials should enjoy wide latitude in managing their offices, without intrusive oversight by the judiciary in the name of the First Amendment. Perhaps the government employer’s dismissal of the worker may not be fair, but ordinary dismissals from government service which violate no fixed tenure or applicable statute or regulation are not subject to judicial review even if the reasons for the dismissal are alleged to be mistaken or unreasonable. 

461 U.S. at 146, 103 S.Ct. 1684 (footnote omitted). 

Instead, we adhere to our practice of applying a balancing test when confronted with constitutional challenges to restrictions on public employee speech in the workplace. In Tucker v. State of California Department of Education, 97 F.3d 1204 (9th Cir.1996), we rejected a similar contention that we should apply a stricter test, and instead reviewed a public employer’s limitations on an employee’s religious speech pursuant to the “applicable doctrine, which is found in the case law governing employee speech in the workplace.” Id. at 1209-10. In a prior case concerning a high school teacher’s challenge to a restriction barring him from discussing religion with students, we held that the school district’s interest in avoiding an Establishment Clause violation trumped the teacher’s right to talk to students. Peloza v. Capistrano Unified Sch. Dist., 37 F.3d 517, 522 (9th Cir.1994).


The balancing test we applied in Tucker and Peloza, and which we apply in this case, is a slight variation on the Pickering balancing test. In Roe, the Supreme Court stated that the Pickering balancing test:

requires a court evaluating restraints on a public employee’s speech to balance “the interests of the [employee], as a citizen, in commenting upon matters of public concern and the interest of the State, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public services it performs through its employees.”

Roe, 543 U.S. at 82, 125 S.Ct. 521 (quoting Pickering, 391 U.S. at 568, 88 S.Ct. 1731). Here, Mr. Berry contends that his speech is protected under the First Amendment as religious speech, rather than as comments upon matters of public concern. Nonetheless, we conclude that the Pickering balancing approach applies regardless of the reason an employee believes his or her speech is constitutionally protected.FN7 Mr. Berry, of course, is entitled to seek the greatest latitude possible for expressing his religious beliefs at work. The Department, however, must run the gauntlet of either being sued for not respecting an employee’s rights under the Free Exercise and Free Speech clauses of the First Amendment or being sued for violating the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment by appearing to endorse its employee’s religious expression. The Pickering balancing test recognizes these important, but sometimes competing, concerns and allows a public employer to navigate a safe course.

FN7. The Second Circuit has reached a similar conclusion. Knight, 275 F.3d at 167.
Applying the Pickering test to the Department’s restriction on Mr. Berry’s speech with clients, we determine that the restriction is reasonable. The Supreme Court has reiterated that avoiding an Establishment Clause violation may be a compelling state interest. See Lamb’s Chapel v. Ctr. Moriches Union Free Sch. Dist., 508 U.S. 384, 394, 113 S.Ct. 2141, 124 L.Ed.2d 352 (1993) (remarking that “the interest of the State in avoiding an Establishment Clause violation ‘may be [a] compelling’ one justifying an abridgment of free speech otherwise protected by the First Amendment” (quoting Widmar v. Vincent, 454 U.S. 263, 271, 102 S.Ct. 269, 70 L.Ed.2d 440 (1981)); see also Good News Club v. Milford Cent. Sch., 533 U.S. 98, 112, 121 S.Ct. 2093, 150 L.Ed.2d 151 (2001) (“We have said that a state interest in avoiding an Establishment Clause violation ‘may be characterized as compelling,’ and therefore may justify content-based discrimination.”) (quoting Widmar, 454 U.S. at 271, 102 S.Ct. 269)).


Moreover, unlike the situations presented in Lamb’s Chapel and Good News Club, the Department’s concern with an Establishment Clause violation is well taken. The Department’s clients seek assistance from Mr. Berry in his capacity as an agent of the state. Accordingly, they may be motivated to seek ways of ingratiating themselves with Mr. Berry, or conversely, they may seek reasons to explain a perceived failure to assist them. It follows that any discussion by Mr. Berry of his religion runs a real danger of entangling the Department with religion. This danger is heightened by Mr. Berry’s admission that unless restricted, he will share his faith with others and pray with them.FN8 Although Mr. Berry states he will only do so “when appropriate,” he does not explain how he determines when sharing his religion is appropriate. Furthermore, any legal consequences from Mr. Berry’s discussion of religion with clients will fall upon the Department, as much as, if not more than, on Mr. Berry. We conclude that under the balancing test, the Department’s need to avoid possible violations of the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment outweighs the restriction’s curtailment of Mr. Berry’s religious speech on the job.

FN8. Mr. Berry’s objection that there have not been any client complaints against him is not well taken. He has been prohibited from discussing his religion with clients from the day he accepted his position. Although it appears that Mr. Berry has for the most part abided by that limitation, an unchallenged portion of the Department’s statement of undisputed facts filed in the district court recites: 

In deposition testimony, Plaintiff has admitted that from time to time he has had religious conversations with, or prayed in the presence of County’s clients. On one occasion, he prayed in the presence of one of his Hispanic clients who first asked him to pray for a family member, and later asked Plaintiff to pray directly with her, which he did. On another occasion, Plaintiff prayed in Spanish for a client who was caught being dishonest, however, he did not believe that the client knew that Plaintiff was praying for him at the time. 

B. Limitations on the Display of Religious Items:  Mr. Berry contends that the Department’s refusal to allow him to display a Bible or a “Happy Birthday Jesus” sign is “viewpont discrimination.” He further suggests that compared to his religious speech “there is even less danger that a mere posting of material with religious content, or the placement of a Bible on the desk of a Department employee will cause a reasonable observer to believe that the County has suddenly set up shop as a religious agency.”

We hold that the Department’s restrictions on the display of religious items are reasonable under the Pickering balancing test. Our opinion in Tucker is instructive. In Tucker, we first noted that the government “has a greater interest in controlling what materials are posted on its property than it does in controlling the speech of the people who work for it.” Tucker, 97 F.3d at 1214. We also recognized that materials posted on the walls of the corridors of government offices may be interpreted as representing the views of the state. Id. We, nonetheless, struck down an order that prevented the display of religious materials outside employees’ cubicles or offices, when employees were free to post materials on other subjects. In doing so, however, we noted:

The state’s strongest argument is that allowing the posting of religious material on the interior space of the building in question would give the appearance of government endorsement of religious messages. Such endorsement would, of course, be unconstitutional.

97 F.3d at 1215 (citing County of Allegheny v. ACLU, 492 U.S. 573, 592-601, 109 S.Ct. 3086, 106 L.Ed.2d 472 (1989)).

In Tucker, the public did not have access to the office areas at issue. 97 F.3d at 1212. Here, the very reason for the Department’s restrictions is that clients have access to Mr. Berry’s cubicle and might reasonably interpret the presence of visible religious items as government endorsement of religion. Mr. Berry is not deprived of his Bible. He may keep it in his desk drawer and may read it whenever he does not have a client with him in his cubicle. Displaying the Bible implicitly endorses a religious message and it is precisely that message which the Department reasonably seeks to avoid.FN9 We conclude that under the balancing test, the Department’s need to avoid an appearance of endorsement of religion outweighs the curtailment on Mr. Berry’s ability to display religious items in his cubicle, which is frequented by the Department’s clients.

FN9. The Department’s concern that the presence of religious items on public property may give rise to an implied endorsement of religion finds some support in the Supreme Court’s recent opinions in McCreary County v. ACLU, 545 U.S. 844, 125 S.Ct. 2722, 162 L.Ed.2d 729 (2005), and Van Orden v. Perry, 545 U.S. 677, 125 S.Ct. 2854, 162 L.Ed.2d 607 (2005).

C. Use of the Conference Room for Prayers:  Mr. Berry claims that the Red Bluff Room is open to other nonbusiness-related meetings and therefore allowing individual employees to use the room for prayer would not be seen as endorsing religion. He contends that the room had been used for such activities as “Junior Mints,” “social organizations,” “rodeo-theme picnics,” baby showers, and birthday celebrations. The district court, however disagreed, noting:

There is no evidence in the record here demonstrating that the Red Bluff Room is used for anything other than official business meetings and business-related social functions, such as employee birthday parties, of the sort ordinarily allowed by employers in meeting areas. There is no evidence of the County ever having allowed any religious or political group to meet in the space or announcing its intention to allow such a meeting. Indeed, there is no evidence that the room has been made publicly accessible at all. Thus, the conference room falls into that category of public property which is “not intended to be a forum for the public expression of ideas and opinions.” May [ v. Evansville-Vanderburgh School Corp.], 787 F.2d [1105,] 1113 [(7th Cir.1986) ].

The Supreme Court in Cornelius v. NAACP Legal Defense & Educational Fund, 473 U.S. 788, 802, 105 S.Ct. 3439, 87 L.Ed.2d 567 (1985), held that “[t]he government does not create a public forum by inaction or by permitting limited discourse, but only by intentionally opening a nontraditional forum for public discourse.” FN10 The Court further held “[t]he Government’s decision to restrict access to a nonpublic forum need only be reasonable; it need not be the most reasonable or the only reasonable limitation.” Id. at 808, 105 S.Ct. 3439 (emphasis in original). In Arkansas Educational Television Commission v. Forbes, ( Forbes ), 523 U.S. 666, 118 S.Ct. 1633, 140 L.Ed.2d 875 (1998), the Court further noted that “the government does not create a designated public forum when it does no more than reserve eligibility for access to the forum to a particular class of speakers, whose members must then, as individuals, ‘obtain permission.’ ” Id. at 679, 118 S.Ct. 1633 (internal citation omitted).FN11
FN10. In Cornelius, the Supreme Court noted that it had identified three types of fora in Perry Education Assn. v. Perry Local Educators’ Assn., 460 U.S. 37, 44, 103 S.Ct. 948, 74 L.Ed.2d 794 (1983): 

[1] the traditional public forum, [2] the public forum created by government designation, and [3] the nonpublic forum. Traditional public fora are those places which “by long tradition or by government fiat have been devoted to assembly and debate.” 460 U.S. at 45, 103 S.Ct. at 954. Public streets and parks fall into this category. See Hague v. CIO, 307 U.S. 496, 515, 59 S.Ct. 954, 83 L.Ed. 1423, ... (1939). In addition to traditional public fora, a public forum may be created by government designation of a place or channel of communication for use by the public at large for assembly and speech, for use by certain speakers, or for the discussion of certain subjects. Perry Education Assn., supra, 460 U.S., at 45, 46, 103 S.Ct. 948 n. 7.... Of course, the government “is not required to indefinitely retain the open character of the facility.” Id., at 46, 103 S.Ct., at 955. 

473 U.S. at 802, 105 S.Ct. 3439. 

FN11. The Court offered the following explanation for its policy: 

The Cornelius distinction between general and selective access furthers First Amendment interests. By recognizing the distinction, we encourage the government to open its property to some expressive activity in cases where, if faced with an all-or-nothing choice, it might not open the property at all. That this distinction turns on governmental intent does not render it unprotective of speech. Rather, it reflects the reality that, with the exception of traditional public fora, the government retains the choice of whether to designate its property as a forum for specified classes of speakers. 

523 U.S. at 680, 118 S.Ct. 1633. 

Accordingly, we must first consider whether accepting Mr. Berry’s allegations as true, there is sufficient evidence from which a trier of fact could determine that the Department has opened the Red Bluff Room to public discourse.


Our review of the record reveals that the Department held an annual western-style barbecue for its employees in conjunction with the annual Red Bluff Rodeo and, on that occasion, food was placed in the Red Bluff Room for the employees to eat. “Junior Mints” was a group that helped put on the annual Rodeo Day barbecue for the employees. The only other evidence in the record of use of the Red Bluff Room by a “social organization” concerned an occasion when some employees sought to organize a “Relay for Life” walk to raise money for cancer research.FN12 Although the group used the room once, the Director then determined that the “Relay for Life” group was a nonbusiness related group and stopped the group from using the room, just as he did with Mr. Berry.

FN12. Although Berry’s brief mentions the use of the Red Bluff Room for “quilting group meetings” there is no support for this conclusory allegation in the record. See Carmen v. San Francisco Unified Sch. Dist., 237 F.3d 1026, 1031 (9th Cir.2001) (holding that a “court need not examine the entire file for evidence establishing a genuine issue of fact, where the evidence is not set forth in the opposing papers with adequate references so that it could conveniently be found.”).

Thus, the only permitted use of the Red Bluff Room that was not generally associated with the Department’s administrative duties was for birthday parties and baby showers. This appears to be similar to the reservation of “eligibility for access to the forum to a particular class of speakers” which the Supreme Court in Forbes held did not create a public forum. 523 U.S. at 679, 118 S.Ct. 1633. It is certainly not the type of intentional opening of a nontraditional forum for public discourse that the Supreme Court has indicated is necessary to convert a nonpublic forum into a public forum. Cornelius, 473 U.S. at 808, 105 S.Ct. 3439. Accordingly, we determine that the Red Bluff Room remains a nonpublic forum.


Mr. Berry argues that even for a nonpublic forum the government regulation of speech must be reasonable, and that the restriction may not be based on disagreement with the speaker’s view. He cites Justice O’Connor’s concurring opinion in International Society for Krishna Consciousness, Inc. v. Lee, 505 U.S. 672, 112 S.Ct. 2701, 120 L.Ed.2d 541 (1992), that the question is whether restrictions are “reasonably related to maintaining the multipurpose environment that the [authority] has deliberately created.” Id. at 689, 112 S.Ct. 2701.


This approach fails for several reasons. First, the Red Bluff Room does not have the multiple purposes presented by the airport at issue in Lee. Second, the reason given by the Department for not allowing Mr. Berry to use the Red Bluff Room was viewpoint neutral. Third, in light of the Department’s prior denial of use of the Red Bluff Room by the “Relay for Life” group, and the lack of any evidence that the Department permitted the use of the Red Bluff Room for any other social organizations, we are compelled to conclude that Mr. Berry was denied the use of the Red Bluff Room because he sought to use it for a nonbusiness-related activity, and not because that activity happened to be religious.


We conclude that the Department’s decision to allow the Red Bluff Room to be used for birthday parties and baby showers, but not by employee social organizations is a “reasonable” limitation as defined by the Supreme Court in Cornelius and Forbes. The Department could reasonably determine that such business-related social functions furthered its administrative tasks in ways that employee social organizations and prayer meetings would not. Birthday parties and baby showers are arguably less likely to challenge employees’ religious beliefs, are less likely to exclude employees and are unlikely to be held to “honor” any individual employee more than once a year. Certainly the distinction is not compelling, but we think that it is reasonable, and that is all that is required for a nonpublic forum. Cornelius, 473 U.S. at 808, 105 S.Ct. 3439. We conclude that the Department’s decision to deny Mr. Berry’s proposed use of the Red Bluff Room, a nonpublic forum, for prayer meetings did not violate his rights under the First Amendment.

IV.  Mr. Berry also advances claims of religious discrimination under Title VII. He argues that the Department failed to accommodate his religious beliefs when it (a) prohibited him from discussing religion with the Department’s clients and (b) required that he not display his Bible and remove a religious sign from his cubicle’s wall. In addition, he sets forth a disparate-treatment claim based on the Department’s refusal to allow him to use the Red Bluff Room for prayer meetings.


A. The Failure-to-Accommodate Claims.  Title VII claims are analyzed under the burden-shifting framework set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973). … We agree with the district court that Berry has established a prima facie case by showing that: “(1) he is an evangelical Christian who believes in sharing his faith with others and he was reprimanded for this practice insofar as he communicated with clients about religion; (2) he informed his employer of his beliefs and the conflict; and (3) the employer, at least implicitly, threatened some adverse action by formally instructing him not to pray with or proselytize to clients.”


Once a prima facie showing has been made, the burden shifts to the Department to show that “it initiated good faith efforts to accommodate reasonably the employee’s religious practices or that it could not reasonably accommodate the employee without undue hardship.” As undue hardship is not defined within the language of Title VII, courts have had to determine it on a case-by-case basis. 


The outer limits of “undue hardship” need not detain us as the Department has clearly demonstrated that it cannot accommodate either Mr. Berry’s desire to discuss religion with the Department’s clients or his preference for displaying religious items in his cubicle. As we have noted, allowing Mr. Berry to discuss religion with the Department’s clients would create a danger of violations of the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment. This constitutes an undue hardship. See Knight, 275 F.3d at 168 (“Permitting appellants to evangelize while providing services to clients would jeopardize the state’s ability to provide services in a religion-neutral matter.”). Similarly, it would be an undue hardship to require the Department to accept, or have to rebut, the inherent suggestion of Department sponsorship that would arise from allowing the display of religious items in a cubicle in which Mr. Berry interviews clients who are seeking assistance. We conclude that Mr. Berry has not shown that the Department’s restrictions on his religious speech to clients and on displaying religious items constitute a failure to accommodate his religious beliefs.
B. The Disparate-Treatment Claim:  Mr. Berry asserts a disparate-treatment claim under Title VII based on the Department’s refusal to allow him to use the Red Bluff Room for prayer meetings. In order to establish a prima facie case of disparate treatment, Mr. Berry must show that “(1) he is a member of a protected class; (2) he was qualified for his position; (3) he experienced an adverse employment action; and (4) similarly situated individuals outside his protected class were treated more favorably, or other circumstances surrounding the adverse employment action give rise to an inference of discrimination.” Peterson, 358 F.3d at 603. If Mr. Berry meets his burden of establishing a prima facie case, then under the McDonnell Douglas approach, the Department must offer a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for denying him use of the Red Bluff Room. Bodett, 366 F.3d at 744. Mr. Berry would then be entitled to show that the Department’s given reason is a pretext. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804, 93 S.Ct. 1817.

Mr. Berry’s disparate-treatment claim is not persuasive. First, the evidence does not support his contention that similarly situated employees were treated differently. The only evidence in the record concerning the use of the Red Bluff Room by a social organization of employees was that a group held a first meeting to organize a “Relay for Life” walk to raise money for cancer research. The Department, however, determined that this was a nonbusiness-related activity and prohibited the group from using the Red Bluff Room. This is exactly what happened to Mr. Berry. The Department determined that because Mr. Berry’s use was not business related, he could not use the Red Bluff Room.

Second, even if we accept-as the district court did-that Mr. Berry has established the prima facie elements for his disparate treatment-claim as it relates to prayer meetings, the Department has presented a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for not allowing him to use the Red Bluff Room, and Mr. Berry has not shown that this reason was a pretext. The Department declined to allow Mr. Berry to use the Red Bluff Room for prayer meetings, and appears not to have allowed other employees to use the room for nonbusiness-related activities, because it does not want to convert the room from a nonpublic to a public forum. This is a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason. See May v. Evansville-Vanderburgh Sch. Corp., 787 F.2d 1105, 1111 (7th Cir.1986) (affirming a ban on religious meetings by teachers on school property before school opened).

Thus, Mr. Berry’s effort to meet the fourth prong of a disparate-treatment claim rests solely on the Department allowing birthday parties and baby showers in the conference room. We do not think that permitting such business-related social functions supports either an inference that similarly situated individuals were treated more favorably or an inference of discrimination. As we have previously stated, we perceive a difference between business-related social functions and religious meetings. As long as the distinction is reasonable, it appears that is all that the Supreme Court requires. … Furthermore, there is no suggestion that other employees (other than the Relay for Life group) have been granted use of the Red Bluff Room for a use similar to that sought by Mr. Berry. Finally, the Department makes a reasonable argument that opening up the Red Bluff Room to religious meetings by all employees who requested such a meeting would be an undue hardship. Indeed, in Forbes, the Supreme Court noted that “the prospect of cacophony” that might result from allowing all who sought to participate in a nonpublic forum might well force the closure of the forum. 523 U.S. at 681, 118 S.Ct. 1633. The Red Bluff Room is not a public forum, and we do not read the applicable Supreme Court decisions as requiring that the Department choose either to allow Mr. Berry to hold prayer meetings or to discontinue allowing business-related social functions in the conference room.

In sum, the record reflects that: (1) the Department declined to allow Mr. Berry to use the Red Bluff Room for prayer meetings for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason, to maintain the room as a nonpublic forum; (2) Mr. Berry has not shown that this reason was a pretext for some discriminatory reason; and (3) Mr. Berry has not shown that other employees who sought to use the conference room for similar purposes were allowed to do so. Accordingly, we agree with the district court that Mr. Berry’s claim of disparate treatment is not supported by the record.

V.  Public employers such as the Department face the difficult task of charting a course between infringing on employees’ rights to the free exercise of their religions under the First Amendment and violating the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment by appearing to endorse their employees’ religious expressions. The Pickering balancing test resolves these sometime conflicting constitutional rights by recognizing the legitimacy of the interests asserted by both sides. It provides a chart by which a public employer may navigate a safe course. We hold that the Department did so. While it allowed employees to discuss religion among themselves, it avoided the shoals of the Establishment Clause by forbidding them from discussing religion with its clients. Similarly, the Department allowed employees to display religious items, except where their viewing by the Department’s clients might imply endorsement thus evading the reef of the Establishment Clause. The Department did not prohibit its employees from holding prayer meetings in the common break room or outside, but declined to open the Red Bluff Room to employee social or religious meetings as such use might convert the conference room into a public forum. We conclude that these restrictions were reasonable and the Department’s reasons for imposing them outweigh any resulting curtailment of Mr. Berry’s rights under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution or Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The district court’s grant of summary judgment to the Department and the denial of summary judgment to Mr. Berry are AFFIRMED.

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Brown & Berry
89.  Are Brown and Berry consistent with each other?  Are either or both correctly decided?
90.  Should the analysis in Brown and/or Berry be different if the same facts occurred in private workplaces?

91.  Can you articulate some guidelines for determining when religious activity in the workplace has gone too far?
(  (  (  (  (
Peterson v. Hewlett-Packard Co.

358 F.3d 599 (9th Cir. 2004)
REINHARDT, Circuit Judge: In this religious discrimination action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. and Idaho law, Richard Peterson claims that his former employer, the Hewlett-Packard Company, engaged in disparate treatment by terminating him on account of his religious views and that it failed to accommodate his religious beliefs. The district court granted Hewlett-Packard’s motion for summary judgment on the grounds that: 1) Peterson failed to raise an inference of disparate treatment and 2) accommodating Peterson’s beliefs would inflict undue hardship upon Hewlett-Packard. We affirm.

I. Background.  Peterson was employed in the Boise, Idaho office of Hewlett-Packard for almost 21 years prior to his termination. The parties do not dispute that Peterson’s job performance was satisfactory. The conflict between Peterson and Hewlett-Packard arose when the company began displaying “diversity posters” in its Boise office as one component of its workplace diversity campaign. The first series consisted of five posters, each showing a photograph of a Hewlett-Packard employee above the caption “Black,” “Blonde,” “Old,” “Gay,” or “Hispanic.” Posters in the second series included photographs of the same five employees and a description of the featured employee’s personal interests, as well as the slogan “Diversity is Our Strength.”


Peterson describes himself as a “devout Christian,” who believes that homosexual activities violate the commandments contained in the Bible and that he has a duty “to expose evil when confronted with sin.” In response to the posters that read “Gay,” Peterson posted two Biblical scriptures on an overhead bin in his work cubicle. The scriptures were printed in a typeface large enough to be visible to co-workers, customers, and others who passed through an adjacent corridor. One of Peterson’s postings was taken from II Corinthians 10:12. The other featured the following passage from Isaiah:

The shew of their countenance doth witness against them; and they declare their sin as Sodom, they hide it not. Woe unto their soul! For they have rewarded evil unto themselves. Isaiah 3:9

Subsequently, Peterson posted a third scriptural passage. This time he chose the well-known and highly controversial passage from Leviticus:

If a man also lie with mankind, as he lieth with a woman, both of them have committed an abomination; they shall surely be put to death; their blood shall be put upon them. Leviticus 20:13

Peterson’s direct supervisor removed the scriptural passages after consulting her supervisor and determining that they could be offensive to certain employees, and that the posting of the verses violated Hewlett-Packard’s policy prohibiting harassment. Throughout the relevant period, Hewlett-Packard’s harassment policy stated as follows:

Any comments or conduct relating to a person’s race, gender, religion, disability, age, sexual orientation, or ethnic background that fail to respect the dignity and feeling [sic] of the individual are unacceptable.
Over the course of several days after Peterson posted the Biblical materials, he attended a series of meetings with Hewlett-Packard managers, during which he and they tried to explain to each other their respective positions. Peterson explained that he meant the passages to communicate a message condemning “gay behavior.” The scriptural passages, he said, were “intended to be hurtful. And the reason [they were] intended to be hurtful is you cannot have correction unless people are faced with truth.” Peterson hoped that his gay and lesbian co-workers would read the passages, repent, and be saved.

In these meetings, Peterson also asserted that Hewlett-Packard’s workplace diversity campaign was an initiative to “target” heterosexual and fundamentalist Christian employees at Hewlett-Packard, in general, and him in particular. Ultimately, Peterson and the managers were unable to agree on how to resolve the conflict. Peterson proposed that he would remove the offending scriptural passages if Hewlett-Packard removed the “Gay” posters; if, however, Hewlett-Packard would not remove the posters, he would not remove the passages. When the managers rejected both options, Peterson responded: “I don’t see any way that I can compromise what I am doing that would satisfy both [Hewlett-Packard] and my own conscience.” He further remonstrated: “as long as [Hewlett-Packard] is condoning [homosexuality] I’m going to oppose it....”


Peterson was given time off with pay to reconsider his position. When he returned to work, he again posted the scriptural passages and refused to remove them. After further meetings with Hewlett-Packard managers, Peterson was terminated for insubordination.  Following receipt of a right to sue notice from the EEOC, Peterson filed a complaint alleging religious discrimination in violation of Title VII and the Idaho Human Rights Act….

II. Analysis.  … Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer “to discharge any individual ... because of such individual’s ... religion[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). “The term ‘religion’ includes all aspects of religious observance and practice, as well as belief, unless an employer demonstrates that he is unable to reasonably accommodate to an employee’s ... religious observance or practice without undue hardship on the conduct of the employer’s business.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j). Our analysis of Peterson’s religious discrimination claims under the Idaho Human Rights Act is the same as under Title VII. See Sengupta v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., 804 F.2d 1072, 1077 (9th Cir.1986) (citing Bowles v. Keating, 100 Idaho 808, 812, 606 P.2d 458 (1979)). Therefore, our analysis of the Title VII claims also disposes of the Idaho state claims. …

A. Disparate Treatment.  To survive summary judgment on his disparate treatment claim, Peterson must establish that his job performance was satisfactory and provide evidence, either direct or circumstantial, to support a reasonable inference that his termination was discriminatory. Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1017. The amount of evidence that Peterson must produce is “very little,” Chuang v. Univ. of Cal. Davis, 225 F.3d 1115, 1124 (9th Cir.2000), so long as it is more than “purely conclusory allegations of alleged discrimination, with no concrete, relevant particulars.” Forsberg v. Pac. Northwest Bell Tel. Co., 840 F.2d 1409, 1419 (9th Cir.1988).


We analyze the evidence that Peterson presents in support of his disparate treatment claim under the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework which he invokes. McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973). Under this approach, Peterson has the burden of establishing a prima facie case by showing that (1) he is a member of a protected class; (2) he was qualified for his position; (3) he experienced an adverse employment action; and (4) similarly situated individuals outside his protected class were treated more favorably, or other circumstances surrounding the adverse employment action give rise to an inference of discrimination. Chuang, 225 F.3d at 1123; Lyons v. England, 307 F.3d 1092, 1112-14 (9th Cir.2002); Mandell v. County of Suffolk, 316 F.3d 368, 377-78 (2d Cir.2003). It is with respect to the fourth requirement that Peterson’s case fails.


Initially, we address Peterson’s argument that Hewlett-Packard’s workplace diversity campaign was “a crusade to convert fundamentalist Christians to its values,” including the promotion of “the homosexual lifestyle.” The undisputed evidence shows that Hewlett-Packard carefully developed its campaign during a three-day diversity conference at its Boise facility in 1997 and subsequent planning meetings in which numerous employees participated. The campaign’s stated goal-and no evidence suggests that it was pretextual-was to increase tolerance of diversity. Peterson may be correct that the campaign devoted special attention to combating prejudice against homosexuality, but such an emphasis is in no manner unlawful. To the contrary, Hewlett-Packard’s efforts to eradicate discrimination against homosexuals in its workplace were entirely consistent with the goals and objectives of our civil rights statutes generally. See, e.g., Nichols v. Azteca Restaurant, 256 F.3d 864, 870 (9th Cir.2001) (gender stereotyping violates Title VII); Rene v. MGM Grand Hotel, 305 F.3d 1061, 1067 (9th Cir.2002) (en banc) (Title VII forbids same-sex harassment).


In addition to Peterson’s allegations about the general purposes of the diversity initiative, he asserts that the campaign that Hewlett-Packard conducted, as well as “the entire disciplinary process” that it initiated in response to his posting of the scriptural passages, constituted “an inquisition serving no other purpose than to ferret out the extremity of Peterson’s views on homosexuality.” FN1 According to Peterson, Hewlett-Packard managers harassed him in order to convince him to change his religious beliefs. FN2 However, the evidence that Peterson cites in support of this theory shows that Hewlett-Packard managers acted in precisely the opposite manner. In numerous meetings, Hewlett-Packard managers acknowledged the sincerity of Peterson’s beliefs and insisted that he need not change them. They did not object to Peterson’s expression of his anti-gay views in a letter to the editor that was published in the Idaho Statesman-a letter in which Peterson stated that Hewlett-Packard was “on the rampage to change moral values in Idaho under the guise of diversity,” and that the diversity campaign was a “platform to promote the homosexual agenda.” Nor did the Hewlett-Packard managers prohibit him from parking his car in the company lot even though he had affixed to it a bumper sticker stating, “Sodomy is Not a Family Value.” All that the managers did was explain Hewlett-Packard’s diversity program to Peterson and ask him to treat his co-workers with respect. They simply requested that he remove the posters and not violate the company’s harassment policy-a policy that was uniformly applied to all employees. No contrary inference may be drawn from anything in the record.

FN1. Although Hewlett Packard placed one of the “Gay” posters next to Peterson’s cubicle, he offers no evidence supporting his assertion that the placement of the poster was intended to target him.

FN2. Peterson’s complaint did not allege either a religious harassment or a hostile work environment claim. Likewise, no such claim was asserted before the EEOC or the Idaho Human Rights Commission.

Peterson also maintains that the disciplinary proceedings and his subsequent termination stand in marked contrast to Hewlett-Packard’s treatment of three other groups of similarly-situated employees. Peterson compares himself, first, to the employees who hung the diversity posters. He argues that these posters were intended “to make people uncomfortable so they would think again about diversity and change their actions to be more positive.” He likens these actions to his own intentions to make his “scriptures [ ] hurtful so that people would repent (change their actions) and experience the joys of being saved.” FN3 This comparison fails because the employees who hung the diversity posters were simply communicating the views of Hewlett-Packard as they were directed to do by management, whereas Peterson was expressing his own personal views which contradicted those of management. Moreover, unlike Peterson’s postings, the company’s workplace diversity campaign did not attack any group of employees on account of race, religion, or any other important individual characteristic. To the contrary, Hewlett-Packard’s initiative was intended to promote tolerance of the diversity that exists in its workforce. Hewlett-Packard’s failure to fire employees for following management’s instructions to hang the posters prepared by management provides no evidence of disparate treatment.

FN3. Peterson states that there is no evidence that anyone at Hewlett-Packard “even understood” the meaning of the scripture passages that he posted, and that the meaning he intended was revealed only in response to questions asked in his private meetings with Hewlett-Packard managers. However, he does not explain how he intended the passages to encourage people to be saved if they could not be understood. Even assuming that the messages conveyed by the first two scriptural passages that he posted were ambiguous, the third passage is unabashedly direct in its condemnation of homosexuals. Moreover, Peterson’s intention that his postings be “hurtful” is sufficient for the purposes of our analysis.


Second, Peterson compares himself with other employees who posted religious and secular messages and symbols in their work-spaces. Yet Peterson failed to present any evidence that the posters in other Hewlett-Packard employees’ cubicles were intended to be “hurtful” to, or critical of, any other employees or otherwise violated the company’s harassment policy. In fact, the only posters in other employees’ work-spaces that Peterson identified were of “Native American dream catchers,” “New Age pictures of whales,” and a yin-yang symbol.


Third, Peterson argues that he was similarly situated to the network group of homosexual employees that Hewlett-Packard permitted to organize in the workplace and advertise in the company’s email and its newsletter.FN4 Yet Peterson failed to present any evidence that communications from this network group were, let alone were intended to be, hurtful to any group of employees. Nor does anything in the record indicate that Hewlett-Packard permitted or would have permitted any network group or any individual employee to post messages of either a secular or religious variety that demeaned other employees or violated the company’s harassment policy.

FN4. While Hewlett-Packard prohibited religious network groups at one time, its policy when Peterson was terminated was to “approve groups of employees of various faiths if their character, purpose and proposed activities focus on professional development and teamwork.” This is the same policy that applied to every other group of workers that Hewlett-Packard permitted to organize within the workplace. There is no evidence that Hewlett-Packard approved any network group, the purpose of which was to violate its harassment policies or demean the views, conduct, or lifestyle of other workers.



In short, we conclude that Peterson’s evidence does not meet the threshold for defeating summary judgment in disparate treatment cases. Chuang, 225 F.3d at 1124. Peterson offered no evidence, circumstantial or otherwise, that would support a reasonable inference that his termination was the result of disparate treatment on account of religion.FN5 Viewing the record in the light most favorable to Peterson, it is evident that he was discharged, not because of his religious beliefs, but because he violated the company’s harassment policy by attempting to generate a hostile and intolerant work environment and because he was insubordinate in that he repeatedly disregarded the company’s instructions to remove the demeaning and degrading postings from his cubicle.

FN5. In Tucker v. California Dep’t of Educ., 97 F.3d 1204 (9th Cir.1996), we expressed concern that a state agency’s prohibition on religious posting in the workplace constituted viewpoint discrimination in violation of the First Amendment because it “silenc[ed] religious perspectives on controversial subjects.” We illustrated these concerns by explaining the prohibition’s potential impact on a hypothetical sign “stating that ‘gay marriage is a sin,’ and quoting passages from the Bible to support that proposition.” Id. at 1216. Hewlett-Packard, however, is a private employer rather than a state agency. Thus, we do not need to reach the First Amendment concerns raised in Tucker. We do note, however, that an employee’s opposition to a policy of his employer or his advocacy regarding a controversial public issue invokes different considerations than his expressive activity intended to demean or degrade co-workers.
B. Failure to Accommodate.  Peterson also appeals the district court’s rejection of his failure-to-accommodate theory of religious discrimination. A plaintiff who fails to raise a reasonable inference of disparate treatment on account of religion may nonetheless show that his employer violated its affirmative duty under Title VII to reasonably accommodate employees’ religious beliefs. Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977); Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1017-18.FN6 To establish religious discrimination on the basis of a failure-to-accommodate theory, Peterson must first set forth a prima facie case that (1) he had a bona fide religious belief, the practice of which conflicts with an employment duty; (2) he informed his employer of the belief and conflict; and (3) the employer discharged, threatened, or otherwise subjected him to an adverse employment action because of his inability to fulfill the job requirement. Heller v. EBB Auto. Co., 8 F.3d 1433, 1438 (9th Cir.1993). If Peterson makes out a prima facie failure-to-accommodate case, the burden then shifts to Hewlett-Packard to show that it “initiated good faith efforts to accommodate reasonably the employee’s religious practices or that it could not reasonably accommodate the employee without undue hardship.” Tiano, 139 F.3d at 681; Lawson, 296 F.3d at 804.

FN6. The Fourth Circuit has explained: 

For example, an employee who is terminated for refusing to work on Sundays can maintain an accommodation claim even if other nonreligious employees were also fired for refusing Sunday work, and even though the employer’s proffered reason for the discharge-the refusal to perform required Sunday work-is legitimate and nondiscriminatory (because the Sunday work rule applies to all employees, regardless of religion). If the employee has notified the employer of his religious need to take Sundays off, the burden rests on the employer to show that it could not accommodate the employee’s religious practice without undue hardship. 

Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1018. 

As we explain below, it is readily apparent that the only accommodations that Peterson was willing to accept would have imposed undue hardship upon Hewlett-Packard. Therefore, we will assume arguendo that Peterson could establish a prima facie case that his posting of the anti-gay scriptural passages stemmed from his religious beliefs that homosexual activities “violate the commandments of God contained in the Holy Bible” and that those same religious beliefs imposed upon him “a duty to expose evil when confronted with sin.” We make that assumption with considerable reservations, however, because we seriously doubt that the doctrines to which Peterson professes allegiance compel any employee to engage in either expressive or physical activity designed to hurt or harass one’s fellow employees.


An employer’s duty to negotiate possible accommodations ordinarily requires it to take “some initial step to reasonably accommodate the religious belief of that employee.” Heller, 8 F.3d at 1440. Peterson contends that the company did not do so in this case even though Hewlett-Packard managers convened at least four meetings with him. In these meetings, they explained the reasons for the company’s diversity campaign, allowed Peterson to explain fully his reasons for his postings, and attempted to determine whether it would be possible to resolve the conflict in a manner that would respect the dignity of Peterson’s fellow employees. Peterson, however, repeatedly made it clear that only two options for accommodation would be acceptable to him, either that (1) both the “Gay” posters and anti-gay messages remain, or (2) Hewlett-Packard remove the “Gay” posters and he would then remove the anti-gay messages. Given Peterson’s refusal to consider other accommodations, we proceed to evaluate whether one or both of the “acceptable” accommodations would have imposed undue hardship upon Hewlett-Packard, or to put in it terms of Tiano and Lawson, to determine whether Hewlett-Packard carried its burden of showing that no reasonable accommodation was possible. Tiano, 139 F.3d at 681; Lawson, 296 F.3d at 804.

As we explain further below, Peterson’s first proposed accommodation would have compelled Hewlett-Packard to permit an employee to post messages intended to demean and harass his co-workers. His second proposed accommodation would have forced the company to exclude sexual orientation from its workplace diversity program. Either choice would have created undue hardship for Hewlett-Packard because it would have inhibited its efforts to attract and retain a qualified, diverse workforce, which the company reasonably views as vital to its commercial success; thus, neither provides a reasonable accommodation.


With respect to Peterson’s first proposal, an employer need not accommodate an employee’s religious beliefs if doing so would result in discrimination against his co-workers or deprive them of contractual or other statutory rights. See Hardison, 432 U.S. at 81, 97 S.Ct. 2264; Opuku-Boateng v. California, 95 F.3d 1461, 1468 (9th Cir.1996). Nor does Title VII require an employer to accommodate an employee’s desire to impose his religious beliefs upon his co-workers. Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1021; Wilson v. U.S. West Communications, 58 F.3d 1337, 1342 (8th Cir.1995).


That is not to say that accommodating an employee’s religious beliefs creates undue hardship for an employer merely because the employee’s co-workers find his conduct irritating or unwelcome. Complete harmony in the workplace is not an objective of Title VII. “If relief under Title VII can be denied merely because the majority group of employees, who have not suffered discrimination, will be unhappy about it, there will be little hope of correcting the wrongs to which the Act is directed.” Franks v. Bowman Transp. Co., 424 U.S. 747, 775, 96 S.Ct. 1251, 47 L.Ed.2d 444 (1976) ( quoting U.S. v. Bethlehem Steel Corp., 446 F.2d 652, 663 (2d Cir.1971)). While Hewlett-Packard must tolerate some degree of employee discomfort in the process of taking steps required by Title VII to correct the wrongs of discrimination, it need not accept the burdens that  would result from allowing actions that demean or degrade, or are designed to demean or degrade, members of its workforce. See Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs., Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 118 S.Ct. 998, 140 L.Ed.2d 201 (1998). Thus, we conclude that Peterson’s first proposed accommodation would have created undue hardship for his employer.


The only other alternative acceptable to Peterson-taking down all the posters-would also have inflicted undue hardship upon Hewlett-Packard because it would have infringed upon the company’s right to promote diversity and encourage tolerance and good will among its workforce. The Supreme Court has acknowledged that “the skills needed in today’s increasingly global marketplace can only be developed through exposure to widely diverse people, cultures, ideas, and viewpoints.” Grutter v. Bollinger, 539 U.S. 306, ----, 123 S.Ct. 2325, 2340, 156 L.Ed.2d 304 (2003) (citing amici briefs submitted by leading American corporations including Hewlett-Packard). These values and good business practices are appropriately promoted by Hewlett-Packard’s workplace diversity program. To require Hewlett-Packard to exclude homosexuals from its voluntarily-adopted program would create undue hardship for the company. Cf. Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 116 S.Ct. 1620, 134 L.Ed.2d 855 (1996) (Colorado state constitutional amendment prohibiting state or local government action to protect persons based on their homosexual status, conduct, or orientation violates Equal Protection Clause).


Because only two possible accommodations were acceptable to Peterson and implementing either would have imposed undue hardship upon Hewlett-Packard, we conclude that the company carried its burden of showing that no reasonable accommodation was possible, and we therefore reject Peterson’s failure-to-accommodate claim….
· (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions:  Peterson

92.   A pivotal assumption in Judge Reinhardt’s analysis is that Peterson’s postings were offensive to and/or demeaning of les/bi/gay people, but that Hewlett Packard’s diversity postings were not similarly offensive or demeaning to people with religious objections to homosexuality.  What arguments do you see that support of this assumption?  What arguments do you see that tend to refute it?
93.  Assume an employee or tenant or patron of a public accommodation has a sincere religious belief conflicting with attempts to create a place that is integrated/inclusive of people with differing protected characteristics.  How should anti-discrimination law balance the religious interest with the interest in tolerance/diversity.  Is there any way to reasonably accommodate the religious employee? 

· (  (  (  (
* Thanks to Betsy Pike for bringing this hot-button issue to my attention.
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